Table of Contents

		Section/Page
1.	FOSTE	R CARE OVERVIEW1-1
	1.1	Introduction
		Definitions
		Federal And State Requirements
	1.4	Guiding Principles
2.	FOSTER	R CARE PREVENTION/FAMILY PRESERVATION2-1
	2.1	Services To Be Provided
	2.2	Prevention Policy
3.	ENTERI	NG FOSTER CARE3-1
	3.1	Best Interests Of Child Requirements
	3.2	Reasonable Efforts Requirements
	3.3	Title IV-E Funding Restrictions
	3.4	Indian Child Welfare Act
	3.5	Authority for Placement and Dispositional Alternatives
4.	PLACEN	MENT4-1
	4.1	Legal Requirements For Placement
	4.2	Preplacement Visits
	4.3	Foster Family Homes
	4.4	Adoptive Home
	4.5	Resource Family Home
	4.6	Independent Living Arrangement
	4.7	Residential Placement
	4.8	Interstate Placements: Interstate Compact On The
	4.0	Placement Of Children (ICPC) (§63.2-1000 et.seq.)
	4.9	Placements In Another Political Jurisdiction
		When Foster Parents Move To Another Jurisdiction
	4.11	Transferring Custody To Another Local Agency
	4.12	Notification of Placement Changes

5. (CASE C	PENING5-1
	5.1 5.2	Setting Up Paper Case Records
	5.3 5.4	Foster Family Record Referrals For Maintenance: Title IV-E And State Pool Funds
	5.5	Referral For Determination Of Medicaid (Title XIX) Eligibility
	5.6	Referral For Collection Of Child Support
	5.7	Arranging Visitation With Parent(s) Or Prior Custodians
	5.8	Referral For Services
	5.9	SSI And Other Potential Benefits
	5.10	Setting Up Special Welfare Accounts
	5.11	Obtaining A Medical Exam
	5.12	School Enrollment Requirements
		Setting Up The Payment Process For Providers
	5.14	Collecting Information That The Child Will Keep
6. I	NITIAL	ASSESSMENT6-1
	6.1	Assessing The Child's And Family's Service Needs
7. (CHOOS	ING THE GOAL7-1
	7.1	Introduction
	7.2	Return To Parent(s) Or Prior Guardian
	7.3	Placement With Relatives
	7.4	Adoption
	7.5	Permanent Foster Care
	7.6	Independent Living
	7.7	Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement
	7.8	Continued Foster Care
8. I	PREPAI	RING THE INITIAL SERVICE PLAN8-1
	8.1	Introduction

October 2005	VOLUME VII, SECTION III	CHAPTER B

TADIE	\sim	0011		-
TABLE	() -	(())	1 – N	
IADLL	. 🔾	COIN	1 L I V	ı

		Foster Care Service Plan Format Requirements
		What must be Included in Preparing the Service Plan
		Who Must Be Involved In Preparing The Service Plan
		Completion Of The Foster Care Service Plan
	8.6	Submission Of The Foster Care Service Plan To The Court
	8.7	Distribution Of The Foster Care Services Plan
	8.8	Dispositional Hearing To Review The Foster Care Service Plan
	8.9	When A New Service Plan Is Required
		When A Child Returns To Foster Care
9. \$	SERVIO	CE DELIVERY9-1
	9.1	Principles and Philosophy of Permanency Planning
	9.2	The Team Approach
	9.3	Return To Parent(s) Or Prior Custodians
	9.4	Placement With Relatives
	9.5	Adoption
	9.6	Permanent Foster Care
	9.7	Independent Living
	9.8	Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement
	9.9	Continued Foster Care
	9.10	Working With Foster Parents And Providers
	9.11	Case Management
	9.12	Services To Older Youth In Foster Care
	9.13	Providing Medical Services And Treatment For The Child
	9.14	Providing Services During Residential Placement
	9.15	Providing Special Education Services
	9.16	Providing Respite Care Services
10.	REAS	SESSMENTS, REVIEWS, AND RE-DETERMINATIONS10-1
	10.1	Reviewing The Service Plan: Legal Authority
	10.2	Reassessments and Reviews

TABLE OF CONTENTS

October 2005 VOLUME VII.	SECTION III	CHAPTER B

	10.3	Permanent Foster Care And Reviews
	10.4	Basic Time Line
	10.5	The Adoption Progress Report
	10.6	Administrative Panel Reviews
	10.7	Local Supervisory Reviews
	10.8	Exceptions To Required Reviews
	10.9	Developing The Plan When The Goal Is Changed To Adoption
	10.10	Redeterminations
11. (CLOSIN	G A CASE TO FOSTER CARE11-1
	11.1	Legal Authority To Close A Case
	11.2	Discharging a Child from Care and Closing To OASIS
	11.3	Eligibility Referral At Closure
	11.4	Maintenance/Service/Other Resource Payments At Closure
	11.5	Record Retention At Closure
	11.6	Emancipation Before Age 18 (§16.1-331)
	11.7	Services Post Foster Care
12. F	FUNDIN	G/PURCHASING12-1
	12.1	Paying For Maintenance
	12.2	Paying For Children Supervised By Another Agency
	12.3	Using Funds From Special Welfare Accounts
	12.4	Paying Maintenance For The Minor Child Of A Foster Child
	12.5	Paying For Independent Living Arrangements
	12.6	Paying A Supplemental Clothing Allowance
	12.7	Paying For Services: State Pool Funds
	12.8	Purchasing Regular Education Services
	12.9	Paying For Special Educational Services
	12.10	Paying For Care In A Residential Facility
	12.11	Purchasing Emergency Shelter Services
	12.12	Funding For Medical Services

12.13	Purchasing Transportation Services	
12.14	Purchasing Day Care Services	
12.15	Paying For Independent Living Program Service	es
13. OTHER	REQUIREMENTS	13-1
13.1	Confidentiality Of Records	
13.2	Travel Of Foster Children	
13.3	Child Protective Services Reporting	
13.4	The Minor Child Of A Foster Child	
13.5	Procedures And Responsibility For Children In	Custody
	Of The Department Of Juvenile Justice (DJJ)	
APPENDIX	A (Forms)	A-A
	B (AFCARS)	B-B
	C (Casework Procedures and Core Practice	
	Ìssues	C-C

Foster Care Overview

1.1 Introduction

Foster care is a state mandated service provided through federal, state and local funds. "FOSTER CARE SERVICES" MEAN THE PROVISION OF A FULL RANGE OF CASEWORK, TREATMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES FOR A PLANNED PERIOD OF TIME TO A CHILD, WHO IS ABUSED OR NEGLECTED AS DEFINED IN §63.2-100 OR, IN NEED OF SERVICES AS DEFINED IN §16.1-228, AND HIS FAMILY WHEN A CHILD:

- (I) HAS BEEN IDENTIFIED AS NEEDING SERVICES TO PREVENT OR ELIMINATE THE NEED FOR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT,
- (II) HAS BEEN PLACED THROUGH AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE LOCAL BOARD OR THE PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM AND THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS WHERE LEGAL CUSTODY REMAINS WITH THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS,
- (III) HAS BEEN COMMITTED OR ENTRUSTED TO A LOCAL BOARD OR LICENSED CHILD PLACING AGENCY (§63.2-905)

Foster Care Prevention Services are meant to preserve and strengthen families and keep children in their own homes. When a child must be removed from a home, the initial goal becomes the provision of services to return the child home or, if that is not possible, to achieve another permanent plan for the child.

Foster care placement is intended to be a temporary, rather than a long-term solution to family problems. A placement may be with a foster family, in a group living arrangement, in a residential treatment facility, or in an independent living situation. Services provided to children and their families may include, but are not limited to, counseling and treatment, day care, medical, educational, employment, family planning, independent living, housing, respite care, legal, socialization and recreation services.

Federal and state regulations and policies are outlined in this chapter. Requirements based on federal and state code or regulations are capitalized and relevant state code citations are included.

1.2 Definitions

The following words and terms, when used in this policy, shall have the following meaning, unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

"AGENCY" means a local department of social services.

"COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM (CPMT)" means a team established by the comprehensive services act for at-risk youth and families. THE TEAM IS APPOINTED BY LOCAL GOVERNING BODIES TO MANAGE THE COOPERATIVE EFFORT IN EACH COMMUNITY TO SERVE THE NEEDS OF TROUBLED AND AT-RISK YOUTH AND THEIR

SECTION/PAGE 1-2

FAMILIES AND TO MAXIMIZE THE USE OF STATE AND COMMUNITY RESOURCES. THIS TEAM DEVELOPS LOCAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR PROVISION OF SERVICES TO CHILDREN AND FAMILIES. (§§2.2-5204; 2.2-5206)

"COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES ACT FOR AT-RISK YOUTH AND FAMILIES (CSA)" MEANS THE LEGISLATION THAT CREATED A COLLABORATIVE SYSTEM OF SERVICES AND FUNDING THAT IS CHILD CENTERED, FAMILY FOCUSED, AND COMMUNITY BASED TO ADDRESS THE STRENGTHS AND NEEDS OF TROUBLED AND AT-RISK YOUTH AND THEIR FAMILIES, (§2.2-5200 et. seq.).

"CONCURRENT PERMANENCY PLANNING" is a structured approach to case management which requires working towards family reunification while, at the same time, developing an alternative permanency plan.

"DEPARTMENT means the Virginia Department of Social Services.

"DUAL APPROVAL" means approving a home concurrently as both a foster and adoptive home for children.

"FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM (FAPT)" means the local team created through the Comprehensive Services Act to ASSESS THE STRENGTHS AND NEEDS OF TROUBLED YOUTHS AND FAMILIES WHO ARE REFERRED TO THE TEAM. THE TEAM IDENTIFIES AND DETERMINES THE COMPLEMENT OF SERVICES REQUIRED TO MEET THESE UNIQUE NEEDS. (§2.2-5208)

"FOSTER CHILD" means a person who has been placed into foster care through a noncustodial foster care agreement, entrustment or commitment before 18 years of age and who may continue to receive foster care services to age 21.

"FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT" MEANS PLACEMENT OF A CHILD THROUGH (i) AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARENTS OR GUARDIANS AND THE LOCAL BOARD OR PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM WHERE LEGAL CUSTODY REMAINS WITH THE PARENTS OR GUARDIANS, OR (ii) AN ENTRUSTMENT OR COMMITMENT OF THE CHILD TO THE LOCAL BOARD OR LICENSED CHILD-PLACING AGENCY.(§63.2-100)

"FOSTER CARE SERVICES" MEANS THE PROVISION OF A FULL RANGE OF CASEWORK, TREATMENT AND COMMUNITY SERVICES FOR A PLANNED PERIOD OF TIME TO A CHILD, WHO IS ABUSED OR NEGLECTED AS DEFINED IN §63.2-100 OR IN NEED OF SERVICES AS DEFINED IN §16.1-228, AND HIS FAMILY WHEN A CHILD (i) HAS BEEN IDENTIFIED AS NEEDING SERVICES TO PREVENT OR ELIMINATE THE NEED FOR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT, (ii) HAS BEEN PLACED THROUGH AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE LOCAL BOARD OR THE PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM AND THE PARENTS OR GUARDIANS WHERE LEGAL CUSTODY REMAINS WITH THE PARENTS OR GUARDIANS, (iii) HAS BEEN COMMITTED OR ENTRUSTED TO A LOCAL BOARD OR LICENSED CHILD PLACING AGENCY (§63.2-905)

"FOSTER FAMILY PLACEMENT" means placement of a child with a family that has been approved by the agency to provide substitute care for children until a permanent placement can be achieved.

"FULL DISCLOSURE" means respecting parents by providing them with complete information about their rights, responsibilities, expectations, the importance of staying connected to their children, and the consequences of not following through on the service plan. It is a process that facilitates open and honest communication among the social worker, the biological parents and extended family members, caregivers and the court.

"INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES" means SERVICES PROVIDED TO FOSTER CHILDREN TO PREPARE THEM FOR TRANSITION INTO ADULTHOOD. ALL YOUTH AGE 16 AND OVER MUST RECEIVE INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES. These services are not contingent on the youth having a permanency goal of independent living nor are they contingent upon the youth residing in an independent living arrangement.

"INDIVIDUAL FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP)" MEANS THE PLAN FOR SERVICES DEVELOPED BY THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM UNDER THE COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES ACT.

"MAINTENANCE" MEANS PAYMENTS MADE ON BEHALF OF A CHILD TO COVER THE COST OF (AND THE COST OF PROVIDING) FOOD, CLOTHING, SHELTER, DAILY SUPERVISION, SCHOOL SUPPLIES, A CHILD'S PERSONAL INCIDENTALS, LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH RESPECT TO A CHILD AND REASONABLE TRAVEL FOR A CHILD'S VISITATION WITH FAMILY OR OTHER CARETAKERS.

"NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT" MEANS THE AGREEMENT THAT SPECIFIES THE CONDITIONS FOR CARE AND CONTROL OF THE CHILD THAT THE AGENCY OR PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM ENTERS INTO WITH THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS TO PLACE A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE WHEN THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS RETAIN CUSTODY.

"OASIS" (Online Automated Services Information System) is the automated child welfare system in Virginia. OASIS is the official system of record in Virginia. All foster care case information that can be documented using the screens available in the OASIS system must be completed for every case.

"PERMANENCY" for children means establishing family connections and placement options for children in order to provide a lifetime of commitment, continuity of care, a sense of belonging and a legal and social status that goes beyond the child's temporary foster care placement.

"PERMANENCY PLANNING INDICATOR" is a tool used in concurrent planning to assess the likelihood of reunification. It assists the worker in determining if a child should be placed with a resource family.

"PERMANENCY PLANNING" means an array of social work and legal efforts directed toward securing safe, nurturing, life-long families for children in foster care.

"PRIOR CUSTODIAN" means the person with whom the child resided, other than the birth parent(s), before custody was transferred to or placement made with the agency when that person had custody of the child.

"RESOURCE FAMILY" is an approved relative or foster family home which agrees to both support reunification and be prepared to adopt the child if the child and family do not reunify.

"REUNIFICATION" means the return of the child to his or her home, based on a permanent plan, after removal for reasons of child abuse and neglect, abandonment, child in need of services, parental request for relief of custody, non-custodial agreement, entrustment, or any other court-ordered removal.

"SERVICE FEE DIRECTORY" MEANS THE DIRECTORY CREATED BY THE COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES ACT WHICH LISTS SERVICES OFFERED AND RATES CHARGED BY ANY ENTITY, PUBLIC OR PRIVATE, THAT OFFERS SPECIALIZED SERVICES FOR AT-RISK YOUTH OR FAMILIES.

"SERVICE WORKER" means the worker primarily responsible for case management or service coordination and meeting the foster care requirements for a foster care case.

"STATE POOL FUND" MEANS THE POOLED FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL FUNDS ESTABLISHED BY THE COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES ACT AND USED TO PAY FOR SERVICES AUTHORIZED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM, INCLUDING FOSTER CARE SERVICES.

"TITLE IV-E" is the title of the Social Security Act that authorizes federal funds for foster care and adoption assistance.

1.3 Federal And State Requirements

Specific foster care requirements are set forth in the following federal laws: the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978; the Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980 (Public Law 96-272), the Multiethnic Placement Act of 1994 as amended by the Interethnic Adoption Provisions of 1996; the Adoption and Safe Families Act of 1997; and the Foster Care Independence Act of 1999. The amount of financial participation by the federal government is dependent upon compliance with federal regulations. Requirements are also in state laws pertaining to foster care and the Comprehensive Services Act (§2.2-5200). The federal and state requirements for serving children and families ensure that:

- CHILDREN AND FAMILIES WITH COMPLEX NEEDS ARE ASSESSED AND SERVED ON AN INTERAGENCY BASIS;
- PREPLACEMENT SERVICES ARE PROVIDED AND REASONABLE EFFORTS ARE MADE TO PREVENT UNNECESSARY REMOVAL OF CHILDREN FROM THEIR FAMILIES;

SECTION/PAGE 1-5

- IF PLACEMENT OCCURS, A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION IS MADE THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO PREVENT OUT-OF-HOME PLACEMENT HAVE OCCURRED:
- PLACEMENT OF CHILDREN IS APPROPRIATE AND TAKES INTO ACCOUNT THEIR SPECIAL NEEDS:
- THE CHILD'S HEALTH AND SAFETY SHALL BE THE PARAMOUNT CONCERN OF THE COURT AND THE AGENCY THROUGHOUT THE CASE PLANNING, SERVICE PROVISION AND REVIEW PROCESS;
- FOSTER AND ADOPTIVE HOME PLACEMENTS ARE NEITHER DELAYED NOR DENIED BASED ON THE RACE, CULTURE, OR ETHNICITY OF THE CHILD AND FAMILY.
- PERMANENCY PLANNING SHOULD BEGIN AS SOON AS A CHILD ENTERS
 FOSTER CARE AND SHOULD BE EXPEDITED BY THE PROVISION OF SERVICES;
- THE LOCATION OF THE PLACEMENT FACILITATES VISITATION AND COMMUNICATION BETWEEN PARENT(S) AND CHILDREN;
- YOUNG ADULTS LEAVING FOSTER CARE SHOULD BE PROVIDED WITH AN EXTENSIVE PROGRAM OF EDUCATION, TRAINING, EMPLOYMENT, AND FINANCIAL SUPPORT BY LOCAL DEPARTMENT'S OF SOCIAL SERVICES.
- THE BEST INTERESTS OF INDIAN CHILDREN ARE PROTECTED AND THE STABILITY AND SECURITY OF INDIAN TRIBES AND FAMILIES IS PROMOTED BY PLACING INDIAN CHILDREN IN FOSTER OR ADOPTIVE HOMES THAT REFLECT THE UNIQUE VALUES OF INDIAN CULTURE;
- THE LENGTH OF TIME CHILDREN SPEND IN OUT-OF-HOME CARE IS REDUCED, AND DISCRIMINATION IN PLACEMENT DECISIONS IS PREVENTED;
- SERVICE PLANS ARE CURRENT AND REVIEWED EVERY SIX MONTHS:
- THE NEEDS OF CHILDREN ARE MET WHILE THEY ARE IN FOSTER CARE OUT-OF-HOME PLACEMENT;
- REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNIFY THE CHILD WITH THE FAMILY ARE MADE;
 AND
- DECISIVE AND TIMELY ACTION OCCURS TO SECURE PERMANENT HOMES FOR FOSTER CHILDREN, INCLUDING REUNIFICATION WHEN POSSIBLE, OR PLACEMENT IN ANOTHER PERMANENT AND LEGALLY SECURE HOME.

1.4 Guiding Principles

SECTION/PAGE 1-6

These Guiding Principles for Permanency Services in Virginia shall be incorporated in all decisions in case planning and service delivery for children in foster care and their families. To achieve permanency for children in foster care, services provision shall be timely and based on the following principles:

- The welfare of the child is of paramount interest;
- Children have the right to a safe, stable, and permanent home;
- Children have a right to be reared by their families when their parents and relatives are able to do so in an adequate manner;
- Families can be empowered to assume responsibilities to provide adequate care for their children;
- Recognizing that some families are unable or unwilling to resume their parenting responsibilities, services should be provided to ensure a safe, stable, and permanent home. This should be done by placement of the child with relatives accompanied by transfer of legal custody; by adoption; or by placement in permanent foster care when foster parents are willing to assume permanent parental responsibility as long as the child is in the custody of the agency;
- Independent living services should be provided to all youth in foster care, as appropriate, in order that transition to adult living is successful;
- Partnership and teamwork among the child, the birth family or prior custodian, foster parent, resource parent, adoptive parent, the local agency, and other service providers are essential to permanency planning for each child in foster care; and
- Children and their families have the right to be treated with respect, sensitivity and fairness. They also have the right to know and understand as well as possible, what services are being provided, the purpose of the services, and their rights and obligations.

2. Foster Care Prevention/Family Preservation

2.1 Services To Be Provided

SERVICES SHALL BE PROVIDED TO FAMILIES TO PREVENT THE NEED FOR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT. ANY SERVICE AVAILABLE TO A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT SHALL BE AVAILABLE TO A CHILD AND HIS FAMILY TO PREVENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT BASED ON AN ASSESSMENT OF THE CHILD'S AND FAMILY'S NEEDS. THE COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES ACT FOR AT-RISK YOUTH AND FAMILIES (CSA) REQUIRES SERVICES TO CHILDREN AND FAMILIES BE CHILD CENTERED, FAMILY FOCUSED AND COMMUNITY BASED.

Services to prevent foster care placement may be paid from State Pool Funds, family preservation funds, and Child Protective Service funds. Cases in which in-home services to prevent foster care are delivered are to be entered in VACIS as Prevention and Support cases or into OASIS as Child Protective Services cases. Non-custodial foster care cases, where the local board or other licensed child placing agency places a child and legal custody remains with the parent(s), are foster care cases, not prevention; see section 3.6.5.

2.2 Prevention Policy

The provision of services to prevent foster care placement will be guided by the following policies:

2.2.1 PROTECTIVE SERVICES (Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter A)

Applies to children who are at risk of foster care placement due to child abuse and neglect.

2.2.2 PREVENTION AND SUPPORT SERVICES FOR FAMILIES (Vol. VII, Section II, Chapter E)

Applies to services provided to families to strengthen the family's ability to function more effectively and prevent child abuse and neglect.

2.2.3 <u>APPENDIX H OF THE COMPREHENSIVE SERVICES (CSA) IMPLEMENTATION MANUAL</u>

Provides guidance for use of CSA State Pool Funds for foster care prevention. Services provided to the child and family, per Appendix H, will generally be short-term and intensive in order to prevent foster care placement. If services are needed beyond the initial six months, the Family Assessment and Planning Team (FAPT) must review the case and request approval in writing according to the guidelines in Appendix H.

3. Entering Foster Care

Children enter foster care through court commitment based on an abuse or neglect petition; CHINS (children in need of services) petition, an entrustment, delinquency, a request for relief and non-custodial agreements.

3.1 Best Interests Of Child Requirements

THE INITIAL COURT ORDER MUST CONTAIN A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT THE CHILD WAS REMOVED FROM THE HOME PURSUANT TO A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT (i) CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD, OR (ii) IT IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTERESTS TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE, OR (iii) THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM HIS OR HER HOME. EFFECTIVE MARCH 27, 2000, NUNC PRO TUNC ORDERS THAT AMEND ORIGINAL ORDERS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE.

3.2 Reasonable Efforts Requirements

Reasonable efforts are the provision of services to children and their families utilizing community options and resources with the goal of preserving family unity. They include efforts to prevent or eliminate the need for removal of a child from his or her home and to reunite the child with his or her family. April 13: A judicial determination must be made, and documented in the court forms, that indicates reasonable efforts were made

FEDERAL (Adoption Assistance and Child Welfare Act of 1980, Public Law 96-272) AND STATE LAWS (§16.1-251, 16.1-253, 16.1-278) REQUIRE THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS BE MADE TO PREVENT OR ELIMINATE THE NEED FOR REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM THE HOME AND TO MAKE IT POSSIBLE FOR THE CHILD TO BE RETURNED HOME. The service worker must document in the record that reasonable efforts were made.

THE ADOPTION AND SAFE FAMILIES ACT OF 1997 PROVIDES THAT AGENCIES MAY MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO RETURN A CHILD HOME AND ENGAGE IN CONCURRENT PLANNING. In other words, the agency should at the same time be planning for the child to be placed in an alternative placement; i.e., a relative or adoptive placement, should the plan to return the child home not be feasible.

3.2.1 INITIAL JUDICIAL DETERMINATION OF REASONABLE EFFORTS

AT THE TIME OF THE INITIAL COURT HEARING TO COMMIT A CHILD TO THE CUSTODY OF THE AGENCY, APPROVE AN ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT OR APPROVE THE PLAN FOR PLACEMENT THROUGH A NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT, A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION MUST BE MADE AS TO WHETHER REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE. IN ORDER FOR THE COURT TO DETERMINE WHETHER REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL, THE AGENCY MUST DOCUMENT AND SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING TO THE COURT:

- SERVICE NEEDS OF THE CHILD AND FAMILY;
- SERVICES OFFERED TO MEET THE NEEDS;
- THE FAMILY'S PARTICIPATION IN SERVICE PLANNING; AND
- THE FAMILY'S RESPONSE TO THE SERVICES OFFERED.

3.2.2 REQUIREMENTS FOR THE COURT ORDER

THE CODE OF VIRGINIA REQUIRES THAT THE INITIAL COURT ORDER STATE THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT OR ELIMINATE THE NEED FOR REMOVAL. TO MEET FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS, REASONABLE EFFORTS MUST BE DOCUMENTED IN A COURT ORDER WITHIN 60 DAYS OF ENTRY INTO CARE OR, FOR AN ENTRUSTMENT OR NON-CUSTODIAL PLACEMENT, WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF PLACEMENT. Compliance with Virginia law will therefore assure compliance with federal regulations.

EFFECTIVE MARCH 27, 2000, NUNC PRO TUNC ORDERS THAT AMEND ORIGINAL ORDERS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE.

3.2.3 REASONABLE EFFORTS AFTER AN AGENCY RECEIVES CUSTODY OR ACCEPTS PLACEMENT

ANNUALLY, FOR EVERY CHILD IN FOSTER CARE, THERE MUST BE A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO EITHER:

- REUNITE THE CHILD WITH HIS OR HER PRIOR FAMILY IF RETURN HOME IS THE GOAL. OR
- PLACE THE CHILD IN A TIMELY MANNER IN ACCORDANCE WITH HIS OR HER PERMANENCY PLAN

DOCUMENTATION OF REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNIFY THE CHILD AND FAMILY OR ACHIEVE A PERMANENT PLACEMENT FOR THE CHILD MUST BE RECORDED ON THE INITIAL 60-DAY SERVICE PLAN, IN THE RECORD, AND ON REVIEWS THEREAFTER.

3.2.4 REASONABLE EFFORTS NOT REQUIRED

AGENCIES ARE NOT REQUIRED TO MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNITE CHILDREN WITH A PARENT WHEN THERE IS A DOCUMENTED RISK TO THE CHILD'S SAFETY OR WELL BEING AS DETERMINED BY ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING:

THE PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A SIBLING OF THE CHILD IN FOSTER CARE HAVE BEEN PREVIOUSLY INVOLUNTARILY TERMINATED.

SECTION/PAGE 3-3

- THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF MURDER OR VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER, OR A FELONY ATTEMPT, CONSPIRACY, OR SOLICITATION TO COMMIT SUCH AN OFFENSE AGAINST (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT, (ii) A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE, OR (iii) THE OTHER PARENT OF THE CHILD.
- THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF FELONY ASSAULT OR BODILY WOUNDING RESULTING IN SERIOUS BODILY INJURY OR FELONY SEXUAL ASSAULT OF (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE OR (ii) BASED ON CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, THE PARENT HAS SUBJECTED ANY CHILD TO AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES, OR ABANDONED A CHILD UNDER CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH WOULD JUSTIFY THE TERMINATION OF RESIDUAL PARENTAL RIGHTS PURSUANT TO § 16.1-283 (D).
 - SERIOUS BODILY INJURY MEANS BODILY INJURY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF DEATH, EXTREME PHYSICAL PAIN, PROTRACTED OR OBVIOUS DISFIGUREMENT, OR PROTRACTED LOSS OR IMPAIRMENT OF A BODILY MEMBER, ORGAN, OR FACULTY.
 - AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES MEANS TORTURE, CHRONIC OR SEVERE ABUSE, OR CHRONIC OR SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE WHERE THE VICTIM IS (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME SUCH CONDUCT OCCURRED AND INCLUDES THE FAILURE TO PROTECT A CHILD FROM SUCH CONDUCT WHERE THAT CONDUCT OR FAILURE TO PROTECT (i) DEMONSTRATES DEPRAVED INDIFFERENCE TO HUMAN LIFE, OR (ii) RESULTED IN THE DEATH OF A CHILD OR SERIOUS BODILY INJURY TO A CHILD. CHRONIC ABUSE OR CHRONIC SEXUAL ABUSE MEANS RECURRING ACTS OF PHYSICAL ABUSE THAT PLACE THE CHILD'S HEALTH, SAFETY OR WELL-BEING AT RISK. SEVERE ABUSE AND SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE MAY INCLUDE AN ACT OR OMISSION THAT OCCURRED ONLY ONCE BUT MEETS THE DEFINITION OF "AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES." (§16.1-281 (B) AND § 16.1-283 (E)).

If the Agency determines that reasonable efforts to reunify do not need to be made based on the felony convictions or circumstances listed in the three preceding paragraphs, the agency must petition the court to make that determination. This petition may be filed at any court hearing. WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNIFY DO NOT NEED TO BE MADE, THE COURT SHALL HOLD A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. IF THE REQUEST FOR SUCH A DETERMINATION IS MADE AT A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING, IT WILL NOT BE NECESSARY TO HOLD ANOTHER HEARING.

THE COURT ORDER MUST DOCUMENT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNIFY ARE NOT REQUIRED, BECAUSE THE PARENTS HAVE BEEN CONVICTED OF OFFENSES LISTED ABOVE OR HAD PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A SIBLING INVOLUNTARILY TERMINATED.

SECTION/PAGE 3-4

Neither law nor policy requires that reasonable efforts be omitted in these cases. Agencies may decide to make reasonable efforts to reunite children with parents even when a court has convicted parent(s) of the crimes listed above or the parental rights of a sibling have been involuntarily terminated. This decision should be made on a case-by-case basis.

3.2.5 WHEN CHILDREN IN CUSTODY REMAIN IN THEIR OWN HOME

IN SITUATIONS WHERE CUSTODY IS GIVEN TO THE AGENCY AND THE CHILD REMAINS IN THE HOME OF THE PARENT(S) OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN, A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION AS TO REASONABLE EFFORTS TO PREVENT REMOVAL IS NOT NECESSARY. HOWEVER, IF FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT BECOMES NECESSARY, ALL OF THE LEGAL REQUIREMENTS MUST BE MET.

3.3 Title IV-E Funding Restrictions

FAILURE TO MEET REQUIREMENTS REGARDING BEST INTERESTS AND REASONABLE EFFORTS WILL RESULT IN THE CHILD BEING INELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E FUNDING. Additional criteria for establishing and maintaining Title IV-E eligibility are explained in the Virginia Department of Social Services Title IV-E Eligibility Manual available at

http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/permanency/eligibility/manual.cgi. Placement costs for children found to be ineligible for Title IV-E funding must be paid from state pool funds.

3.4 Indian Child Welfare Act

CHILDREN OF AMERICAN INDIAN OR ALASKAN ESKIMO HERITAGE MAY BE SUBJECT TO THE INDIAN CHILD WELFARE ACT. IF AN AGENCY SUSPECTS OR KNOWS THAT A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE OR ONE ABOUT TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE IS OF AMERICAN INDIAN OR ALASKAN ESKIMO HERITAGE, AND THE CHILD BELONGS TO A TRIBE LOCATED OUTSIDE VIRGINIA, THE AGENCY MUST CONTACT THE TRIBE. A listing of recognized tribes and designated tribal representatives with addresses and phone numbers can be found on the Internet at http://www.doi.gov/bureau-indian-affairs.html under the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Department of Interior. THE AGENCY MUST CONTACT THE TRIBAL COUNCIL ABOUT THE CHILD. If the child belongs to a Virginia tribe, the child is not subject to the Indian Child Welfare Act, and the local court has jurisdiction. However, when a child entering care is believed or known to have Virginia Indian heritage, the agency is urged to contact the Virginia Council on Indians at http://www.indians.vipnet.org/ and consider tribal culture and connections in the placement and care of the child.

3.5 Authority for Placement and Dispositional Alternatives

If reasonable efforts have been made and the child still needs to be temporarily placed in foster care, the agency may accept placement through several legal alternatives. At each of the different types of court hearings concerning the child's health and safety, the court shall consider placement of the child with a relative or other interested individual as an alternative to foster care. Placements across state lines must comply with the Interstate Compact on Placement of Children. (Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E)

The different types of court hearings are:

3.5.1 COURT COMMITMENTS

A CHILD MAY BE COMMITTED TO THE LOCAL BOARD BY AN ORDER OF A COURT OF JURISDICTION. The court order must meet the reasonable efforts requirements of Section 3.2 of this chapter. THE COMMITMENT MUST BE MADE BEFORE THE CHILD IS 18 YEARS OLD. The different types of court hearings are:

EMERGENCY REMOVAL HEARING (§16.1-251): AN EMERGENCY REMOVAL ORDER MAY BE ISSUED EX PARTE (defined as "hearings in which the court hears only one side of the controversy") BY THE COURT UPON A PETITION SUPPORTED BY AN AFFIDAVIT OR BY SWORN TESTIMONY IN PERSON BEFORE THE JUDGE OR INTAKE OFFICER IN SITUATIONS WHERE SAFETY OF THE CHILD PRECLUDES SERVICES TO PREVENT REMOVAL, THE JUDGE MAY DEEM THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE.

IN THE EMERGENCY REMOVAL ORDER, THE COURT SHALL GIVE CONSIDERATION TO TEMPORARY PLACEMENT OF THE CHILD WITH A RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL, INCLUDING GRANDPARENTS. THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT MUST SUPERVISE THIS PLACEMENT, PENDING THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL HEARING.

AS THE INITIAL COURT ORDER, THE EMERGENCY REMOVAL ORDER MUST INDICATE THAT PLACEMENT IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST. (Refer to Section 3.1)

PRELIMINARY REMOVAL HEARING (§16.1-252): THIS IS A HEARING WHERE THE COURT DETERMINES THAT A CHILD WHO IS ALLEGED TO BE ABUSED OR NEGLECTED NEEDS TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE.

AT THIS HEARING, THE COURT MUST FIND THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL AND ENTER THAT FINDING ON THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL ORDER. IN SITUATIONS WHERE SAFETY OF THE CHILD PRECLUDES SERVICES TO PREVENT REMOVAL, THE JUDGE MAY DEEM THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE.

AT THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL HEARING, THE COURT WILL HOLD AN ADJUDICATION PROCEEDING TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CHILD WAS ABUSED OR NEGLECTED AS DEFINED IN §16.1-228. THE AGENCY, PARENTS, OR GUARDIAN AD LITEM MAY REQUEST THAT ADJUDICATION NOT OCCUR

THAT DAY. THE COURT MUST THEN SCHEDULE AN ADJUDICATION HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN 30 DAYS. THE RESULTS OF THE ADJUDICATION MUST BE ENTERED ON A COURT ORDER.

THE COURT WILL ADDRESS CHILD SUPPORT AT THIS HEARING. (Refer to Section 5.6).

THE COURT SHALL CONSIDER AND MAY TRANSFER <u>TEMPORARY</u> CUSTODY TO A RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL AT THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL HEARING IF THE COURT FINDS THAT THE RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL IS:

- a) WILLING AND QUALIFIED TO RECEIVE AND CARE FOR THE CHILD;
- b) WILLING TO HAVE A POSITIVE, CONTINUOUS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CHILD; AND,
- c) WILLING AND ABLE TO PROTECT THE CHILD FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT.

IF THE COURT ORDERS TRANSFER OF TEMPORARY CUSTODY TO A RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL, THE ORDER WILL PROVIDE FOR THE INITIATION AND COMPLETION OF AN INVESTIGATION OF THE RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL; AND WILL REQUIRE THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES TO CONTINUE SUPERVISION UNTIL DISPOSITION. THE ORDER WILL PROVIDE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH ANY PRELIMINARY PROTECTIVE ORDER, AND AS APPROPRIATE, ONGOING PROVISION OF SOCIAL SERVICES TO THE CHILD AND TEMPORARY CUSTODIAN.

AT THIS HEARING, THE COURT MUST SCHEDULE A DISPOSITIONAL HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN 75 DAYS AND PROVIDE NOTICE TO THOSE PRESENT TO ATTEND THAT HEARING.

DISPOSITIONAL HEARING (§16.1-278): THIS HEARING OCCURS WITHIN 75 DAYS OF THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL ORDER HEARING; THE HEARING THAT BROUGHT THE CHILD INTO CARE; OR THE DATE THE CHILD CAME INTO CARE IF THERE WAS NO PREVIOUS HEARING. AT THIS HEARING, THE COURT WILL ENTER AN ORDER (Foster Care Plan Dispositional Order- DC- 553) INDICATING WHAT THE DISPOSITION OF THE CASE WILL BE. THE COURT WILL ALSO REVIEW THE INITIAL FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN.

THE DISPOSITIONAL ORDER MUST INCLUDE A STATEMENT AS TO WHETHER REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME AND THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD, OR THAT PLACEMENT IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD, OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE. IF THERE HAS NOT BEEN A PREVIOUS ORDER THAT STATES THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS WERE MADE TO PREVENT OR ELIMINATE THE NEED FOR REMOVAL, THE FINAL DISPOSITIONAL ORDER MUST INCLUDE A STATEMENT TO THIS EFFECT.

THE COURT WILL SCHEDULE A FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THIS HEARING TO REVIEW PROGRESS IN THE CASE. THE COURT WILL PROVIDE NOTICE TO THOSE PRESENT TO ATTEND THE NEXT HEARING.

THE COURT SHALL CONSIDER THE TRANSFER OF LEGAL CUSTODY OF THE CHILD TO THE RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL AT THE DISPOSITIONAL HEARING. THE ORDER GRANTING LEGAL CUSTODY TO THE RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL SHALL BE ENTERED ONLY UPON A FINDING, BASED UPON A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE FROM THE COURT DIRECTED INVESTIGATION. THE ORDER SHALL STATE THAT THE RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL IS:

- a) WILLING AND QUALIFIED TO RECEIVE AND CARE FOR THE CHILD;
- b) WILLING TO HAVE A POSITIVE AND CONTINUOUS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CHILD;
- c) COMMITTED TO PROVIDING A PERMANENT SUITABLE HOME FOR THE CHILD; AND,
- d) WILLING AND ABLE TO PROTECT THE CHILD FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT.

THE COURT'S ORDER SHOULD FURTHER PROVIDE FOR, AS APPROPRIATE, ANY TERMS AND CONDITIONS WHICH WOULD PROMOTE THE CHILD'S INTEREST AND WELFARE, COURT REVIEW OF THE PLACEMENT, AND PROVISION OF ONGOING SERVICES BASED ON THE NEEDS OF THE CHILD AND CUSTODIAN. (§16.1-278.2)

3.5.2 TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT (§63.2-903, 16.1-277.01)

PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS MAY VOLUNTARILY REQUEST THAT THE AGENCY TAKE CUSTODY OF THE CHILD FOR A TEMPORARY PERIOD. IN THIS CASE, THE LOCAL BOARD MAY ACCEPT THE CHILD THROUGH A TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT FOR UP TO 180 DAYS. TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY CAN EXTEND BEYOND 180 DAYS ONLY WHEN THE COURT APPROVES THE TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT WITHIN 180 DAYS OF PLACEMENT AND DETERMINES THAT THE BEST INTERESTS AND REASONABLE EFFORTS REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN MET.

CONDITIONS FOR USE OF TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE:

■ THE PRIMARY GOAL OF TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENTS IS TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME. A TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT MAY ALSO BE USED FOR PURPOSES OF ADOPTION PLANNING. IT IS NOT TO BE USED WHERE THE GOAL FOR THE CHILD IS OTHER THAN RETURN HOME OR ADOPTION PLANNING.

SECTION/PAGE 3-8

- THE AGREEMENT SHALL SPECIFY THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE CHILD, THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS AND THE AGENCY. IT MUST INCLUDE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PARENT(S) FOR FINANCIAL SUPPORT OF THE CHILD AND THE AUTHORITY OF PARENT(S) AND AGENCY FOR MEDICAL CARE OF THE CHILD.
- ENTRUSTMENTS CANNOT BE USED FOR EDUCATIONAL PURPOSES OR TO MAKE THE CHILD ELIGIBLE FOR MEDICAID.
- AN ENTRUSTMENT CANNOT EXTEND BEYOND THE CHILD'S 18TH BIRTHDAY.
- PARENT(S) OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS MAY REQUEST RETURN OF THE CHILD TO THEIR HOME. THE AGREEMENT IS CONSIDERED TO BE REVOKED UNLESS THE AGENCY OPPOSES THE REQUEST AND OBTAINS A JUDICIAL DECISION THAT RETURN IS NOT IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST.
- THERE ARE TWO TYPES OF TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENTS, THOSE ISSUED FOR LESS THAN 90 DAYS, AND THOSE ISSUED FOR MORE THAN 90 DAYS.

3.5.2.1 ENTRUSTMENTS FOR LESS THAN 90 DAYS

This type of entrustment is used when a situation related to the child or his/her family can be resolved within 90 days. Documentation of the plan for services is required. Use of the foster care service plan form is not required. The plan may be an identifiable part of the narrative, or a separate page attached to the agreement.

IF THE CHILD DOES NOT RETURN HOME WITHIN 90 DAYS, THE AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT FOR A HEARING TO APPROVE THE SERVICE PLAN AND ENTRUSTMENT BY THE 89TH DAY AFTER PLACEMENT, (§16.1-277.01). A SERVICE PLAN MUST ACCOMPANY THE PETITION. THE SERVICE PLAN MUST DOCUMENT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL AND TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME AND THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD.

IF THE AGENCY DECIDES TO TERMINATE THE ENTRUSTMENT AND SEEK COURT COMMITMENT DURING THE FIRST 90 DAYS, THE AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT FOR CUSTODY AND SUBMIT THE SERVICE PLAN FOR APPROVAL.

FEDERAL REGULATIONS ALLOW TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY FOR TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT CASES THAT MEET ALL OTHER ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR UP TO 180 DAYS. However, if the entrustment goes beyond 90 days procedures in Section 3.5.2.2 must be followed. (§16.1-277.01)

3.5.2.2 COURT HEARINGS TO APPROVE ENTRUSTMENTS FOR MORE THAN 90 DAYS

THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT MUST BE APPROVED BY THE COURT AT A COURT HEARING. THE LOCAL AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT FOR APPROVAL WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SIGNING THE AGREEMENT AND SUBMIT A SERVICE PLAN WITH THE PETITION (§63.2-903, 16.1-277.01). THE COURT MUST SET A HEARING TO APPROVE THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT AND THE SERVICE PLAN WITHIN 45 DAYS OF RECEIVING THE AGENCY'S PETITION. THE SERVICE PLAN SUBMITTED MUST MEET ALL REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 8 OF THIS CHAPTER.

THERE MUST BE A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION REGARDING BEST INTERESTS (see Section 3.1) AND REASONABLE EFFORTS (see Section 3.2) AT THE HEARING APPROVING THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT. THE INITIAL COURT ORDER FORM (FOSTER CARE PLAN DISPOSITIONAL ORDER) MUST STATE THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD AND THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL AND OBTAIN ALTERNATIVE PERMANENT PLACEMENT. A STATEMENT THAT IT IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM HIS OR HER HOME CAN SUBSTITUTE FOR THE "CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE" STATEMENT. THESE REQUIREMENTS MUST BE MET FOR THE CHILD TO CONTINUE TO REMAIN ELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E BEYOND 180 DAYS.

AT THIS HEARING, THE COURT MUST SCHEDULE A FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS AND PROVIDE NOTICE OF THIS HEARING TO THOSE PRESENT.

IN ACCORDANCE WITH CODE REQUIREMENTS, ANY COURT ORDER TRANSFERRING CUSTODY OF AN ENTRUSTED CHILD TO A RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL SHALL BE ENTERED ONLY UPON A FINDING, BASED UPON A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE FROM A COURT DIRECTED INVESTIGATION. THE ORDER SHALL STATE THAT THE RELATIVE OR INDIVIDUAL IS:

- a) WILLING AND QUALIFIED TO RECEIVE AND CARE FOR THE CHILD;
- b) WILLING TO HAVE A POSITIVE AND CONTINUOUS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CHILD;
- c) COMMITTED TO PROVIDING A PERMANENT SUITABLE HOME FOR THE CHILD; AND,
- d) WILLING AND ABLE TO PROTECT THE CHILD FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT.

SECTION/PAGE 3-10

THE COURT'S ORDER TRANSFERRING CUSTODY TO A RELATIVE OR OTHER INTERESTED INDIVIDUAL WILL PROVIDE. IF APPROPRIATE. ANY TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR THE CHILD'S WELFARE. ONGOING SOCIAL SERVICES FOR THE CHILD AND CUSTODIAN, AND COURT REVIEW OF THE CHILD'S PLACEMENT. (§16.1-277.01.D1)

3.5.3 PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT PROVIDES A METHOD FOR THE PARENT(S) TO VOLUNTARILY RELINQUISH PARENTAL RIGHTS AND GIVE THE AGENCY AUTHORITY TO PLACE THE CHILD FOR ADOPTION. Policy governing the use of Permanent Entrustment Agreements begins in Section 9.5.5.4.

FEDERAL REGULATIONS ALLOW TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY FOR CHILDREN WHO ENTER CARE THROUGH A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT ONLY WHEN COURT APPROVAL IS OBTAINED WITHIN 180 DAYS OF PLACEMENT. THE COURT MUST MAKE A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT PLACEMENT IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD (see Section 3.1) AND THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE.

ONCE THE COURT APPROVES THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT, ALL PARENTAL RIGHTS ARE TERMINATED. THE PARENT CAN NO LONGER REVOKE THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT.

IF A PARENT IS INCARCERATED. THE COURT MAY AUTHORIZE THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS TO HAVE THE PRISONER TRANSPORTED TO PROVIDE NECESSARY TESTIMONY IN HEARINGS RELATED TO CHILD WELFARE. THE TESTIMONY OF PRISONERS CAN ALSO BE ACQUIRED USING ELECTRONIC VIDEO AND AUDIO COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS OR TELEPHONIC COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS IN LIEU OF A PERSONAL APPEARANCE IF AUTHORIZED BY THE COURT.

THE ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE COURT WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE COURT'S APPROVAL OF THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT.

3.5.4 RELIEF OF CARE AND CUSTODY (§16.1-277.02 and §16.1-278.3)

PARENTS MAY REQUEST TEMPORARY OR PERMANENT RELIEF OF CARE AND CUSTODY.

ON RECEIPT OF A PETITION FOR RELIEF OF CUSTODY, THE COURT MUST REFER REQUESTS FOR RELIEF TO LOCAL DEPARTMENTS INITIALLY FOR INVESTIGATION AND PROVISION OF SERVICES. The intent of this requirement is to determine whether the provision of services will prevent placement.

AT THE HEARING, THE COURT WILL DETERMINE, BASED ON EVIDENCE PRESENTED. INCLUDING THE REPORT FROM SOCIAL SERVICES. WHETHER THE PARENT SHOULD BE RELIEVED OF CUSTODY. IF PERMANENT RELIEF IS REQUESTED, THE COURT WILL DETERMINE WHETHER, BASED ON CLEAR

AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTERESTS. PARENTAL RIGHTS CAN BE TERMINATED ONLY UPON A FINDING BY THE COURT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL AND THAT CONTINUED PLACEMENT IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD. (§16.1-277.02)

IF A PARENT IS INCARCERATED, THE COURT MAY AUTHORIZE THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS TO HAVE THE PRISONER TRANSPORTED TO PROVIDE NECESSARY TESTIMONY IN HEARINGS RELATED TO CHILD WELFARE. THE TESTIMONY OF PRISONERS CAN ALSO BE ACQUIRED USING ELECTRONIC VIDEO AND AUDIO COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS OR TELEPHONIC COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS IN LIEU OF A PERSONAL APPEARANCE IF AUTHORIZED BY THE COURT.

IF TEMPORARY RELIEF IS GRANTED, THE COURT WILL SCHEDULE A HEARING WITHIN 75 DAYS.

IF PERMANENT RELIEF OF CUSTODY IS GRANTED AND TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS ORDERED, THE AGENCY WILL SUBMIT AN ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT TO THE COURT WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE HEARING.

3.5.5 NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT

PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS MAY ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OR COMMUNITY PLANNING AND MANAGEMENT TEAM (CPMT) DESIGNATED PUBLIC AGENCY TO VOLUNTARILY PLACE A CHILD UNDER AGE 18 IN FOSTER CARE WHILE RETAINING CUSTODY. SERVICES TO PREVENT THE NEED FOR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT MUST BE OFFERED AND MUST BE DOCUMENTED IN THE SERVICE PLAN. IN EMERGENCY SITUATIONS WHERE SERVICES CANNOT BE OFFERED, THE REASONS MUST BE RECORDED ON THE SERVICE PLAN.

Before choosing this placement alternative and entering into a non-custodial agreement, the agency must assess and determine that:

- Leaving custody with the parent(s) or guardians is in the best interests of the child and will not place the child at risk; and
- The parent(s) or guardians will remain actively involved with the child during the placement.

These determinations must be documented on the Non-Custodial Foster Care Agreement. If these conditions do not exist, transferring custody to the local department of social services should be considered.

3.5.5.1 THE NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT

THE NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT MUST ADDRESS THE CONDITIONS FOR CARE AND CONTROL OF THE

CHILD, AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE CHILD, PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS, AND AGENCY AND INCLUDE:

- THE LEGAL STATUS OF THE CHILD. With this agreement, the child would remain in the legal custody of the parent(s) or guardians;
- A STATEMENT THAT LEAVING CUSTODY WITH THE PARENT(S)
 OR GUARDIANS IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD AND
 WILL NOT PLACE THE CHILD AT RISK:
- A STATEMENT THAT THIS IS A VOLUNTARY AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS AND THE AGENCY; AND THAT THE CHILD WILL BE RETURNED TO THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS IF THE AGREEMENT IS REVOKED;
- A STATEMENT THAT A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK AND CHILD ABUSE/NEGLECT CENTRAL REGISTRY CHECK MUST BE COMPLETED ON ALL ADULTS IN THE HOME BEFORE THE CHILD CAN BE RETURNED HOME. RESULTS OF THE CHECK MAY PROHIBIT THE RETURN OF THE CHILD AND IN SUCH CASES, RESULTS WILL BE SHARED WITH THE PERSON ON WHOM THE CHECK WAS COMPLETED. § 63.2-901.1. THE AGENCY IS REQUIRED TO PAY FOR THE CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECKS AND MAY NOT TRANSFER THIS CHARGE TO THE ADULT UPON WHOM THE CHECK IS BEING COMPLETED (See section 4.1.5 for a list of barrier crimes).
- A statement that if the parent wishes to revoke the agreement after the court approved the agreement, judicial approval for terminating the agreement must be obtained.
- A STATEMENT THAT THE AGENCY HAS THE RIGHT TO SEEK JUDICIAL DETERMINATION REGARDING CUSTODY OF THE CHILD IN A SITUATION WHERE THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS REVOKE THE AGREEMENT AND THE AGENCY OPPOSES RETURN OF THE CHILD;
- REQUIREMENTS OF THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS FOR FINANCIAL SUPPORT, INCLUDING A STATEMENT THAT THE CASE WILL BE REFERRED TO THE DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT;
- AUTHORITY OF THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS AND THE AGENCY IN MAKING MEDICAL CARE AND TREATMENT DECISIONS;
- EXPECTATIONS OF THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS DURING THE PLACEMENT, INCLUDING A STATEMENT THAT THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS WILL REMAIN ACTIVELY INVOLVED WITH THE CHILD DURING THE PLACEMENT;

- EXPECTATIONS OF THE AGENCY PROVIDING SERVICES TO THE CHILD;
- VISITATION ARRANGEMENTS;
- THE DATE OF THE PLACEMENT;
- OTHER CONDITIONS FOR PLACEMENT; AND
- WHEN THE PLACEMENT IS AN INTERSTATE PLACEMENT, A STATEMENT PERTAINING TO RESPONSIBILITY FOR RETURN OF THE CHILD IF THE PLACEMENT AGREEMENT IS REVOKED.
- A copy of the agreement should be given to the parent(s) or guardians, to the placement provider, and be kept in the child's record. (See VDSS Intranet at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi for a sample Non-custodial Agreement Form).
- 3.5.5.2 COURT APPROVAL OF THE PLAN FOR NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT THROUGH A NON-CUSTODIAL AGREEMENT

THE LOCAL AGENCY OR PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE CPMT OR THE FAPT MUST FILE A FOSTER CARE PLAN WITH THE JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS DISTRICT COURT WITHIN 60 DAYS FOLLOWING THE BOARD OR PUBLIC AGENCY'S <u>PLACEMENT</u> OF THE CHILD UNLESS THE COURT, FOR GOOD CAUSE, ALLOWS AN EXTENSION OF TIME, WHICH SHALL NOT EXCEED AN ADDITIONAL 60 DAYS. (§16.1-281.A)

THE COURT MUST HOLD A HEARING WITHIN 75 DAYS OF THE CHILD'S INITIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT TO REVIEW AND APPROVE THE PLAN. (§16.1-281.C)

THE COURT ORDER MUST INCLUDE STATEMENTS THAT (i) REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PREVENT THE PLACEMENT AND (ii) THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME IS CONTRARY TO THE CHILD'S WELFARE, OR IT IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE, OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM HIS OR HER HOME.

ALL FOSTER CARE REQUIREMENTS MUST BE MET. TIME FRAMES FOR ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS AND HEARINGS ARE BASED ON THE DATE OF THE INITIAL NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT. THE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING MUST OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE 75-DAY HEARING, if the child remains in non-custodial foster care placement longer than six months. Refer to Section 10.1 for requirements pertaining to foster care reviews.

- 3.5.5.3 The case must be entered into OASIS as a foster care case.
- 3.5.5.4 The case must be referred for Medicaid, Title IV-E screening and child support. Child support is to be addressed in the non-custodial agreement. PARENTS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR PAYING SUPPORT FROM THE BEGINNING OF PLACEMENT. (§63.2-910) CHILD SUPPORT IS TO BE BASED UPON THE DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT'S GUIDELINES available at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dcse/manual/index.html.
- 3.5.5.5 Maintenance and service costs for non-Title IV-E children will be paid from State Pool Funds.
- 3.5.5.6 WHEN ANOTHER PUBLIC AGENCY OTHER THAN THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES IS THE CASE MANAGER AND ENTERS INTO THE NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT WITH THE PARENT(S) OR GUARDIANS, THAT AGENCY IS RESPONSIBLE FOR MEETING THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SECTION AND ALL OTHER FOSTER CARE REVIEW REQUIREMENTS. The local department of social services is responsible for providing consultation to the other agency on meeting these foster care requirements, and for assuring the case is entered in OASIS.
- 3.5.5.7 If the LDSS agrees to the return of the child and all required conditions for the child's safe return are met, the child may be sent home on a home visit pending final court approval.

SECTION/PAGE 3-1

4. Placement

4.1 Legal Requirements For Placement

The following legal protections must be provided to a child in foster care and documented in the child's foster care record. (NOTE: See section 5.4.2 for information regarding Title IV-E placement requirements for an approved placement):

- 4.1.1 THE AGENCY MUST PROVIDE A PLACEMENT headings
- 4.1.1 THAT IS APPROPRIATE FOR THE CHILD AND MUST DESCRIBE AND DISCUSS THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE PLACEMENT IN THE SERVICE PLAN.
- 4.1.2 THE AGENCY MUST PLACE THE CHILD IN THE LEAST RESTRICTIVE (MOST FAMILY LIKE SETTING) CONSISTENT WITH THE BEST INTERESTS AND SPECIAL NEEDS OF THE CHILD.
- 4.1.3 THE AGENCY MUST ATTEMPT TO PLACE THE CHILD IN AS CLOSE PROXIMITY AS POSSIBLE TO THE PARENT(S) OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN'S HOME TO FACILITATE VISITATION.
- 4.1.4 THE AGENCY MUST PLACE THE CHILD IN A LICENSED OR APPROVED PLACEMENT. THE AGENCY MUST ENTER INTO A PLACEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE PLACEMENT PROVIDER (See VDSS Intranet at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi for a foster care agreement form)
- 4.1.5 Legal requirements for the immediate enrollment of a child in school and consideration of allowing the child to remain in his previous academic placement are discussed in Section 5, Case Opening, subsections 5.12.1 and 5.12.2.
- 4.1.6 PRIOR TO PLACING A CHILD IN AN EMERGENCY FOSTER HOME OR IN ANY HOME NOT ALREADY APPROVED BY THE LOCAL AGENCY OR A LICENSED CHILD PLACING AGENCY OR WITH RELATIVES INCLUDING PARENTS TO WHOM A CHILD IS TO BE RETURNED, THE LOCAL AGENCY MUST CONDUCT A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND SEARCH AND CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT CENTRAL REGISTRY CHECK ON ALL ADULTS RESIDING IN THE HOME IN WHICH THE CHILD IS TO BE PLACED. RESULTS OF THE CHECK MAY PROHIBIT PLACEMENT OF THE CHILD AND IN SUCH CASES, THE BACKGROUND CHECK RESULTS MUST BE SHARED ONLY WITH THE PERSON ON WHOM THE CHECK WAS COMPLETED (§63.2-901.1). The child should not be placed if any of the following are indicated.
 - The parent/guardian/relative/household member has been convicted of any of the following crimes:

- Murder or voluntary manslaughter, or a felony attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to commit such an offense against (i) a child of the parent, (ii) a child with whom the parent resided at the time of the offense, or (iii) the other parent of the child.
- Felony assault or bodily wounding resulting in serious bodily injury or felony sexual assault of (i) a child of the parent or (ii) a child with whom the parent resided at the time of the offense. Serious bodily injury means bodily injury resulting in substantial risk of death, extreme physical pain, protracted or obvious disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of a bodily member, organ, or faculty.
- The following crimes should also be considered a barrier to placement, except under extenuating circumstances:
 - Murder
 - Abduction for immoral purposes (Section 18.2-48)
 - Criminal sexual assault (Title 18.2-61-67.10, Chapter 4, Article 7) and all offenses listed on the Virginia State Police sex offender registry
 - Pandering (Section 18.2-355)
 - Obscenity offenses (Section 18.2-374.1 or 18.2-379)
 - Failing to secure medical attention for an injured child (Section 18.2-371.1 or 18.2-314)
 - Crimes against nature involving children (Section 18.2-361)
 - Taking indecent liberties with children (Section 18.2-370 or 18.2-370.1)
 - Abuse or neglect of children (Section 18.2-371)
 - Felony conviction of a crime against children, including incest (Section 18.2-366)
 - Felony conviction of assault and battery against a family or household member (Section 18.2-57.2 B)
 - Felony convictions for physical assault or battery other than against a family or household member (Section 18.2-51), or drug-related offenses within the past five years.

The local agency has responsibility to protect the safety of each child under its care. Placement decisions should be carefully weighed when criminal and/or abuse/neglect backgrounds are present. State Field Specialists are available for consultation whenever a local department needs guidance and assistance.

4.1.7 THE AGENCY MUST DOCUMENT THAT IT PROVIDED EDUCATIONAL AND MEDICAL INFORMATION TO THE FOSTER PARENTS OR PROVIDER AT INITIAL PLACEMENT, EACH TIME A CHILD IS PLACED, AND ON AN ON-GOING BASIS IN ORDER TO ASSURE THAT PROVIDERS HAVE BASIC MEDICAL AND EDUCATIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CHILD. THE AGENCY IS REQUIRED. TO PROVIDE THE SERVICE PLAN TO FOSTER CARE PROVIDERS AS A MEANS OF MEETING THIS REQUIREMENT, EXCLUDING THE SECTIONS OF THE PLAN DESCRIBING THE REASONS WHY THE CHILD CANNOT RETURN HOME AND THE ALTERNATIVES CHOSEN.

SECTION/PAGE 3-3

- 4.1.8 THE AGENCY MAY NOT DELAY OR DENY PLACEMENT OF A CHILD INTO FOSTER CARE ON THE BASIS OF RACE, COLOR, OR NATIONAL ORIGIN OF THE FOSTER PARENTS OR CHILD INVOLVED.
- 4.1.9 IF THE AGENCY DETERMINES IT IS UNLIKELY THE CHILD WILL RETURN TO HIS OR HER PRIOR FAMILY IN A TIMELY MANNER, INFORMATION MUST BE PROVIDED REGARDING THE OPPORTUNITIES FOR PLACING THE CHILD WITH RELATIVES OR IN AN ADOPTIVE HOME (§16.1-281A).

4.2 Preplacement Visits

An agency worker must make a preplacement visit to any out-of-home placement to observe the environment where the child will be living. The date of the preplacement visit must be entered in OASIS.

- 4.2.1 The preplacement visit must precede the placement date.
- 4.2.2 The preplacement visit may be any visit to an out-of-home placement by an agency worker up to 90 days prior to placement.
- 4.2.3 An exception to the preplacement visit is an emergency situation, which must be documented in the case narrative. In such emergency situation, a preplacement visit may be the day of placement.
- 4.2.4 When a child is to be placed outside of Virginia with relatives, in a foster home, in an adoptive home, residential facility or an independent living situation, the preplacement visit must be made by an authorized agency in the receiving state in accordance with Interstate/Intercountry Compact procedures.

4.3 Foster Family Homes

4.3.1 APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

FOSTER FAMILY HOMES MUST MEET STANDARDS ESTABLISHED BY THE STATE BOARD AND BE APPROVED BY LOCAL DEPARTMENTS PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF THE CHILD UNLESS THEY ARE HOMES APPROVED BY LICENSED CHILD PLACING AGENCIES. THE PROCEDURES FOR APPROVING THESE HOMES (INCLUDING RELATIVES) ARE FOUND IN Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter I.

HOMES MUST BE RE-EXAMINED FOR APPROVAL EVERY 24 MONTHS.

AN EMPLOYEE OF A LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES CANNOT SERVE AS A FOSTER OR ADOPTIVE PARENT FOR CHILDREN IN THE CUSTODY OF THAT AGENCY. (§2.2-3109)

4.3.2 MULTIPLE AGENCY FOSTER HOMES

Homes may be providers for more than one agency. The initial approving agency is responsible for continued approval of providers used by more than one agency. (Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter I, 3.11) If the approving agency has a child placed in a shared home, other agencies should obtain prior written approval for each child they wish to place. To avoid possible disruption of a current placement, any time a placement is considered in a shared home where a child has already been placed, discussion should occur between agencies. If there is no child in a shared home, the agency wishing to place a child must discuss the placement with the approving agency and foster parents prior to placement, then provide notification in writing about the placement to the approving agency no later than 10 working days from the placement.

4.3.3 FOSTER HOMES PROVIDING MULTIPLE TYPES OF CARE

Homes may be providers of regular, emergency and permanent foster care at the same time when:

- The foster parent(s) demonstrate they can handle the different service needs of the children; and
- Services to children in on-going placement are not disrupted by emergency placements.

4.3.4 EMERGENCY FOSTER HOME

This is a foster family home where a child may be temporarily placed until a more appropriate placement is found or the home is approved. CHILDREN MAY BE PLACED WITH FRIENDS OR RELATIVES ON AN EMERGENCY BASIS FOR UP TO 30 DAYS WHILE EFFORTS ARE BEING MADE TO APPROVE THE HOME OR LOCATE ANOTHER APPROVED PLACEMENT AS LONG AS STANDARDS FOR EMERGENCY APPROVAL AND REQUIREMENTS FOR A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK AND CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT CENTRAL REGISTRY SEARCH ARE MET (see section 4.1.5). LONGER TERM PLACEMENTS REQUIRE FULL APPROVAL OF THE HOME. Refer to Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter I for additional information.

TITLE IV-E PAYMENTS CANNOT BE MADE FOR CARE IN A HOME THAT DOES NOT FULLY MEET STANDARDS. State-local pool funds must be used for a home during the emergency approval period, if payment is required. Title IV-E cannot pay retroactively for the emergency approval period.

4.3.5 REGULAR FOSTER HOME

This is a foster family home that has been approved and is being paid to provide basic maintenance, supervision, and parenting.

4.3.6 RELATIVE FOSTER HOME

SECTION/PAGE 3-5

This is a foster family home of relatives. THESE HOMES MUST FULLY MEET FOSTER HOME STANDARDS AS LONG AS THE CHILD IS IN FOSTER CARE. CHILDREN MAY BE PLACED WITH RELATIVES ON AN EMERGENCY BASIS FOR UP TO 30 DAYS AS LONG AS STANDARDS FOR EMERGENCY APPROVAL AND REQUIREMENTS FOR A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK AND CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT CENTRAL REGISTRY SEARCH ARE MET (see section 4.1.5). LONGER TERM PLACEMENTS REQUIRE FULL APPROVAL OF THE HOME. (Refer to Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter I.) TITLE IV-E FUNDING CANNOT BE USED DURING THE 30-DAY EMERGENCY APPROVAL PERIOD OF A RELATIVE FOSTER HOME. State-local pool funds must be used, if payment is required.

Relatives residing outside of Virginia must be approved through the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children prior to placement.

4.3.7 SPECIALIZED FOSTER HOME

This is a regular foster family home that has been approved to receive "special needs/specialized" payments in addition to the maintenance payment. Such payments are distributed to regular foster family homes that are not part of a designated therapeutic program. These "special needs/specialized" homes are agency approved foster homes, where the agency has elected to pay an additional service payment due to the difficulty of care of a specific child. The FAPT must authorize "special needs/specialized" payments to a foster family home. This additional payment is paid from CSA state pool funds.

4.3.8 THERAPEUTIC FOSTER HOME

This is a trained foster parent, providing care through a licensed child placing agency or local agency's defined foster care therapeutic program, who may receive an additional payment for added daily supervision required for children who have identified emotional/behavioral, developmental, physical or medical disorders. Title IV-E funds may be used to reimburse the costs of daily and additional supervision provided as part of a therapeutic foster home program for IV-E eligible children identified as needing therapeutic foster care. Foster parents providing such therapeutic care must meet specific requirements such as additional training.

The therapeutic needs of a child must be documented in the child's local agency record. Formal assessments, such as Child and Adolescent Functional Assessment Scale (CAFAS) or Preschool and Early Childhood Functional Assessment Scale (PECFAS), which identify the behavior or diagnostic category of the child requiring additional supervision of the foster parents, are instruments that may be used to provide documentation. Additional documentation of the need for therapeutic foster care, which identifies the need for additional supervision, can be provided by the FAPTs recommendation or a history of multiple placements.

4.3.9 CHILD PLACING AGENCY FOSTER HOME

This is a foster family home approved by and provided through a private child-placing agency, which does not require local agency approval.

April 2004

AS WITH AN AGENCY APPROVED FOSTER HOME, THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES IS RESPONSIBLE FOR:

- COMPLETING THE SERVICE PLAN FOR THE CHILD;
- HOLDING ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS;
- PETITIONING FOR COURT REVIEWS AND HEARINGS; AND
- VISITING THE CHILD at least monthly in the child's home or placement. If unable to conduct these visits on a monthly basis, face-to-face visits with the child in his or her home must occur no less than quarterly. These visits should be planned with the staff of the child placing agency and the foster parents.

The child-placing agency is responsible for submitting quarterly reports on the child to the local department of social services. The report should include a summary of the child's progress in the foster home as well as a summary of services rendered by the foster parents and the child-placing agency.

4.3.10 TREATMENT FOSTER CARE PROGRAM HOME

This is a licensed child-placing agency or public agency meeting licensing standards and enrolled by the Department of Medical Assistance Services (DMAS) to provide Medicaid reimbursed Treatment Foster Care case management services for children. These agencies can receive reimbursement through Medicaid for case management for an eligible child, as long as Medicaid criteria are met. Prior to reimbursement for case management services, the local agency must refer the child to a provider; provide copies of the latest CAFAS; and the FAPT assessment. Additionally, either the FAPT certification that treatment foster care case management is medically necessary or written documentation that the CPMT has approved the Treatment Foster Care Case Management Services is required. The local agency must provide the Rate Certification form signed by the CPMT, which identifies the payment rate negotiated with the provider.

The provider must complete and fax preauthorization materials within ten days of placement and submit a monthly Treatment Foster Care Case Management Time Sheet to the local agency. Treatment Foster Care case management reviews must be held every six months by the local agency and ongoing authorization requests must be submitted to the DMAS contractor for continued reimbursement of case management services.

4.4 Adoptive Home

SECTION/PAGE 3-7

This is a home, which has been approved by a private or public agency for the placement of a child with the intent to adopt (§63.2-100). The adoptive home agreement form must be signed in order for the home to be considered an adoptive home. Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter C and Section I, Chapter I for additional information.

4.5 Resource Family Home

A resource family home is used when an agency has developed a concurrent permanency plan of reunification and adoption for a child. The worker should place the child in a resource home where the resource parents will both support the goal of return home and be committed to adopting the foster child if return home is not feasible.

4.6 Independent Living Arrangement

An Independent Living Arrangement is a placement of a youth in foster care who is at least 16 years old and lives without daily parental supervision. Such living arrangements may be used for youth who are enrolled in high school, college, vocational training, and/or employment. In determining whether an Independent Living Arrangement is the best plan for a foster youth, some of the factors to consider are the youth's maturity, ability to assume responsibility, and successful progress through his/her transitional living plan.

The worker must make an on-site visit to the living arrangement and approve it, unless the housing arrangement is provided or approved by a college, educational, or other vocational facility. See Independent Living Arrangements, Section 9.7.4.

4.7 Residential Placement

4.7.1 DEFINITION AND OBJECTIVES OF RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENT

Residential placement in this section means placement in a licensed publicly or privately owned facility, other than a private family home, where 24-hour care is provided to children separated from their families. These include residential facilities for children, group homes, and psychiatric hospitals.

Residential placement offers care and treatment for children as an alternative to the traditional family environment. Residential programs differ in size, types of children served, staff size and qualification, allowable funding sources, and services provided.

A treatment program in a residential placement should provide individual and group treatment and education for each child to maximize the child's capabilities, further emotional growth and development, and prepare the child to return home, to the community, or a more permanent placement.

4.7.2 PREPLACEMENT PLANNING FOR RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENT

Before considering placement in a residential facility, the agency must have:

- ATTEMPTED TO USE COMMUNITY BASED SERVICES AND LESS RESTRICTIVE ALTERNATIVES; I.E. CHILD'S OWN HOME, REGULAR FOSTER HOME, THERAPEUTIC OR SPECIALIZED FOSTER HOME, ETC. This may include referral to the Family Assessment and Planning Team (FAPT) to develop a service plan for community based services;
- COMPLIED WITH LOCAL PROCEDURES FOR RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENT ESTABLISHED BY THE COMMUNITY POLICY AND MANAGEMENT TEAM (CPMT). This may include referring the child to the FAPT. If the CPMT requires staffing by the FAPT for residential placements, the service worker must provide information and supporting documents about the child to the FAPT; and
- COMPLETED DOCUMENTATION OF THESE PROCESSES IN THE CASE RECORD.

4.7.3 MEDICAID FUNDED RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT

To be eligible for Medicaid funding, the local agency and provider must fulfill the following responsibilities prior to admission.

Agency Responsibilities:

- Refer the child to the facility.
- Prepare Certificate of Need signed by FAPT members.
- An independent physician must certify that outpatient care does not meet the specific needs of the child, proper treatment of the child's condition requires services on an inpatient basis under the direction of a physician, and services can reasonably be expected to improve the child's condition to prevent further regression.
- Provide a copy of the latest CAFAS (within 90 days).
- Coordinate with the facility for the Initial Plan of Care.
- The plan must include the following: diagnosis; symptoms; description of the functional level of the child; treatment objectives with short and long-term goals; orders for medication and treatments; plans for continuing care including reviews; and discharge plans.
- Forward to the receiving facility all relevant background and treatment history.
- Negotiate a reimbursement rate and provide the CPMT signature on the Rate Certification Form.

Provider Responsibilities:

- Must be certified/enrolled as a Medicaid provider;
- Develop with the agency the Initial Plan of Care;
- Complete the West Virginia Medical Institute preauthorization forms:
- Negotiate a payment rate with locality; and
- Notify CPMT/FAPT of Medicaid approval or denial.

Under Medicaid, reviews must be completed for residential placements every 30 days.

4.7.4 SELECTING A RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENT FOR THE CHILD

The primary step in selecting an appropriate residential placement for a child is to compare the child's needs with the services offered by the residential facility. The service worker should involve the child and parent(s) or prior custodian in determining the appropriateness of the residential placement for the child.

Priority shall be given to facilities that provide services to return children to the community.

Factors to consider in determining the appropriate facility should include:

- Diagnosis and treatment of child;
- Accessibility of placement to parents or prior custodians;
- The child's and family's readiness for placement and treatment;
- Opportunity for parental/family involvement and participation in the treatment plan;
- Ability of facility to sustain placement;
- Duration of treatment;
- Cost and funding resources; and
- Transition plan to return the child to parent/community.

The agency coordinates the placement with the local school board to assure that the child's educational needs are met.

4.7.5 FACILITY REQUIREMENTS

CHILDREN IN CARE SHALL BE PLACED ONLY IN RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES THAT MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA:

- LICENSED BY OR APPROVED AS MEETING THE LICENSING STANDARDS OF THE STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES, OTHER STATE DEPARTMENTS IN VIRGINIA OR THE LICENSING AGENCIES IN THE STATE IN WHICH IT IS LOCATED.
- TITLE IV-E FUNDS MAY BE USED ONLY IN FACILITIES THAT MEET TITLE IV-E requirements AS DESCRIBED IN Section 5.4.2,
- LISTED IN THE CSA SERVICE FEE DIRECTORY UNLESS THE LICENSED FACILITY OFFERS ROOM, BOARD AND SERVICES AT NO CHARGE TO THE AGENCY.

- NOT AMONG THE FACILITIES LICENSED UNDER THE MINIMUM STANDARDS FOR LICENSED CHILD CARING INSTITUTIONS. THE NAMES OF THESE FACILITIES MAY BE OBTAINED FROM THE DIVISION OF LICENSING.
- HAS A PLACEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE AGENCY.
- DOES NOT PERMIT CORPORAL PUNISHMENT.

4.7.6 PREPARING THE CHILD AND FAMILY FOR PLACEMENT

The child and parents should be made fully aware of the reasons for and expectations of the residential placement.

- The child should be prepared for the placement. A preplacement visit to the facility should be arranged to afford the child the opportunity to see the physical facility and meet the staff and peers with whom the child will be residing. An explanation should be given to the child as to why the placement is occurring and how it is anticipated that services provided will help meet the child's needs.
- To prepare the family, the agency should discuss with them how services provided at the residential facility will meet the needs of the child and the family's role in meeting the child's needs through visitation, counseling and/or therapy, as well as participation in the transition plan for the child's return.

4.8 Interstate Placements: Interstate Compact On The Placement Of Children (ICPC) (§63.2-1000 et.seq.)

The purpose of the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children is to ensure that children placed out-of-state are placed in approved settings and receive continuing services and supervision necessary to ensure that their placements are appropriate and safe. Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E for specific information on ICPC policy and procedure.

- 4.8.1 LOCAL AGENCIES ARE AUTHORIZED TO PLACE FOSTER CHILDREN OUT-OF-STATE WITH PARENTS, RELATIVES, FOSTER PARENTS OR IN RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES, GROUP HOMES, INDEPENDENT LIVING SITUATIONS, OR CHILD PLACING AGENCY PLACEMENTS UPON RECEIPT OF ICPC APPROVAL FROM BOTH THE Virginia and receiving states' Interstate Office. Placement by the court also requires ICPC approval. While ICPC approval is not required or needed when placing CHILDREN In BOARDING SCHOOLS, MENTAL HEALTH AND MENTAL RETARDATION HOSPITALS AND MEDICAL FACILITIES, and independent living situations, the consent of the Commissioner of the Department of Social Services is required prior to placement. (See 4.8.3 of this section). VISITS UP TO 30 DAYS DO NOT REQUIRE ICPC APPROVAL.
- 4.8.2 To receive ICPC APPROVAL, the agency must submit the 100a form and appropriate supporting documentation as identified in the Interstate Policy chapter, to the Virginia Interstate Office following the procedures for requesting interstate

approval found in Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E. The required forms are available at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/icpc.html or by contacting the ICPC Contract Administrator at the Virginia Department of Social Services in Richmond at 804-726-7582 or 7557..

- 4.8.3 IF THE PLACEMENT IS WITH A CHILD PLACING AGENCY, OR IN A GROUP OR RESIDENTIAL FACILITY, in addition to ICPC approval, COMMISSIONER'S CONSENT MUST BE OBTAINED BEFORE ICPC APPROVAL WILL BE GIVEN. (§63.2-1105). Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E for information on procedures to obtain Commissioner's Consent. The purpose of Commissioner's Consent is to ensure that no in-state resources exist for the child and that placement out-of-state is in the child's best interests.
- 4.8.4 PRIOR TO A CHILD IN AGENCY CUSTODY, MOVING WITH A RELATIVE, PARENT OR FOSTER PARENT FROM VIRGINIA TO ANOTHER STATE, REGULATIONS GOVERNING THE INTERSTATE COMPACT MUST BE FOLLOWED (see ICPC Regulation #1, Conversion of Intrastate Placement into Interstate Placement; Relocation of Family Unit at www.dss.state.va.us/family/interstate/pub).
- 4.8.5 ANY AGENCY PLACING A CHILD OUT-OF-STATE WITHOUT MEETING THE ABOVE REQUIREMENTS WILL HAVE ALL EXPENSES RELATED TO THE CHILD CHARGED TO 100% LOCAL FUNDS.
- 4.8.6 When the plan is to permit a foster child to move with a foster parent from Virginia to another country, the Commissioner's consent is required. Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E.

4.9 Placements In Another Political Jurisdiction

When a child is to be placed in a home in another political jurisdiction within the state and the local department of social services in that community has not approved that home, the local agency holding custody shall:

- Notify the local agency where the home is located that the home is being considered for the child's placement;
- Conduct a study and approve the home or request that the local agency in the receiving locality study and approve the home;
- Request the local agency in the receiving locality to supervise the child or notify them that the local agency holding custody will supervise; and
- As soon as possible notify the local school division in the new locality as well as the school division the child is leaving.

4.10 When Foster Parents Move To Another Jurisdiction

SECTION/PAGE 3-12

- 4.10.1 When a child moves with a foster family from one political jurisdiction to another in the state, the local agency holding custody is responsible for continuing supervision of the child unless supervision is transferred to the other local agency. The local agency holding custody shall notify the local agency in the county or city to which the foster family moves.
- 4.10.2 The local agency holding custody must notify the local school division the child is leaving as well as the school division the child will be entering.
- 4.10.3 When supervision is transferred, the agency holding custody codes the case to Foster Care. The agency holding custody is responsible for service plans and completion of OASIS reports.

4.11 Transferring Custody To Another Local Agency

If a local agency is considering transferring custody of a child to another jurisdiction because the parent(s) or guardians have moved to that jurisdiction, a determination must be made that it is in the best interests of the child to transfer custody. The agency holding custody must consult with the local agency in the other jurisdiction prior to petitioning the court to transfer custody. A local agency may petition the court to transfer commitment of a child to the custody of another local agency where the child, his/her parent(s) or guardians, or relatives reside when it is in the best interests of the child to transfer custody. The local board in the other community does not have to accept custody until given reasonable notice and opportunity to be heard by the court.

4.12 Notification of Placement Changes

All parents with residual parental rights or prior custodians must be notified in writing of any change in placement or visitation privileges within 10 days of such a change.

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B SECTION/PAGE 5-1

Case Opening 5.

5.1 Opening to OASIS

THE CODE OF VIRGINIA AND FEDERAL LAW REQUIRE THAT EVERY CHILD IN FOSTER CARE BE TRACKED SO THAT THE DEPARTMENT MAY MONITOR SERVICE DELIVERY AND PLANNING FOR ACHIEVING PERMANENCY. (§63.2-907) This includes children placed under a non-custodial foster care agreement. OASIS is Virginia's official system of record in which cases must be documented and tracked. Data utilized for state and federal reporting and planning are extracted from OASIS; therefore, all case data must be entered into OASIS accurately and within 30 days of each case event occurrence.

5.1.1 OPENING THE FOSTER CARE CASE IN OASIS

- Information for every child in foster care must be entered into OASIS as soon as possible but no later than 30 days after the child's custody is transferred to a local department of social services or he/she is placed in foster care. A delay in the entry on OASIS will result in a federal penalty under the federal Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting System (AFCARS). The worker is responsible for entering and updating all case data in OASIS as soon as possible but no later than 30 days after, each activity or event.
- The case is opened in the family's name.
- A child in the agency's custody or placement is considered a member of a family case. If there is no family, open the case in the child's name.

5.1.2 CHOOSING THE PROGRAM CATEGORY (FUNDING SOURCE SCREEN)

There are two program categories for children in foster care. These categories determine the source of maintenance payments made on behalf of the child. In order to receive federal funding, workers must identify the program category on the Funding Source Screen in OASIS as follows:

- CSA cases eligible for State Pool Funds;
- Title IV-E cases eligible for Title IV-E federal funds. Workers check Title IV-E as the program category when a child is Title IV-E eligible even when no Title IV-E payment is being made; for instance, when a child is receiving full SSI benefits, placed in a placement that is not eligible for Title IV-E funding, or a child on a trial visit home for less than six months.

All cases must initially be opened as CSA cases until the eligibility determination for Title IV-E has been made. On notification by eligibility staff that the case is Title IV-E eligible, the service worker must change the program category and the source of payment on the Funding Source Screen in OASIS to Title IV-E. No Title IV-E

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B SECTION/PAGE 5-2

> maintenance payment shall be made until eligibility for Title IV-E has been determined.

5.1.3 CHOOSING THE SOURCE OF PAYMENT

Under source of payment on the funding sources screen, the agency checks what the source of payment is for maintenance payments. If the agency receives SSI or other resources for the child, the worker would choose "other resources' and identify the resource the child receives. Even if an agency initially pays for a child out of CSA and then reimburses CSA out of SSI, the agency should choose the resource that ultimately pays for maintenance as the funding source.

5.2 Setting Up Paper Case Records

OASIS contains the official case record for all foster care cases, and is supplemented with forms, letters, and other original hard copy documents which must be retained in the paper case record. Most of the case documentation will be in OASIS however, and not in the paper file. It is not necessary to copy OASIS screens into the case record unless this is the local agency's policy. Original documents (Social Security Card, birth certificate, psychological reports, etc.) will remain in the paper record, as well as documents that require signature. Many of the foster care forms are either in OASIS and can be completed and printed as needed, or are available on the VDSS Intranet at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi in a WORD format. (See Appendix A for a list of forms available).

Material in the paper case record should be separated into divisions, grouping the same or similar forms and documents together. Within each division, material must be fastened together in chronological order with the most recent material on top. A suggested paper Case Record format follows:

5.2.1 Key Documents, including:

- Referral to eligibility for Title IV-E determination and Medicaid
- Birth verification
- Social security card and/or application

5.2.2 Legal documents with original signatures, including:

- Petitions
- Entrustments
- Service plans (including the court approved Individual and Family Service Plan (IFSP)
- Court orders
- ICPC Forms

5.2.3 Agreements (with original signatures) including:

Non-Custodial foster care agreements

SECTION/PAGE 5-3

- Foster family home placement agreements
- Foster family home placement agreements
- Independent living agreements (Transitional Living Plans)
- Respite care agreements
- Permanent foster care agreements

5.2.4 Reports, including:

- Social histories
- School reports
- Medical reports
- Psychological reports
- Quarterly provider reports

5.2.5 Residential, including:

- Application
- Placement reports

5.2.6 Correspondence, in chronological order, including:

- Notice of visitation
- Notice of placement change
- Notice of panel review
- CPS summary or affidavit
- Other correspondence

5.2.7 <u>Purchase Orders and Invoices</u>

5.2.9 Adoption Documents

- Termination of Parental Rights
- Adoption Assistance Agreement (if applicable)
- Adoptive home placement agreement

5.3 Foster Family Record

AFCARS reporting requires that basic demographic information about all foster families (public and private) be entered into OASIS. This information is reported under the resource section of OASIS. The record for the agency approved foster home shall include all forms and information gathered during the study-evaluation and approval process. (See Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter I.)

5.4 Referrals For Maintenance: Title IV-E And State Pool Funds

ALL CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT ARE ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE ROOM, BOARD, and SUPERVISION. Maintenance is defined by federal regulations as: PAYMENTS

SECTION/PAGE 5-4

MADE ON BEHALF OF A CHILD TO COVER THE COST OF (AND THE COST OF PROVIDING) FOOD, CLOTHING, SHELTER, DAILY SUPERVISION, SCHOOL SUPPLIES, A CHILD'S PERSONAL INCIDENTALS, LIABILITY INSURANCE WITH RESPECT TO A CHILD, AND REASONABLE TRAVEL FOR A CHILD'S VISITATION WITH FAMILY OR OTHER CARETAKERS. DAILY SUPERVISION INCLUDES DAY CARE WHEN THE FOSTER PARENT WORKS OR NEEDS TO ATTEND MEETINGS RELATED TO THE CHILD. DAY CARE MUST BE WITH LICENSED OR FULLY APPROVED PROVIDERS. (See Section 12.1 for maintenance payment information).

Funding sources for paying the costs of maintenance and procedures for determining the source to be used are described below.

5.4.1 TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS

This is a method of funding using State and federal funds, which pays for maintenance only. ALL CHILDREN IN CARE ARE TO BE REFERRED TO ELIGIBILITY STAFF FOR AN INITIAL DETERMINATION OF TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY. The services staff must refer a child for screening within 10 calendar days of the court commitment order, or the date the voluntary entrustment agreement is signed, or the date the non-custodial agreement is signed (TITLE IV-E Eligibility Manual, Section 202.10, A). The service worker is responsible for referring and providing information to the eligibility worker that is used in making the Title IV-E eligibility determination. The Title IV-E/Medicaid Eligibility Form may be obtained at VDSS Intranet at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi in a WORD format. FOR A CHILD TO BE TITLE IV-E ELIGIBLE, THE FOLLOWING REQUIREMENTS MUST BE MET:

- 5.4.1.1 DURING THE MONTH COURT ACTION WAS INITIATED (THE MONTH IN WHICH A PETITION WAS FILED TO REMOVE OR PLACE THE CHILD, OR AN EMERGENCY REMOVAL ORDER WAS ENTERED, OR A DETENTION ORDER WAS ENTERED) OR VOLUNTARY ENTRUSTMENT OR NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT OCCURS, THE CHILD:
 - WOULD HAVE BEEN ELIGIBLE FOR ASSISTANCE UNDER AFDC AS IT WAS IN EFFECT JULY 16, 1996 (SEE TITLE IV-E Eligibility Manual); OR
 - WAS LIVING WITH A SPECIFIED RELATIVE AND WOULD HAVE BEEN ELIGIBLE FOR AFDC AS IT WAS IN EFFECT AS OF JULY 16, 1996 HAD APPLICATION BEEN MADE; OR
 - WAS NOT LIVING WITH A SPECIFIED RELATIVE, BUT HAD LIVED WITH A SPECIFIED RELATIVE SOME TIME DURING THE SIX MONTHS PRIOR TO THE MONTH IN WHICH COURT ACTION WAS INITIATED AND WOULD HAVE BEEN ELIGIBLE FOR AFDC AS IT WAS IN EFFECT JULY 16, 1996 IF AN APPLICATION HAD BEEN MADE AND THE CHILD HAD BEEN LIVING WITH THAT RELATIVE DURING THE MONTH COURT ACTION WAS INITIATED.

- 5.4.1.2 THE CHILD IS YOUNGER THAN 18 YEARS.
- 5.4.1.3 THE COURT ORDER APPROVING THE PLAN FOR PLACEMENT IN A NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT OR COMMITTING THE CHILD TO FOSTER CARE MUST CONTAIN A STATEMENT THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD AND A STATEMENT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAD BEEN MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL. A STATEMENT THAT IT IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST TO BE PLACED IN FOSTER CARE OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM HIS/HER HOME CAN SUBSTITUTE FOR THE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE STATEMENT.
- 5.4.1.4 EFFECTIVE MARCH 27, 2000, NUNC PRO TUNC ORDERS ARE NOT ACCEPTABLE AS AMENDMENTS OR CORRECTIONS TO INITIAL COURT ORDERS LACKING REQUIRED WORDING.

5.4.2 TITLE IV-E PLACEMENT REQUIREMENTS

TO BE ELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E MAINTENANCE PAYMENTS, THE CHILD MUST BE PLACED IN ONE OF THE FOLLOWING:

- A local department FOSTER HOME APPROVED AS FULLY MEETING STATE STANDARDS FOR FOSTER FAMILY CARE (not emergency approval);
- A FULLY LICENSED PRIVATE NON-PROFIT CHILD PLACING AGENCY LISTED IN THE CSA SERVICE DIRECTORY:
- A FULLY LICENSED PRIVATE FOR-PROFIT CHILD PLACING AGENCY LISTED IN THE CSA SERVICE DIRECTORY if the maintenance payments are made directly to the provider and do not pass through the for-profit child placing agency. For details, see Department Broadcast #2589, "Claiming Title IV-E Reimbursement for Maintenance Costs for Children Placed in For Profit Licensed Child Placing Agency Foster Homes" dated 3/5/04)
- A FULLY LICENSED PRIVATE CHILD-CARING INSTITUTION LISTED IN THE CSA SERVICE FEE DIRECTORY; OR
- A PUBLIC FACILITY LISTED IN THE CSA SERVICE FEE DIRECTORY, WHICH ACCOMMODATES NO MORE THAN 25 CHILDREN.

5.4.3 SPECIAL REGULATIONS GOVERNING ENTRUSTED CHILDREN

5.4.3.1 FUNDING FROM TITLE IV-E IS LIMITED TO 180 DAYS FOR CHILDREN IN CUSTODY PURSUANT TO A VOLUNTARY TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT UNLESS THE AGREEMENT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE COURT AND THE COURT ORDER CONTAINS

SECTION/PAGE 5-6

THE NECESSARY BEST INTERESTS AND REASONABLE EFFORTS STATEMENTS.

- 5.4.3.2 STATE LAW MANDATES COURT APPROVAL OF ALL TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENTS FOR 90 DAYS OR MORE. THIS MEETS THE 180 DAYS REQUIREMENT.
- 5.4.3.3 FOR A CHILD WHO IS PERMANENTLY ENTRUSTED TO BE ELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E FOSTER CARE AND ADOPTION ASSISTANCE, THERE MUST BE:
 - A COURT HEARING WITHIN 180 DAYS OF THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT:
 - A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION AND STATEMENTS ON THE COURT ORDER THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS WERE MADE TO PREVENT REMOVAL AND THAT THE PLACEMENT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD: AND
 - A TITLE IV-E PAYMENT MADE DURING THE ENTRUSTMENT PERIOD.
- 5.4.3.4 FAILURE TO MEET REQUIREMENTS OF THIS SECTION WILL RESULT IN THE CHILD BEING INELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E FUNDING. DOCUMENTATION NOT RECEIVED BY 180 DAYS WILL RESULT IN THE CASE BEING CLOSED TO TITLE IV-E. COSTS FOR THE CHILD'S PLACEMENT WILL BE PAID FROM STATE POOL FUNDS.
- 5.4.4 INFORMATION SENT TO ELIGIBILITY FOR TITLE IV-E SCREENING

THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION IS TO BE SENT TO THE ELIGIBILITY WORKER:

- 5.4.4.1 COPY OF THE PETITION AND INITIAL COURT ORDER WHICH CONTAINS REASONABLE EFFORTS DETERMINATION AND CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE STATEMENT.
- 5.4.4.2 FOR ENTRUSTMENTS OR NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENTS, A COPY OF THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT OR NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT.
- 5.4.4.3 CHILD'S SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER OR PROOF OF AN APPLICATION FOR A SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER.
- 5.4.4.4 BIRTH VERIFICATION.
- 5.4.4.5 DESCRIPTION OF THE SITUATION FROM WHICH THE CHILD WAS REMOVED INCLUDING:

SECTION/PAGE 5-7

- NAMES OF ALL PERSONS WITH WHOM CHILD WAS LIVING;
- RELATIONSHIP OF EACH TO CHILD;
- DATE OF REMOVAL;
- SPECIFIC INFORMATION ON BOTH PARENTS TO INCLUDE FULL NAMES, BIRTH DATES, SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS, WHEREABOUTS, EMPLOYERS' NAMES AND ADDRESSES, THEIR PARENTS' NAMES AND ADDRESSES;
- INCOME OF ALL IMMEDIATE FAMILY MEMBERS WITH WHOM CHILD WAS LIVING (PARENTS AND SIBLINGS);
- SCHOOL ENROLLMENT AT TIME OF REMOVAL AND AT TIME OF APPLICATION:
- WHETHER THE CHILD WAS A RESIDENT OF VIRGINIA AT THE TIME OF THE ENTRUSTMENT, COMMITMENT, OR PLACEMENT; AND
- WHETHER THE CHILD IS A CITIZEN OF THE UNITED STATES OR AN ALIEN.
- 5.4.4.6 CURRENT FINANCIAL DATA RELATED TO INCOME AND RESOURCES AVAILABLE TO THE CHILD, SUCH AS SOCIAL SECURITY ADMINISTRATION, VETERANS ADMINISTRATION, SUPPORT FROM PARENTS, OTHER BENEFITS, EARNINGS, SAVINGS, TRUST FUNDS, AND FUNDS IN THE SPECIAL WELFARE ACCOUNT.
 - INCOME IS EITHER EARNED OR UNEARNED. EARNED INCOME IS INCOME DERIVED FROM WAGES, SALARY, COMMISSIONS OR PROFIT FROM SELF-EMPLOYMENT.
 - UNEARNED INCOME IS INCOME FROM SOCIAL SECURITY AND OTHER BENEFITS, LUMP SUM PAYMENTS FROM AN INSURANCE POLICY, SALE OF PROPERTY, AND ANY OTHER UNEARNED SOURCE.
- 5.4.4.7 VERIFICATION OF THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE PLACEMENT RELATIVE TO TITLE IV-E FUNDING:
 - VERIFICATION OF A FOSTER HOME CONSISTS OF THE MOST RECENT APPROVAL PERIOD FOR THE HOME.
 - THE SERVICE WORKER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THAT THE AGENCY APPROVED PROVIDER COMPLIANCE FORM IS AVAILABLE TO THE ELIGIBILITY WORKER.

SECTION/PAGE 5-8

- WHEN SENDING THE AGENCY APPROVED FORM TO THE ELIGIBILITY STAFF FOR THE PURPOSE OF ESTABLISHING OR MAINTAINING A UNIT FILE, THE FRONT PAGE OF THE FORM IS SUFFICIENT.
- VERIFICATION OF A RESIDENTIAL FACILITY'S ELIGIBILITY FOR TITLE IV-E PAYMENTS CONSISTS OF DOCUMENTATION OF THE ROOM AND BOARD RATE AGREED UPON BETWEEN THE AGENCY AND THE FACILITY, THE MOST RECENT APPROVAL DATE FOR THE ROOM AND BOARD RATE, ITS LICENSING AND NON-PROFIT STATUS, AND, IF PUBLIC, ITS CAPACITY.

5.4.5 <u>ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTINUING ELIGIBILITY FOR TITLE IV-E</u> FUNDING AND REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL FOSTER CASES.

- THE COURT MUST HOLD A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING WITHIN 14 MONTHS OF PLACEMENT;
- THE AGENCY AND/OR COURT MUST HOLD HEARINGS AND REVIEWS, AS APPROPRIATE, EVERY SIX MONTHS;
- THE AGENCY MUST DETERMINE WHETHER TO RECOMMEND TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS AT THE TIME OF THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING AND, IF THAT IS THE RECOMMENDATION, SEEK COURT APPROVAL FOR TERMINATION AT THAT HEARING BY SUBMITTING A SERVICE PLAN CHANGING THE GOAL TO ADOPTION. THE AGENCY MAY ALSO SUBMIT THE PETITION FOR TERMINATION AT THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. IF THE PETITION FOR TERMINATION IS NOT SUBMITTED THEN, THE AGENCY MUST PETITION AS SOON AFTER AS POSSIBLE (WITHIN 30 DAYS).
- ANNUALLY, THE COURT MUST DETERMINE AT EACH COURT HEARING THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO REUNITE; OR IF THE GOAL IS OTHER THAN RETURN HOME, TO FINALIZE A PERMANENT PLACEMENT FOR THE CHILD.

FAILURE TO MEET THE ABOVE REQUIREMENTS WILL MAKE A CHILD INELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E PAYMENTS FROM THE DATE THE REQUIREMENT IS DUE UNTIL THE REQUIRED ACTION OCCURS; I.E, THE COURT HOLDS A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING; THE COURT OR AGENCY HOLDS A REVIEW; THE AGENCY MAKES A DETERMINATION WHETHER TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS AND FILES A PETITION, IF APPROPRIATE; AND THE COURT DETERMINES REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO REUNITE OR FINALIZE A PERMANENT PLACEMENT.

5.4.6 MAINTENANCE PAYMENTS MADE FROM STATE POOL FUNDS

This is a source of funding, using federal, state and local money under the Comprehensive Services Act for At-Risk Youth and Families.

- 5.4.6.1 Costs of maintenance are paid from this source for all children who are not eligible for Title IV-E.
- 5.4.6.2 Local Community Planning and Management Teams will determine the referral and payment authorization procedures.
- 5.4.6.3 THESE FUNDS CAN ONLY BE USED FOR PLACEMENT IN AN APPROVED OR LICENSED FACILITY OR FOSTER HOME.
- A case on referral for screening for eligibility for Title IV-E is coded to and paid from the CSA State Pool funding source until the child is found to be eligible for Title IV-E maintenance payments. Maintenance payments are made from State Pool Funds only until the date of entitlement for Title IV-E. State Pool Funds expended for maintenance during the referral process may be reimbursed by Title IV-E funds for maintenance, except for any period where the provider was not fully approved.

5.5 Referral For Determination Of Medicaid (Title XIX) Eligibility

Funding for medical services in this program is from state and federal funds provided through the State Department of Medical Assistance Services (DMAS). Determination of eligibility is the responsibility of eligibility staff in the local department of social services. Service workers are responsible for submitting the Title IV-E/Medicaid Eligibility Form to the eligibility worker within 10 days of date of placement, available at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi.. The Title IV-E/Medicaid Eligibility Form is the only form needed to apply for Medicaid for all children in foster care. No eligibility forms are required.

5.5.1 For children in non-custodial foster care, the parents or guardian must sign and file the application. The parent or guardian cannot authorize the service worker to sign the application.

Consult the Medicaid Manual, Volume XIII, Part III, Chapter A, for additional information.

5.5.2 <u>INFORMING MEDICAID OF CHANGES</u>

Eligibility for Medicaid is redetermined annually. However, the service worker shall provide the Medicaid eligibility worker with any new information that might affect Medicaid eligibility within 10 days from the date of the change.

Changes that might affect eligibility include: changes in income or resources (wages, inheritances, savings, etc.); return of a child to his home on a permanent basis; a trial home visit in excess of three months; termination of custody by the court or placement by the agency or parent; or release of the local social services agency of responsibility for aftercare supervision.

SECTION/PAGE 5-10

5.6 Referral For Collection Of Child Support

THE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES IS CHARGED WITH COLLECTING SUPPORT FOR DEPENDENT CHILDREN (AS DEFINED IN §63.2-1903, CODE OF VIRGINIA) IN ACCORDANCE WITH STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS AND POLICIES AND PROCEDURES OF THE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES' DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT (DCSE). THE COURT MUST ADDRESS PARENTAL SUPPORT AT THE TIME A CHILD IS PLACED IN FOSTER CARE OR REFER THE CASE TO THE DIVISION OF SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT (DCSE), (§63.2-909). THE AGENCY MUST ADDRESS SUPPORT IN AGREEMENTS SIGNED WITH PARENT(S) TO PLACE A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE, (§63.2-910).

THE LOCAL AGENCY IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REPORTING TO THE DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT (DCSE) ALL INFORMATION NECESSARY TO AID IN SECURING SUPPORT ON BEHALF OF CHILDREN.

5.6.1 FUNDAMENTAL INFORMATION ABOUT SUPPORT

- BOTH PARENTS SHOULD BE PURSUED FOR SUPPORT.
- DCSE WILL COLLECT FUNDS FROM ABSENT PARENTS THAT MAY BE USED TOWARD THE REIMBURSEMENT OF FOSTER CARE EXPENDITURES.
- THE STATE WILL RECEIVE THE STATE'S SHARE OF FUNDS COLLECTED BY DCSE FOR TITLE IV-E CHILDREN. THE STATE WILL FORWARD THE FEDERAL SHARE TO THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT. SUPPORT COLLECTED IN EXCESS OF THE TITLE IV-E MAINTENANCE AMOUNT WILL BE FORWARDED TO THE LOCAL AGENCY. FUNDS COLLECTED FOR NON-TITLE IV-E CHILDREN WILL BE FORWARDED TO THE LOCAL AGENCY. SUPPORT IS PLACED IN SPECIAL WELFARE ACCOUNTS TO BE USED FOR REIMBURSEMENT OF FOSTER CARE EXPENSES FOR THE CHILD (e.g., maintenance, medical care not covered by Medicaid, and services). If the child who has been discharged from foster care still has an open special welfare account, the money should be placed in that account and subsequently disbursed to the child's parent(s), relative caretaker or the child if the child is over 18 and has no other legal guardian. If the child has no open special welfare account, the local department should place the money in an account under the direction of the local department and from which the monies can be disbursed to the child's parent(s), relative caretaker, or the child if the child is over 18 and has no other legal guardian. These child support funds are not to be returned to DCSE.
- IF THE AGENCY CANNOT LOCATE THE CHILD'S PARENT(S), RELATIVE CARETAKER, OR THE CHILD IF THE CHILD IS OVER 18, FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR (§55-210.9), AND AFTER PERFORMING DUE DILIGENCE, i.e. attempting contact with the rightful owner at their last known address, and performing any other efforts which would constitute an exhaustive search, these funds are to be remitted to the Virginia Department of Treasury, Division of

SECTION/PAGE 5-11

Unclaimed Property. (§ 55-210.12) Agencies are required to remit such funds that were due and payable by June 30th of any given year to the Department of Treasury, Division of Unclaimed Property by November 1st of that same year. Forms and instructions needed to remit this property may be obtained from the Treasury website at www.trs.state.va.us. Questions about, or problems in the use of these forms should be directed to the Report Remit Supervisor at the Virginia Department of Treasury, 804-225-2463.

- IF THE PARENT PROVIDES A FINANCIAL STATEMENT INDICATING HIS/HER ABILITY TO PAY, CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINES WILL BE USED TO DETERMINE THE SUPPORT AMOUNT.
- CURRENT SUPPORT PAYMENTS WILL BE ASSESSED FROM THE DATE OF CUSTODY OR WHEN THE PARENT(S) SIGNS AN AGREEMENT TO PLACE A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE.
- DCSE WILL NOT COLLECT SUPPORT PAYMENTS FROM ABSENT PARENTS AFTER PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED OR A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT HAS BEEN EXECUTED AND APPROVED BY THE COURT, UNLESS THE PARENTS HAVE ACCRUED ARREARS. THE SERVICE WORKER MUST NOTIFY THE ELIGIBILITY WORKER IN WRITING WHEN TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS OCCURS.
- Support payments will not affect foster care payments made to foster parents.

5.6.2 COURT ORDERED CHILD SUPPORT

- THE PETITION REQUESTING CUSTODY OR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT MUST ALSO REQUEST THAT THE ISSUE OF CHILD SUPPORT BE ADDRESSED AT THE INITIAL HEARING.
- THE COURT MUST ADDRESS CHILD SUPPORT WHENEVER A CHILD IS PLACED IN FOSTER CARE. (§63.2-909) The court may determine the amount of support at the initial hearing, schedule another hearing to determine support when DCSE staff can be present, or refer the case to the Division of Child Support Enforcement (DCSE) to determine the support amount.
- The local agency and district DCSE office will determine how DCSE staff will be informed of support hearings pertaining to children placed in foster care. The service worker is not responsible for determining the child support amount.
- If the service worker believes that the collection of support will interfere with the goal of returning the child home, the worker should inform the court at the hearing where child support is addressed of those specific concerns. Refer to Section 5.6.6.
- If the court orders support, the worker must complete the Interim Application for Child Support Enforcement Services and submit it to the district DCSE office within five days of the hearing. The worker must still provide the Absent Parent

SECTION/PAGE 5-12

Deprivation/Paternity Information Forms to the eligibility worker as part of the Title IV-E referral process. If the worker is able to complete the full Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Forms and submit it to the district DCSE office within five days, the Interim Application for Child Support Enforcement does not have to be submitted to DCSE. A copy of the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Forms submitted to DCSE should be provided to the eligibility worker at the time of the Title IV-E screening (see Section 5.6.5).

5.6.3 SECURING SUPPORT FOR CHILDREN (RESPONSIBILITY OF SERVICE WORKER)

The service worker is responsible for identifying the absent parent(s) and completing the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form to provide information to DCSE staff regarding the absent parent(s) for whom paternity will be established and from whom support will be pursued. One form must be completed on each parent regardless of whether they are living together or apart. The information on the form should be accurate and up-to-date. The Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Forms must either be submitted to DCSE within five days of the court hearing ordering support or to the eligibility worker at the time of the Title IV-E screening, along with a copy of the court order addressing custody or placement and support or the non-custodial agreement.

- When children are placed in foster care through non-custodial agreements, the service worker is responsible for referring the case to DCSE at the time of the Title IV-E referral.
- The service worker shall keep a copy of all support information and forms in the foster care record.
- AS SOON AS THERE ARE CHANGES IN THE STATUS OF THE FOSTER CARE CASE OR IN THE SITUATION OF THE ABSENT PARENTS. THE SERVICE WORKER MUST NOTIFY THE ELIGIBILITY WORKER IN WRITING. Refer to Section 10.2.2: Notice of Changes Affecting Child Support.

IDENTIFYING THE ABSENT PARENT(S) 5.6.4

FOR THE PURPOSE OF FOSTER CARE, "ABSENT PARENT" IS ANY PERSON OR PERSONS WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE NOT BEEN TERMINATED WHO IS REQUIRED UNDER LAW TO SUPPORT THE CHILD IN CUSTODY OF OR PLACED WITH A LOCAL AGENCY OR PUBLIC AGENCY DESIGNATED BY THE CPMT.

THE "ABSENT PARENT(S)" MAY BE THE BIRTH PARENT(S) INCLUDING THE PUTATIVE FATHER OR THE LEGAL PARENT(S). A PRIOR CUSTODIAN IS NOT REQUIRED UNDER LAW TO SUPPORT A DEPENDENT CHILD.

The Federal Parent Locator Service (FPLS) may be used for location-only information when the service worker is attempting to locate an absent parent and the case has not been referred for full DCSE services due to a good cause claim. The FPLS is accessed by completing the Virginia Department of Social Services Division April 2004

SECTION/PAGE 5-13

of Child Support Enforcement "Application for Location Information" form, available on the VDSS Intranet at

http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi. Workers should mail the completed form to the address on the form. DCSE will send a written response to the worker in approximately ten days. FPLS information should be filed in the child's case record and all FPLS information obtained is to be kept confidential and not shared with other providers or individuals.

5.6.5 COMPLETING THE ABSENT PARENT DEPRIVATION/PATERNITY INFORMATION **FORM**

Information on the birth or legal parent(s) is needed on the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form in order to pursue support; including

- Names and addresses:
- Birth dates:
- Social Security numbers:
- Name and address of employers; and
- Names of parents and the relatives of the responsible person(s).

TITLE IV-E CHILDREN ARE MANDATED TO RECEIVE FULL DCSE SERVICES UPON REFERRAL. THE SERVICE WORKER MUST REQUEST FULL DCSE SERVICES FOR NON-TITLE IV-E CHILDREN unless good cause is claimed. The service worker must check statement (A) requesting all services offered by DCSE on the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form, Section II: Child Support Enforcement Services for Medicaid Recipients.

5.6.6 CLAIMING GOOD CAUSE

IN CASES WHERE THE FOSTER CARE PLAN HAS THE GOAL OF RETURNING THE CHILD TO THE PARENT(S) AND COLLECTION OF SUPPORT WILL INTERFERE WITH ACHIEVING THAT GOAL. THE SERVICE WORKER MAY CLAIM GOOD CAUSE FOR THE PARENT OR PARENTS TO WHOM THE CHILD IS TO RETURN. Claiming good cause will result in the case not being pursued by DCSE for collection of support.

A GOOD CAUSE CLAIM SHOULD ONLY BE MADE WHEN THE SUPPORT COLLECTION WILL INTERFERE WITH THE ACHIEVEMENT OF THE PLAN OF REUNITING THE PARENT(S) AND CHILD, RESULTING IN EMOTIONAL HARM TO THE CHILD. For example, a good cause claim may be made when the parent(s) situation results in the parent(s) possessing such limited financial resources that support collection would interfere with the parent(s) ability to meet conditions set forth in the foster care service plan or by the court and delay or prevent the child's return home. Homelessness, living in substandard housing, participation in full time mental health or substance abuse treatment programs, or serious illness are situations that could result in a good cause claim.

SECTION/PAGE 5-14

A GOOD CAUSE CLAIM IS NOT MADE FOR THE PARENT TO WHOM THE CHILD WILL NOT BE RETURNED.

GOOD CAUSE IS CLAIMED WHEN A PARENT SIGNS A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE PURPOSES OF ADOPTION OR PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED.

The service worker has the following responsibilities:

- If the service worker believes that the collection of support will interfere with the goal of returning the child home, the worker should inform the court at the hearing where child support is addressed of those specific concerns. The court will determine the support amount.
- When completing the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form, if good cause is claimed, the worker indicates the reason for claiming good cause.
- If, after the court has ordered support or DCSE has determined a support amount, the support collection interferes with the goal of return home, the worker may stop the support collection by claiming good cause. The worker completes the Good Cause Determination Form (032-03-035) for each parent for whom good cause is claimed. The form is submitted to the eligibility worker who is responsible for forwarding it to DCSE. DCSE will stop pursuing support once good cause is claimed. For those cases where support is court ordered, DCSE regulations allow the local agency to claim good cause without obtaining court permission. The local agency should consult with its court to determine whether the court wants to approve changes in court ordered support or be notified when the agency claims good cause.
- If the court has determined at the initial hearing that support collection will interfere with goal of return home and has ordered that the parent(s) pay no support, the agency must petition the court to order support when the parent(s)' situation improves and the collection of support no longer interferes with the goal of return home.
- Once good cause is claimed, at each eligibility redetermination, the service worker is to notify the eligibility worker in writing whether good cause continues to exist.

5.6.7 RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ELIGIBILITY WORKER

The Title IV-E eligibility worker is responsible for ensuring that information provided by the service worker is provided to DCSE for the Title IV-E eligible child. The Medicaid worker is responsible for forwarding the Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form to DCSE for non-Title IV-E children.

SECTION/PAGE 5-15

The eligibility worker is responsible for notifying DCSE at each eligibility redetermination on the status of the good cause claim. The service worker is responsible for evaluating whether good cause exists.

5.6.8 RESPONSIBILITY OF THE DIVISION OF CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT

The Division of Child Support Enforcement will ensure the establishment of paternity where necessary, the establishment of a child support order where none exists, the establishment and enforcement of health care coverage and the collection of support for children upon receiving the referral where good cause does not exist.

5.7 Arranging Visitation With Parent(s) Or Prior Custodians

Efforts to maintain contact with the parent(s) or prior custodians in accordance with the goal for the child must begin as soon as the child is placed in foster care.

- 5.7.1 THE CHILD AND PARENT(S) HAVE THE RIGHT TO VISIT AND MAINTAIN COMMUNICATION WITH EACH OTHER, UNLESS VISITATION HAS BEEN RESTRICTED BY THE COURT. (§63.2-912)
- 5.7.2 At the time a child is placed in foster care, the service worker must encourage visitation and arrange with the parent(s) a mutually agreeable plan for visitation and other communication such as phone calls, email and letters.
- 5.7.3 The worker is responsible for facilitating visits.
- 5.7.4 The frequency and location of the visits should be documented on the Foster Care Service Plan.
- 5.7.5 Parent(s) must not be prevented from visiting with their children because they do not have transportation. The agency must assist the parent(s), when necessary, to assure that visitation occurs.
- 5.7.6 If the agency wishes to terminate visitation, it must obtain court approval. If the plan for visitation changes, parent(s) must be notified in writing.
- 5.7.7 When a child is separated from siblings, the agency must arrange for regular visitation among the siblings.
- 5.7.8 The requirement to maintain contact between the parent and child also applies to parent(s) who are incarcerated or in a treatment program unless the court has restricted contact.

5.8 Referral For Services

The service worker is responsible for referring the child and family to appropriate services identified through the assessment and service planning processes.

April 2004

5.9 SSI And Other Potential Benefits

The service worker is responsible for determining all financial resources available to the child, including SSI, governmental benefits, and private resources.

The service worker is also responsible for assessing whether a child in care may be eligible for other benefits and referring that child for eligibility determinations. These referrals should be made within the first six months of placement.

5.9.1 ELIGIBILITY FOR SUPPLEMENTAL SECURITY INCOME (SSI) FOR CHILDREN

An application for SSI should be considered if a child shows significant deficits for his or her age in cognition, communication, motor skills, social skills, personal/behavioral development or concentration in combination with any of the following:

- Requires special education placement;
- Experiences chronic illness or repeated surgeries;
- Had low birth weight;
- Functions three years or more below grade level;
- Misses excessive school due to medical, psychological, or behavioral problems;
- Has one of the following diagnoses: organic mental disorders; schizophrenia, delusional, schizoaffective, or other psychotic disorders; mood disorders; mental retardation; anxiety disorders; somatoform, eating, and tic disorders; personality disorders; psychoactive substance dependence disorders; autistic disorder; attention deficit disorder; or developmental and emotional disorder of newborn and younger infants;
- Receives multi-disciplinary therapies; i.e. speech, physical, occupational, psychological, etc;
- Requires highly supportive or structured settings to function;
- Requires adaptations (wheel chairs) to function;
- Has a condition, which will be fatal within a year;
- Has complete or marked inability to stand or walk;
- Has impairment causing complete inability to function independently away from home within age appropriate norms;

SECTION/PAGE 5-17

- Has had more than five foster home placements due to difficulty of care;
- Has major congenital organ dysfunction that may lead to death if not surgically corrected by age 1;
- Has marked restriction in performing activities of daily living; or
- Has a history of placement in specialized or therapeutic foster care, teaching home programs, group homes, or residential treatment facilities due to medical, psychological, or behavioral reasons or need for intensive support services.

5.9.2 REPRESENTATIVE PAYEE

For children in foster care, the local agency will generally serve as the representative payee for a child receiving Social Security benefits. As representative payee, the agency will receive the benefits and is responsible for ensuring that benefits are used to meet the needs of the child and accounting for the use of funds. When a child leaves foster care, the agency must inform the local Social Security Administration (SSA) office immediately of the change in placement. It must return accumulated SSI funds to SSA. SSA will disperse the accumulated SSI funds to the next payee for the child. All accumulated funds belong to the child.

5.9.2.1 <u>Lump Sum Retroactive SSI Payments</u>

When a child receives SSI, local agencies must establish a Special Welfare Account for the child (See Section 5.10). When a child receives the initial retroactive lump sum SSI payment and the retroactive amount covers more than six months, local agencies must establish a separate "dedicated account" for the initial lump sum payment and keep these funds separate from the child's other resources. A payment of retroactive benefits for six months or less can be released to the individual/representative payee. These funds do not count as income to the individual/child.

THE AGENCY SHALL NOT SPEND THE LUMP SUM FUNDS TO REIMBURSE MAINTENANCE COSTS. (ONLY ON-GOING MONTHLY SSI PAYMENTS MAY BE USED TO REIMBURSE MAINTENANCE COSTS). LUMP SUM FUNDS OF GREATER THAN SIX MONTHS MAY BE USED ONLY FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT, EDUCATION OR JOB SKILLS TRAINING IF RELATED TO THE CHILD'S IMPAIRMENT, PERSONAL NEEDS ASSISTANCE, SPECIAL EQUIPMENT, HOUSING MODIFICATION, THERAPY OR REHABILITATION, OR OTHER ITEMS OR SERVICES AS SSA DEEMS APPROPRIATE. Other items have been defined as the following:

- Specialized day care or special education not included in the child's special education program;
- Food and veterinary care for a guide dog;

- Repair of walls, carpets, or furnishings that have been damaged by a child with a mental impairment;
- Counseling, crisis intervention, respite, or therapeutic foster care services not covered by health insurance or public service program;
- Repayment of a past debt, including reimbursement of a creditor payee, if the items or services provided were related to the child's impairment and benefited the child;
- Personal aids to facilitate living and learning, such as assistive technology for communication and mobility, modified instructional materials, and specialized transportation;
- Special food for children with dietary needs or diapers for older, incontinent children;
- Increased electrical bills resulting from needed mechanical devices that must constantly run.

Impact on eligibility for other resources: Accumulated retroactive funds in dedicated accounts do not affect SSI eligibility. Agencies have six months to spend down funds in dedicated accounts before these funds impact Medicaid eligibility. The child's Title IV-E eligibility may be affected if the child is not SSI eligible when the retroactive benefits are received.

Local agencies should obtain approval from their local SSA office regarding reimbursement of expenditures from the retroactive lump sum payment if they have questions about the appropriateness of a reimbursement. Local agencies are held liable for these funds if they are not used in accordance with the Social Security Administrations guidelines. Local agencies will be required to reimburse the recipient for the misuse of any funds identified by the SSA.

5.9.3 SSI AND MAINTENANCE (TITLE IV-E AND STATE POOL FUNDS)

- 5.9.3.1 It is the responsibility of the service worker to inform the SSA at the time of application for benefits or when the agency becomes the representative payee for a child who is already receiving SSI whether the child is receiving Title IV-E benefits. SSI benefits will be reduced dollar for dollar by the amount of Title IV-E funds the child receives. A Title IV-E child does not have to receive a Title IV-E payment. The agency may choose to receive only the SSI payment when a child is in a regular foster home. SSI benefits are not reduced for children whose maintenance is paid from State Pool Funds.
- 5.9.3.2 If a Title IV-E child is in a residential facility where the monthly maintenance rate is greater than the SSI payment, the child should

receive Title IV-E benefits to pay for maintenance. If a child returns to a regular foster home, the worker should inform the SSA of the change in placement and maintenance rate so that SSI benefits can be reinstated.

5.9.3.3 When a child enters a Medicaid funded residential facility, the local agency is to notify the Social Security Administration of the placement in order to ensure that the child's SSI benefits are reduced to appropriate levels (currently, \$30 per month).

5.9.4 OTHER GOVERNMENTAL BENEFITS TO WHICH A CHILD MAY BE ENTITLED

- 5.9.4.1 The child may be entitled to certain benefits because of the death or disability of a parent. These include Veterans Administration (VA), Social Security (SSA), Railroad Retirement, etc.
- 5.9.4.2 The child may be eligible for medical services under the CHAMPUS/TRICARE program, if a parent is in military service.

5.10 Setting Up Special Welfare Accounts

All benefits, including SSI, SSA, and VA for the child are to be placed in a special welfare account in the name of the child to be used for expenses on behalf of the child. For information on setting up a special welfare account and refunding expenses, refer to Section 12.3 of this Chapter.

5.11 Obtaining A Medical Exam

The service worker is responsible for ensuring that the child receives a medical examination, using the Early Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment (EPSDT) program, no later than 60 days after placement. EPSDT is a resource which makes health screening and treatment services available to Medicaid eligible children.

5.12 School Enrollment Requirements

5.12.1 WITHIN 72 HOURS OF PLACING A SCHOOL AGE CHILD IN FOSTER CARE OR AFTER MOVING A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE TO A DIFFERENT PLACEMENT, THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT SHALL, IN WRITING, (I) NOTIFY THE PRINCIPAL OF THE SCHOOL IN WHICH THE CHILD IS TO BE ENROLLED AND THE SUPERINTENDENT OF THE RELEVANT SCHOOL DIVISION OF SUCH A PLACEMENT, AND (II) INFORM THE PRINCIPAL OF THE STATUS OF THE PARENTAL RIGHTS OF THAT CHILD'S PARENTS. IF THE DOCUMENTS REQUIRED BY THE TO ENROLL THE CHILD ARE NOT IMMEDIATELY AVAILABLE UPON TAKING THE CHILD INTO CUSTODY, THE PLACING SOCIAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT SHALL OBTAIN AND PRODUCE OR OTHERWISE ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH SUCH REQUIREMENTS WITHIN

THIRTY (30) DAYS AFTER ENROLLMENT. (§63.2-900 (D)).

(Forms to notify school districts of a child's placement in foster care or change in foster care placement are available in Appendix A at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi)

5.12.2 THE SENDING SCHOOL DIVISION AND THE RECEIVING SCHOOL DIVISION MAY AGREE TO ALLOW THE CHILD TO CONTINUE TO ATTEND THE SCHOOL IN WHICH HE WAS ENROLLED PRIOR TO THE MOST RECENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT, UPON THE AGREEMENT OF THE PLACING SOCIAL SERVICES AGENCY THAT SUCH ATTENDANCE IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD. (§22.1-3.4 (B)).

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues on Compliance with 5.12.1 and 5.12.2 above).

The service worker, in cooperation with the parent(s) and resource, foster care and/or preadoptive providers, should also:

- 5.12.3 Refer the child for an evaluation for special education if he or she is suspected of having a need for special education services;
- 5.12.4 Monitor the child's educational progress through conferences with school personnel, attendance at IEP meetings; contact with foster care providers, and parents.

5.13 Setting Up The Payment Process For Providers

The service worker is responsible for ensuring that the foster parents and other service providers receive appropriate and timely payments according to local policies and procedures.

5.14 Collecting Information That The Child Will Keep

As soon as a child comes into care, the worker and the foster care providers should begin collecting information, pictures, mementos, and other items that may be used for a life book or given to the child when the child leaves care. (See 9.5.4 and 9.16 for information about life books).

6. Initial Assessment

6.1 Initial Assessment Requirements

6.1.1 The initial assessment is the basis for selecting a specific foster care permanency goal and successful service planning. Completion of the Permanency Planning Indicator during the initial assessment may also support the selection of a concurrent goal.

6.1.2 THE INITIAL ASSESSMENT SHALL:

- Be entered into OASIS within 30 days of acceptance of the child for placement and completed within 60 days of placement.
- Be entered into OASIS, using the OASIS assessment screen and completing all the required elements of the appropriate OASIS screens. The OASIS Assessment screens may be printed, signed and placed in the paper case record, if desired.
- Be based on the Child Protective Services Safety Assessment completed when the child was removed from the home. The completed Child Protective Services Safety Assessment must be copied and pasted into the appropriate element of the OASIS assessment screen. Safety factors taken into consideration include those that led to the transfer of the child's custody or placement to the department such as:
 - Factors influencing the child's vulnerability (conditions that result in the child's inability to protect self)

Whether the caretaker has:

- Caused serious harm to the child or threatened to cause harm;
- Previously maltreated a child in his/her care;
- has Failed to protect or provide the necessary supervision to protect the child from serious harm;
- Explained any injury to the child in such a way that is questionable or inconsistent with the nature of the injury;
- Refused access to the child by agency workers;
- Failed to meet the child's need for food, clothing shelter and/or medical and/or mental health care; and
- The child's physical living conditions are hazardous and threatening to the child.

Additional caretaker factors include:

- Caretakers substance use is seriously affecting their ability to supervise, protect or care for the child;
- Caretakers behavior toward the child is violent of out-of-control;
- The caretaker describes or acts towards the child in predominately negative terms;
- Child sexual abuse is suspected;
- Caretakers physical, intellectual or mental health seriously affects their ability to supervise, protect or care for the child.
- The child is fearful of the caretaker;

In addition to basing the initial assessment on the Child Protective Services Safety Assessment, all children entering care and the family members to whom they are to be reunited must be assessed based on consideration of at least the following factors:

- Background history about the child including but not limited to:
 - Emotional/behavioral functioning;
 - Family relationships;
 - Medical/physical functioning and needs;
 - Child development milestones;
 - Cultural/Community Identity;
 - Substance abuse;
 - Educational achievement and difficulties;
 - Peer/adult social relationships including the child's relationship to previous caretakers or other adults with whom the child might live;
 - Delinquent/CHINS behavior
- Background history about the child's family and/or previous custodians including but not limited to:
 - Substance use or abuse
 - Emotional stability;
 - Sexual abuse;
 - Resource management and basic needs;
 - Parenting skills;
 - Household relationships/domestic violence;

SECTION/PAGE 6-3

- Caretaker abuse or neglect history;
- Social or community support system;
- Physical health; and
- Communication skills.
- 6.1.3 WHEN A CHILD IS REFERRED TO THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM (FAPT), THE FAPT ASSESSMENT MAY SUBSTITUTE FOR ALL OF THE INITIAL FOSTER CARE ASSESSMENT AS LONG AS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE INITIAL FOSTER CARE ASSESSMENT ARE MET.

IN ADDITION, CHILDREN RECEIVING CSA FUNDED MAINTENANCE AND SERVICES MUST UNDERGO A UNIFORM ASSESSMENT TO ASSESS BEHAVIOR AND FUNCTIONING. For children, ages 7 and above, the child and adolescent functional assessment scale (CAFAS) will be used. For children, ages 4-7, the preschool and early childhood assessment (PECFAS) will be used to assess the child. The requirement for a uniform assessment does not apply to Title IV-E children who do not receive services from CSA.

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issueson Initial Assessment)

7. Choosing The Goal

7.1 Introduction

FOSTER CARE GOALS HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED BY STATE LAW IN ORDER TO ASSURE PERMANENT PLANNING FOR THE CHILD. THE SERVICE PLAN FOR THE CHILD MUST SPECIFY ONE OF THE PERMANENCY GOALS LISTED BELOW. The service plan should also specify the concurrent goal in those cases where an alternative permanency goal has been established. IT MUST ALSO DOCUMENT SPECIFIC REASONS WHY A PARTICULAR GOAL HAS BEEN SELECTED AND THE REASON FOR SELECTION OF A LOWER RANKED GOAL OVER ONE OF HIGHER RANK. The Foster Care goals are listed in a hierarchy indicating the order in which the goal must be addressed by the agency. Refer to Section 9: Service Delivery for more information about each goal.

GOALS, IN ORDER OF PRIORITY, ARE:

7.2 Return To Parent(s) Or Prior Guardian

The intent of this goal is to return the child to the parents or prior custodian when it can be safely accomplished. Reunification is the planned process of safely reconnecting children, their families, and their communities. This is the highest priority goal and, in most cases, is the initial goal chosen when a child comes into foster care. Refer to Section 9.3 for information related to service delivery for this goal.

7.3 Placement With Relatives

The intent of this goal is to place the child with relatives and transfer custody to relatives. Refer to Section 9.4 for additional information on this goal.

7.4 Adoption

The intent of this goal is to achieve a permanent home for a child through adoption. THE ADOPTION AND SAFE FAMILIES ACT OF 1997 REQUIRES THAT AN AGENCY PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A CHILD IF THE CHILD HAS BEEN IN CARE FOR ANY 15 OF THE LAST 22 CONSECUTIVE MONTHS. AN AGENCY WOULD NOT PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IF:

- IT CAN DOCUMENT AND PROVIDE COMPELLING REASONS WHY IT IS NOT IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS,
- THE CHILD RESIDES WITH RELATIVES, OR
- SERVICES HAVE NOT BEEN PROVIDED TO THE PARENT TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME SAFELY.

April 2004

Refer to Section 9.5 for information on providing services to achieve the goal of adoption. An agency may choose adoption if one or more of the following conditions can be documented:

- 7.4.1 THE CHILD HAS BEEN ABANDONED BY THE PARENT(S) AND THEIR IDENTITY CANNOT BE DETERMINED. AFTER THREE MONTHS NO ONE HAS COME FORWARD TO IDENTIFY OR CLAIM A RELATIONSHIP TO THE CHILD. (§16.1-283 D)
- 7.4.2 THE PARENT(S) HAVE DISAPPEARED OR FAILED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUOUS CONTACT WITH THE CHILD AFTER FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT FOR A PERIOD OF SIX MONTHS OR MORE. (§16.1-283 C.1)
- 7.4.3 LIVING WITH THE PARENT(S) WOULD BE DANGEROUS AND DETRIMENTAL TO THE CHILD'S HEALTH AND WELFARE. (§16.2-283 B)
- 7.4.4 THE PARENT(S) IS UNABLE TO CORRECT THE CONDITIONS THAT LED TO THE CHILD'S FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT. (§16.1-283C)
- 7.4.5 CONDITIONS IN THE FAMILY SITUATION, INCLUDING PARENT/CHILD OR SIBLING RELATIONSHIPS, ARE HARMFUL TO THE CHILD. (§16.1-283B).
- 7.4.6 THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF SERIOUS CRIMES
 - THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF MURDER OR VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER, OR A FELONY ATTEMPT, CONSPIRACY, OR SOLICITATION TO COMMIT SUCH AN OFFENSE AGAINST (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT, (ii) A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE, OR (iii) THE OTHER PARENT OF THE CHILD.
 - THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF FELONY ASSAULT OR BODILY WOUNDING RESULTING IN SERIOUS BODILY INJURY OR FELONY SEXUAL ASSAULT OF (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR (ii) A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE. SERIOUS BODILY INJURY MEANS BODILY INJURY RESULTING IN SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF DEATH, EXTREME PHYSICAL PAIN, PROTRACTED OR OBVIOUS DISFIGUREMENT, OR PROTRACTED LOSS OR IMPAIRMENT OF A BODILY MEMBER, ORGAN, OR FACULTY.
 - A PARENT HAS SUBJECTED ANY CHILD TO AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES. AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES MEANS TORTURE, CHRONIC OR SEVERE ABUSE, OR CHRONIC OR SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE WHERE THE VICTIM IS (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME SUCH

SECTION/PAGE 7-3

CONDUCT OCCURRED AND INCLUDES THE FAILURE TO PROTECT A CHILD FROM SUCH CONDUCT WHERE THAT CONDUCT OR FAILURE TO PROTECT (i) DEMONSTRATES DEPRAVED INDIFFERENCE TO HUMAN LIFE, OR (ii) RESULTED IN THE DEATH OF A CHILD OR SERIOUS BODILY INJURY TO CA CHILD. CHRONIC ABUSE OR CHRONIC SEXUAL ABUSE MEANS RECURRING ACTS OF PHYSICAL ABUSE THAT PLACE THE CHILD'S HEALTH, SAFETY OR WELL-BEING AT RISK. SEVER ABUSE AND SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE MEANS MAY INCLUDE AN ACT OR OMISSION THAT OCCURRED ONLY ONCE BUT MEETS THE DEFINITION OF "AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES." (§16.1-281 (B) AND § 16.1-283 (E)).

- THE LOCAL BOARD HAVING CUSTODY IS NOT REQUIRED TO MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO REUNITE THE CHILD WITH A PARENT CONVICTED OF A SERIOUS CRIME AGAINST SUCH CHILD OR ANY OTHER CHILD WHO RESIDED WITH SUCH PARENT AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFENSE. (§16.1-283 E)
- 7.4.7 A SIBLING OF THE CHILD HAS HAD PARENTAL RIGHTS INVOLUNTARILY TERMINATED. (§16.1-283 E AND F)
- 7.4.8 THE PARENT(S) HAS REQUESTED TO BE RELIEVED PERMANENTLY OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CHILD. (§16.1-278.3)
- 7.4.9 ONE OR BOTH OF THE PARENTS HAVE DIED AND THE SURVIVING PARENT OR FAMILY MEMBERS ARE UNABLE OR UNWILLING TO TAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CHILD. (§16.1-283 C)

7.5 Permanent Foster Care

SELECTION OF THIS GOAL AND PLACEMENT OF A CHILD IN A PERMANENT FOSTER HOME OCCURS ONLY AFTER A DETERMINATION THAT THE RETURN HOME, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, OR ADOPTION OF THE CHILD ARE NOT REASONABLE ALTERNATIVES. This goal is selected when the child has developed a relationship with a foster family. The intent is for the child to remain with the foster family permanently. Refer to Section 9.6 for more information about permanent foster care.

7.5.1 LEGAL AUTHORITY FOR PERMANENT FOSTER CARE (§63.2-908)

- 7.5.1.1 THE AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT TO APPROVE A PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT FOR A CHILD. A residential facility is not a permanent foster care placement.
- 7.5.1.2 THE COURT MUST DETERMINE THAT DILIGENT EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME, PLACE THE CHILD WITH RELATIVES, OR PLACE THE CHILD FOR ADOPTION PRIOR TO APPROVING THE PERMANENT FOSTER HOME PLACEMENT.

7.5.1.3 THE COURT ORDER APPROVING THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT MUST SPECIFY (i) THE NATURE AND FREQUENCY OF VISITATION BY THE BIRTH PARENTS, AND (ii) ANY MODIFICATIONS IN RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE FOSTER PARENTS THAT DIFFER FROM THOSE PROVIDED IN §63.2-908.

7.5.2 OTHER CONSIDERATIONS IN CHOOSING THIS GOAL

- 7.5.2.1 Permanent foster parents have legal authority to consent to surgery, military service, marriage, application for driver's license and college admission, and other activities requiring parental consent and should be willing to assume most of these responsibilities.
- 7.5.2.2 A positive relationship should exist between the child and the foster parents.
- 7.5.2.3 The child should be age 12 or over. In some situations, permanent foster care may be appropriate for younger children; for example, when a younger child is to be placed with older siblings. In these situations, the foster care and adoption family specialist must be contacted before the petition is filed for the permanency planning hearing. The purpose of this contact is to ensure that the higher-ranking goals have been considered appropriately.

7.5.3 THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT (§§63.2-908, 63.2-902)

THE AGENCY MUST ENTER INTO A WRITTEN AGREEMENT WITH THE PERMANENT FOSTER PARENTS WHICH DESCRIBES THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE FOSTER PARENTS, AGENCY, AND PARENT(S). The agreement should include any requirements on the court order. (See Appendix A for a sample Permanent Foster Care Agreement Form)

7.6 Independent Living

THIS GOAL MAY BE CHOSEN FOR YOUTH, AGES 16 AND OVER, WHO ARE PREPARING FOR INDEPENDENT LIVING WHEN ALL OTHER GOALS HAVE BEEN CONSIDERED AND ARE NOT FEASIBLE. THIS GOAL DOES NOT REQUIRE THAT THE YOUTH BE LIVING IN AN INDEPENDENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT. Refer To Section 9.7 for additional information.

7.7 Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement

THE SELECTION OF "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" (§16.1-282.1. A) IS APPROPRIATE ONLY IF THE CHILD HAS A SEVERE AND CHRONIC EMOTIONAL, PHYSICAL OR NEUROLOGICAL DISABLING CONDITION FOR WHICH THE

SECTION/PAGE 7-5

CHILD REQUIRES LONG-TERM RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT OF SIX MONTHS OR LONGER.

- 7.7.1 THE AGENCY PROPOSING THIS GOAL FOR A CHILD MUST DOCUMENT THE FOLLOWING IN THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN:
 - THE AGENCY HAS THOROUGHLY INVESTIGATED THE FEASIBILITY OF THE FOLLOWING PLACEMENT ALTERNATIVES: RETURN TO PARENT(S) OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, ADOPTION, PERMANENT FOSTER CARE, AND INDEPENDENT LIVING, AND DETERMINED WHY NONE OF THESE ALTERNATIVES ARE CURRENTLY IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST;
 - COMPELLING REASON(S) WHY NONE OF THE ALTERNATIVE GOALS ARE ACHIEVABLE FOR THIS CHILD AT THIS TIME:
 - IDENTITY OF A LONG-TERM RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT SERVICE PROVIDER:
 - NATURE OF THE CHILD'S DISABILITY;
 - ANTICIPATED LENGTH OF TIME REQUIRED FOR THE CHILD'S TREATMENT; AND
 - STATUS OF THE CHILD'S ELIGIBILITY FOR ADMISSION AND LONG-TERM TREATMENT.
- 7.7.2 IF THE COURT APPROVES THE GOAL OF "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" FOR A CHILD, THE COURT MUST SCHEDULE A FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING TO BE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING TO REVIEW THE CHILD'S PLACEMENT IN "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT." AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING, IF THE GOAL OF "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" REMAINS THE PERMANENT PLAN, THE COURT MUST INDICATE ON THE ORDER THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO PLACE THE CHILD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PERMANENCY PLAN. THE COURT MUST ALSO CONTINUE TO MONITOR THE CHILD'S STATUS WITH A HEARING EVERY SIX MONTHS AND EACH ORDER MUST INDICATE REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PERMANENCY PLAN.
- 7.7.3 THE AGENCY MUST FILE A PETITION FOR A FOSTER CARE REVIEW NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED SIX-MONTH HEARING.
- 7.7.4 IF AT ANY TIME DURING THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD, THE TREATMENT PROVIDER DETERMINES THE CHILD NO LONGER NEEDS LONG-TERM RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT, THE AGENCY SHALL BEGIN TO PLAN FOR POST DISCHARGE SERVICES AND, WITHIN 30 DAYS, PETITION THE

SECTION/PAGE 7-6

COURT FOR A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. THE COURT SHALL SCHEDULE THE HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN 30 DAYS OF NOTIFICATION.

7.8 Continued Foster Care

CONTINUED FOSTER CARE CANNOT BE ACHIEVED AND SHOULD ONLY BE CHOSEN WHEN ALL OTHERS GOALS HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED.

8. Preparing The Initial Service Plan

8.1 Introduction

THERE MUST BE A SERVICE PLAN FOR EVERY CHILD IN FOSTER CARE. FEDERAL AND STATE LAW REQUIRE THAT THE SAFETY OF THE CHILD MUST BE THE PARAMOUNT CONCERN IN SERVICE PLANNING (§16.1-281).

The service plan must directly address any needs or conditions that led to the placement of the child as defined in the Child Protective Services Safety

Assessment and the Foster Care Initial Assessment as needing remediation. ANY APPROPRIATE SERVICE MUST BE MADE AVAILABLE TO A FOSTER CHILD WHEN THAT SERVICE IS DOCUMENTED AS NEEDED IN THE CHILD'S FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN OR INDIVIDUAL FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP).

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issueson Service Planning Practices)

8.2 Foster Care Service Plan Format Requirements

AGENCIES MAY USE THE FOLLOWING:

- THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN OR
- THE INDIVIDUAL FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP) DEVELOPED BY THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM OR A SERVICE PLAN DEVELOPED BY THE AGENCY IF THE PLAN MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN LISTED IN THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS AND IS ACCEPTED BY THE COURT AS A SUBSTITUTE. (§16.1-281)

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues on Integrating the Service Planning Process and the FAPT).

8.3 What Must Be Included In Preparing The Service Plan

THE CODE OF VIRGINIA (§16.1-281) AND FEDERAL LAW DESCRIBE THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN.

8.3.1. THE PLAN MUST INCLUDE:

- The reasons the child came into care and why placement is needed
- THE SERVICES OFFERED TO PREVENT REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM THE HOME OF THE BIRTH PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS

- THE CHILD'S SITUATION AT THE TIME OF PLACEMENT IN RELATION TO THE CHILD'S FAMILY. INFORMATION REGARDING THE CHILD'S HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL STATUS MUST ALSO BE INCLUDED
- THE NATURE OF THE PLACEMENT OR PLACEMENTS THAT WILL BE PROVIDED THE CHILD. THIS MUST INCLUDE A DESCRIPTION OF THE TYPE OF HOME OR FACILITY IN WHICH THE CHILD IS TO BE PLACED
- A DISCUSSION OF THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE PLACEMENT, WHICH SHOULD INCLUDE THE EFFORTS MADE TO PLACE THE CHILD IN THE LEAST RESTRICTIVE (MOST FAMILY LIKE) SETTING AVAILABLE THAT CAN MEET ANY SPECIAL NEEDS OF THE CHILD, AND THE EFFORTS MADE TO PLACE THE CHILD IN CLOSE PROXIMITY TO THE PARENT'S HOME
- A DISCUSSION OF HOW ANY COURT ORDERS IN RESPECT TO THIS CHILD WERE CARRIED OUT
- THE NEEDS, WHICH MUST BE MET TO ACHIEVE THE GOAL FOR THE CHILD. NEEDS SHOULD BE IDENTIFIED FOR THE CHILD, THE BIRTH PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS, AND FOSTER PARENTS. THE NEEDS SHOULD INCLUDE A PLAN FOR VISITATION BETWEEN THE CHILD AND PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS. If siblings are separated, a plan for visitation with siblings should also be included
- The permanency goal selected for the child and family including the rationale as to why this goal is selected.
- If a concurrent permanency plan is developed, the service plan must identify the alternate goal selected for the child and the needs and services related to achieving the alternate goal.
- THE PROGRAM, CARE, SERVICES AND SUPPORT WHICH WILL BE OFFERED AND A DISCUSSION OF HOW THESE SERVICES WILL MEET THE SPECIFIC NEEDS OF THE CHILD, PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIAN, AND FOSTER PARENTS. FOR TEENS 16 OR OVER, THE SPECIFIC INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES TO MEET THE NEEDS OF THE YOUTH TO ASSIST THE YOUTH, FAMILY AND FOSTER FAMILY OR CARE PROVIDER IN THE YOUTH'S TRANSITION TO INDEPENDENCE
- TARGET DATES FOR COMPLETION OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED TO THE CHILD, THE PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS, AND FOSTER PARENTS
- RESPONSIBILITIES, INCLUDING CONDUCT AND SUPPORT, WHICH WILL BE SOUGHT FROM THE PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS, WHICH SHOULD INCLUDE TARGET DATES FOR COMPLETION

- RESPONSIBILITIES ASSIGNED TO THE CHILD, THE FOSTER PARENTS, ADOPTIVE PARENTS, OR OTHER FOSTER CARE PROVIDER WITH TARGET DATES FOR COMPLETION
- THE PROJECTED DATE FOR GOAL ACHIEVEMENT
- AN INDICATION OF WHETHER THE CHILD, PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS, OR FOSTER PARENTS WERE INVOLVED IN THE PLANNING PROCESS. IF THE PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS WERE NOT INVOLVED, THE REASON MUST BE EXPLAINED

The items above are covered in Part A of the Foster Care Service Plan

- 8.3.2 A SEPARATE SECTION OF THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN OR THE IFSP MUST BE COMPLETED WHEN THE CHILD CANNOT BE RETURNED TO PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS. THIS IS PART B OF THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN FORM. DEPENDING ON THE GOAL FOR THE CHILD, IT MUST:
 - INCLUDE A FULL DESCRIPTION OF THE REASONS THE CHILD CANNOT RETURN HOME
 - DESCRIBE THE OPPORTUNITIES FOR PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES
 WITH THE INTENT TO TRANSFER CUSTODY TO THEM
 - INCLUDE A PLAN TO LEAD TO TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS WITHIN THE TIME FRAMES SPECIFIED IN THE ADOPTIVE PLACEMENT PLAN (See Section 10.1.6)
 - SPECIFY WHY EACH GOAL OF A HIGHER PRIORITY CANNOT BE ACHIEVED
 - EXPLAIN WHY where appropriate, PERMANENT FOSTER CARE, INDEPENDENT LIVING, OR CONTINUED FOSTER CARE IS THE PLAN FOR THE CHILD

8.4 Who Must Be Involved In Preparing The Service Plan

8.4.1 THE WORKER responsible for case management (local department or other public or private agency) MUST INVOLVE THE PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS, FOSTER PARENTS, resource parents, PRE-ADOPTIVE PARENTS, RESIDENTIAL CARE PROVIDERS, AND, AS APPROPRIATE, THE CHILD IN SERVICE PLANNING. Local agencies must attempt to involve all relevant agencies and individuals in service planning. PARENTAL CONSULTATION IN DEVELOPING THE SERVICE PLAN IS ESSENTIAL EXCEPT WHEN PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED OR THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES OR OTHER DESIGNATED AGENCY HAS MADE DILIGENT EFFORTS

SECTION/PAGE 8-3

TO LOCATE THE PARENT(S) AND SUCH PARENT(S) CANNOT BE LOCATED (§16.1-281).

8.4.2 THE SERVICE WORKER MAY REFER A FOSTER CARE CASE FOR STAFFING AND DEVELOPMENT OF AN INDIVIDUAL FAMILY SERVICE PLAN (IFSP) TO THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM (FAPT). The service worker's decision to refer a case to the FAPT will be guided by local Community Policy and Management Team (CPMT) procedures for referral.

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues on Who Should be Involved in Preparing the Service Plan)

8.5 Completion Of The Foster Care Service Plan

A FULL SERVICE PLAN ON ALL CHILDREN MUST BE COMPLETED AND FILED IN THE CASE RECORD WITHIN:

- SIXTY DAYS OF CUSTODY/PLACEMENT (WHICHEVER COMES FIRST) OF A CHILD THROUGH COURT COMMITMENT, NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT, OR A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT; OR
- WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SIGNING OF A TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT FOR A PLACEMENT OF 90 DAYS OR MORE; THE PLAN IS THE BASIS FOR REQUESTING COURT APPROVAL OF THE ENTRUSTMENT.

8.6 Submission Of The Foster Care Service Plan To The Court

THE COMPLETED SERVICE PLAN MUST BE SUBMITTED TO COURT WITHIN 60 DAYS OF CUSTODY OR PLACEMENT, UNLESS THE CHILD:

- IS LIVING IN HIS/HER OWN HOME
- IS IN AN ADOPTIVE PLACEMENT
- HAS HAD A PLAN PREVIOUSLY FILED WITH THE COURT AS A RESULT OF THE AGENCY'S SEEKING COURT APPROVAL OF A TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT OR NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT

THE JUDGE MAY EXTEND THE TIME FOR SUBMITTING THE SERVICE PLAN TO THE COURT AN ADDITIONAL 60 DAYS. THE AGENCY MUST STILL HAVE A COMPLETED SERVICE PLAN IN THE RECORD WITHIN THE FIRST 60 DAYS OF PLACEMENT TO COMPLY WITH FEDERAL REGULATIONS.

FOR A TEMPORARY ENTRUSTMENT OF 90 DAYS OR MORE, THE PLAN MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE COURT WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SIGNING THE AGREEMENT.

SECTION/PAGE 8-2

8.7 Distribution Of The Foster Care Services Plan

THE WORKER SUBMITS THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TRANSMITTAL WITH THE NAMES AND ADDRESSES OF THE FOLLOWING INDIVIDUALS ALONG WITH A COPY OF THE ENTIRE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TO THE COURT. THE COURT IS RESPONSIBLE FOR FORWARDING THE SERVICE PLAN TO:

- THE ATTORNEY (GAL) FOR THE CHILD;
- THE CHILD'S PARENT(S) OR ANY OTHER PERSON STANDING IN LOCO PARENTIS, UNLESS THEY HAVE BEEN PERMANENTLY RELIEVED OF THE CARE AND CUSTODY OF THE CHILD; AND
- OTHER PERSONS THE COURT DEEMS APPROPRIATE, SUCH AS THE COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL ADVOCATE.
- A COPY OF THE PLAN, EXCLUDING THE SECTION DESCRIBING WHY A CHILD CANNOT BE RETURNED HOME (PART B OF THE FOSTER-CARE SERVICE PLAN) IS SENT BY THE COURT TO THE FOSTER PARENTS, resource parents or preadoptive parents. WHEN A PLACEMENT CHANGES, THE AGENCY MUST SEND A COPY TO THE NEW PLACEMENT PROVIDER.

8.8 Dispositional Hearing To Review The Foster Care Service Plan

THE COURT WILL REVIEW AND APPROVE THE PLAN AT THE DISPOSITIONAL HEARING OCCURRING WITHIN 75 DAYS OF THE PRELIMINARY REMOVAL HEARING OR A HEARING THAT BROUGHT THE CHILD INTO CARE, OR WHEN THERE HAS NOT BEEN A PREVIOUS COURT HEARING, WITHIN 75 DAYS OF WHEN THE CHILD ENTERED FOSTER CARE. IF A CHILD IS ENTRUSTED, THE COURT WILL APPROVE THE PLAN AT THE HEARING WHEN THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT IS APPROVED.

THE COURT AND AGENCY MUST MAKE REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ENSURE THAT PARENTS RECEIVE NOTICE OF THE DISPOSITIONAL HEARING. AT THIS HEARING, THE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING DATE IS SET TO OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS AND APPROPRIATE INDIVIDUALS ARE PROVIDED NOTICE TO ATTEND THE NEXT HEARING.

Because of the requirement to hold a permanency planning hearing 14 months after placement, parents should be informed no later than the dispositional hearing of:

- what the agency expects of them;
- the importance of assisting in developing and cooperating with the service plan requirements;
- the existence of a concurrent permanency plan goal and rationale for such a goal should the child not be able to return home; and
- the length of time they have to make changes necessary for the return of their children.

8.9 When A New Service Plan Is Required

AFTER THE INITIAL SERVICE PLAN IS DEVELOPED, A NEW PLAN IS REQUIRED:

- AS A RESULT OF A CHANGE IN GOAL (THIS PLAN MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE COURT)
- FOR THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING
- WHEN A CHILD RETURNS FROM A COMMITMENT TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE.

8.10 When A Child Returns To Foster Care

WHEN A CHILD'S LEGAL CUSTODY HAS BEEN RETURNED FROM THE AGENCY TO HIS/HER PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS AND THE CHILD RETURNS TO AGENCY CUSTODY AND INTO A FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT, IT WILL BE CONSIDERED A NEW PLACEMENT. A NEW SERVICE PLAN MUST BE COMPLETED AND ALL REQUIREMENTS FOR FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLANS MET.

WHEN A CHILD RETURNS HOME TO HIS/HER PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS, REMAINS IN THE CUSTODY OF THE LOCAL AGENCY AND THEN RETURNS TO FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT, IT WILL BE CONSIDERED A NEW PLACEMENT IF THE CHILD WAS HOME FOR SIX MONTHS OR LONGER. A NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN MUST BE COMPLETED AND SCHEDULING COURT HEARING AND ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWS START FROM THE NEW PLACEMENT DATE.

IF THE CHILD WAS HOME FOR LESS THAN 6 MONTHS AND RETURNS TO AN OUT-OF-HOME PLACEMENT, HE/SHE WILL BE CONSIDERED TO BE IN THE ORIGINAL PLACEMENT AND ALL SCHEDULING FOR SERVICE PLAN, ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS AND HEARINGS WILL CONTINUE FROM THE ORIGINAL PLACEMENT DATE.

9. Service Delivery

9.1 Principles and Philosophy of Permanency Planning

Permanency planning is an on-going process that first and foremost must consider the best interests of the child. The permanency planning process begins when the first contact is made with the child and family. The planning process continues until the health and safety of the child is assured and services are terminated.

Core concepts and principles upon which permanency planning depends include:

- Health and safety are paramount,
- Best interest of the child controls case decisions,
- Reasonable efforts by the local department of social services,
- Reasonable progress by the parents,
- The child's sense of time, and
- Concurrent planning.

9.1.1 HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety are the paramount factors that must be considered when determining the best interests of the child. In exploring permanent options for children, consideration must be given to the physical safety and emotional security of the environment. Safety relates to the conditions of the home environment, or the behavior or physical/mental condition of a family member. Health relates to the family's capacity to meet both the physical and mental health needs of their child.

9.1.2 BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD

"Best interest of the child," is defined as the physical safety, including food, shelter, health and clothing, and emotional well-being of the child. The child is removed from his/her home pursuant to a judicial determination that continuation in the home would be contrary to the welfare of the child, or it is in the child's best interest to be placed in foster care or there is no less drastic alternative than removal of the child from his or her home. A child's need for a permanent home addresses the need for stability and continuity of relationships with parents, siblings and other relatives.

9.1.3 REASONABLE EFFORTS BY THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES

Federal and state law requires that children not linger in foster care. Reasonable efforts must be made to reunite the child with his or her family. Reunification services must be provided to the child and parents early in the placement process to ensure that they have adequate time to remedy the conditions that brought the child into care. Social workers will document that reasonable efforts are made to prevent or eliminate the need to remove a child from the child's home and to reunify the family when temporary placement of the child occurs.

The intent of providing services to children in foster care and their families is to achieve the permanency goal established for the child by implementing the child's

service plan. A wide range of services can be provided to a child and family to achieve the permanency goal for a child. These include, but are not limited to, day care, respite, counseling, parent training, recreation, transportation, and intensive home based services. Each permanency goal selected affects the type and delivery of services provided.

9.1.4 REASONABLE PROGRESS BY THE PARENTS

The paramount concern in reunification is ensuring the safety and well being of the child. Social workers will continually evaluate the family to determine that any concerns related to the child's safety or health are met and are documented in the record. Periodically evaluating the family's progress toward reunification will assist in determining if the appropriate services are being provided and if the family is following the service plan.

Indicators of progress toward reunification include:

- The risk that necessitated the intervention is no longer present and there is no other risk that jeopardizes the safety of the child.
- The parents have cooperated and successfully completed the service plan objectives.
- Visitation and trial home visits are successful and have increased in length and frequency.
- The child has dealt with his or her feelings about the separation through counseling or some other effective means.
- The child has been prepared for the reunion and has received support in acknowledging his or her feelings about returning home and separating from the current placement.
- The court has given approval of the goal of return of the child to the parents' or prior custodians' home.

9.1.5 CHILD'S SENSE OF TIME

Children have a different sense of time than adults. What seems like a short family disruption or a brief separation to adults may be a very painful and intolerable long period for children. In general, younger children are less able to tolerate periods of separation than older children.

Social workers must act promptly, using the best information available when dealing with children and their families. Aggressive planning and intervention with a prompt emphasis on decision making, followed by the actions to carry out those decisions, will help to secure a permanent home for children.

9.1.6 CONCURRENT PLANNING

Concurrent planning is a practice that facilitates permanency planning for children in foster care. The definition of concurrent planning is "a structured approach to case management which requires working towards family reunification while, at the same

time, developing and implementing an alternative permanency plan." Concurrent planning is used with cases that have a permanency goal of return home but have a poor prognosis for return home. In most cases, the concurrent plan will be placement with a relative or adoption. The Adoption and Safe Families Act (ASFA) allows agencies to engage in concurrent planning while making reasonable efforts to reunite the family. Concurrent planning replaces sequential planning in foster care by simultaneously exploring possible relative options and/or identifying a resource family that can serve as both a foster and adoptive family to a child.

The desired outcomes from concurrent planning are decreased length of stay in foster care, fewer placement moves, and fewer children in long-term foster care. These outcomes assist in maintaining continuity of care for children and, thus, healthier attachments to caretakers.

There are six processes that support concurrent planning.

- Determine paternity early. Not only do birth parents have a right to receive reunification services, limited resources should not be wasted on providing services to someone who is not the birth parent.
- Early permanency assessment. To determine whether a concurrent plan is needed, the social worker completes a Permanency Planning Indicator (see Appendix) with the parents during the initial weeks of foster care. Documentation from other individuals and sources may be included. The Permanency Planning Indicator identifies family strengths that indicate strong potential for reunification as well as indicators of weak potential for reunification. The assessment is done once, as early in the process as possible, to determine if the child needs placement into a resource family. The permanency assessment is not a risk or safety assessment. Reassessment of safety factors related to the child's return to the parents consists of review of the parent's visitation with the child and progress with the case plan.

There are five weakness indicators on the assessment that always warrant a concurrent plan. They are extreme conditions making family reunification a very low probability: catastrophic prior abuse, dangerous life style, significant CPS history, and inherent deficits from severe mental illness. The overall strengths and weaknesses identified in the assessment are weighed to determine whether a concurrent plan is needed for a child.

The potential for reunification assessed through completion of the Permanency Planning Indicator helps to determine the appropriate placement for the child and helps the social worker to be realistic with the parents. A poor indicator of reunification does not justify reducing the level of reunification services provided to the family.

 Early relative search and permanency assessment. A thorough identification of extended family members is completed with the parents and other sources.
 Relatives are assessed for their appropriateness to provide a temporary and a permanent home to the child. Interstate referrals are initiated as quickly as possible.

- Service plan content. The service plan indicates what the permanency planning goal is for the child and the concurrent goal. The plan delineates the objectives and services for both plans. Strength and weakness information from the Permanency Planning Indicator is incorporated into the plan.
- Match resource families with children from families with a poor prognosis for reunification. Families may be dually approved as foster and adoptive families. When a child with a poor prognosis for return home does not have a potential placement with a relative as the concurrent plan, the child is placed with a family who can be available to meet the child's needs for as long as necessary either through adoption or foster care. There may be a planned placement from a temporary foster home into a resource family.
- Explore voluntary relinquishment. Parents need to understand all of their options in regard to permanency planning, including making a voluntary plan for adoption of their child, if they are going to be truly empowered to choose the future that is best for their child and themselves. This option is discussed when the choices of permanency planning goals are introduced to the parents.

There are three practices essential for concurrent planning.

- <u>Establish and maintain firm timelines</u>. The case plan details the timelines for service delivery and achievement of outcomes. Parents need to be regularly reminded of the timelines.
- Use full disclosure. Parents have a right to know what foster care and permanency planning is about as they ultimately decide the outcome of the case through their behaviors and choices. Full disclosure is the respectful discussion with parents so that they will have clear information about the following:
 - Reunification standards and expectations;
 - Parent's rights and responsibilities;
 - Importance of staying connected to their child;
 - How foster care, by its very nature, has the potential to cause harm to their child:
 - How a permanent placement is so vital to their child's well being;
 - Factors in the family's history that may make reunification more difficult; and
 - Consequences of not reunifying and the steps the social worker is taking to provide an alternative permanency safety net for the child through identification and implementation of a concurrent plan.
- Explore permanency with caregivers: In addition to full disclosure to parents about concurrent planning, equal candor must be used with all other parties involved, including the child, the court, the foster parents, CASA, attorneys, and relatives.

ASFA also requires that once an agency files a petition to terminate parental rights (TPR), it begin the process of recruiting, identifying, and approving an adoptive home for the child. Agency social workers do not need to wait until the TPR Order is final to begin adoption recruitment. The intent of concurrent planning is to reduce delays in finding permanent homes for children. Social workers no longer have to eliminate one goal before working toward another for a child. (See Section 9.5.1 and Volume VII, Section III, Chapter C, section 3.D.2.3)

The goal of permanency planning is to assure that children are in safe, permanent homes as quickly as is consistent with their health, safety and well being while recognizing the urgency caused by the child's sense of time.

9.2 The Team Approach

VIRGINIA CODE (§16.1-281 and 282) REQUIRES THE INVOLVEMENT OF THE COURT, AGENCY STAFF, BIRTH PARENTS, FOSTER PARENTS AND PROVIDERS, FOSTER CHILDREN AGE 12 AND OLDER, ADOPTIVE PARENTS WHEN THE GOAL IS ADOPTION, SERVICE PROVIDERS, AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES IN THE SERVICE PLANNING AND REVIEW PROCESS. The members of the "permanency team" are to work collaboratively to ensure that children in foster care achieve stable and permanent homes. The permanency team identifies the appropriate services, encourages the on-going involvement of the parent(s) or prior custodians, and provides a unified approach to service delivery. The team also monitors progress towards the goal.

The Family Assessment and Planning Team (FAPT) exemplifies the use of a permanency team to plan services for children and families with diverse needs served by multiple agencies. The needs of children and their families can be best met through an open and cooperative team approach where information is shared, team members consulted, and services coordinated among team members. The needs of children and their families can be best met through an open and cooperative team approach where information is shared, team members consulted, and services coordinated among team members.

9.2.1 TEAM MEMBERS RESPONSIBILITIES

The needs of children and their families can be best met through an open and cooperative team approach where information is shared, team members consulted, and services coordinated among team members. Team members have specific and identifiable responsibilities and rights.

THE PARENT(s) will be engaged in planning for themselves and for their child. An outcome based service plan that addresses the health, safety, and well being of the child is developed in writing, and all parties to the planned return are provided with a copy, including the court. The parent(s) will follow the service plan and demonstrate an increased capacity to parent. The parent(s) will assure the child's health and safety are protected as evidenced by successful parent-child visits and appropriate involvement in parental responsibilities. The parent(s) will demonstrate an ability to

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-6

care for himself or herself and a child financially. The parent(s) will accept responsibility for preventing maltreatment of the child and develop an ongoing support network to ensure continued safety of the child at home.

THE SOCIAL WORKER has a corresponding responsibility to make reasonable efforts to reunify the family. This means the social worker must ensure the family is provided appropriate and timely services to facilitate changes necessary for reunification. The social workers role can change depending on the needs of the case. Activities that support this role include:

- Sharing information with permanency team members (the families and members of the helping team);
- Assuring full disclosure of expectations;
- Assessing if services are timely and appropriate;
- Assuring and documenting reasonable efforts on the part of the social worker:
- Assuring and documenting reasonable progress on the part of the parents;
- Addressing how to remove barriers to services, including parental ambivalence;
- Assessing whether the parent is making the necessary behavioral changes in the conditions which led to the removal of the child;
- Engaging the parent in planning for themselves and for their child;
- Reviewing the current service plan and developing a new service plan if needed;
- Reviewing clinical material from service providers;
- Assessing whether placement is the only safe intervention at this time or whether, with assistance, the child can be safe and healthy while in the care of the family;
- Determining if continued clinical intervention and protective reunification services will help the family safely reunite earlier. If so, determine the preferred safety supports and reunification services needed. Determine if the family has an adequate safety network;
- Facilitating and planning sibling visits to maintain a family bond; and
- Discussing any changes in visitation and documenting the visitation plan in a letter to the parent. (This is a critical decision and will be discussed first with the supervisor and the decision documented in the case record).

The social worker will need to help the caregiver address the conflicting feelings that are inevitable in foster care where the caregiver must be attached enough to a child to care for and nurture him/her, yet be able to "let go" when the time comes for reunification.

THE FOSTER PARENT/relative caregiver should, whenever possible, participate in reunification activities such as supervised parent-child visits and possibly coaching and mentoring birth parents. Foster parents can assist with planning for the child's needs, behaviors and adjustment to placement. Foster parents need to support the goal of reunification with specific outcomes.

The best outcomes for children are facilitated by foster parents who are willing to supplement the capabilities of birth parents – not supplant them – and who nurture the child and assist in meeting the child's developmental needs. To achieve permanency for children, foster parents participate in effective alliances with the

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-7

agency, birth parents and others in providing services for reunification, concurrent planning and guiding older youth toward independence. Reunifying children with their families requires foster parents to perform two extremely important functions:

- commitment to a child's care and well-being while in their home and at the same time
- investment in the child's successful reunification.

Foster parents are asked to prepare for reunification while simultaneously planning with the social worker for alternative permanency options. Although this is an extremely difficult task, it is necessary for the child's stability in the foster home as well as the achievement of timely permanency.

SERVICE PROVIDERS are those professionals and individuals who provide services and support to the parent and child. Such professionals may include social service providers, school or day care personnel, health care providers, and any called for in the service plan. The services and supports provided to the family are identified in the outcome based foster care service plan. Service providers should contact the social worker at least monthly with information and observations about the intervention progress and the ongoing safety and well being of the child.

OLDER CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE (generally, age 12 or over) are identified as members of the permanency team in the Code of Virginia. The social worker should seek input from foster care children of all ages who are capable of communicating their wishes and consider these during assessments, service planning and re-assessments for the review process.

9.3 Return To Parent(s) Or Prior Custodians

In most situations, the initial permanent case goal is to reunite the child with his family or prior custodians. Any and all necessary services are provided to implement this goal until:

- The family has stabilized, the child is returned home, and the court case is dismissed; or
- The worker has documented that the conditions that necessitated the original removal have not been corrected although sufficient time and services have been provided and another goal is approved.

Exceptions to return/reunification as the initial permanent plan case goal, are:

- Voluntary relinquishment by all parents (natural, legal, putative, and alleged);
- A petition for termination of parental rights has been filed on the parent(s); or
- The court has found that reasonable efforts to reunite are not required.

9.3.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

In order to prepare the child and family for return/reunification, the following steps should be taken:

- Provide services as expeditiously as possible to the child and family (make reasonable efforts) to alleviate the conditions that brought the child into foster care and return the child to the parent(s) or prior custodians as soon as possible.
- These services may include, but are not limited to, direct services to the child, visits by the social worker to monitor the child's adjustment, and referral for services such as counseling, day care, medical care, etc. Services to the family may include direct supportive contact by the worker as well as referral for counseling, etc.
- Monitor implementation of the service plan, modifying or changing the plan as needed. Discuss the service plan with the family regularly to ensure understanding, cooperation and progress. The discussion will also provide an ongoing and continuing evaluation of the child and family's needs and capabilities throughout service provision. When risk to the child is relevant, assess risk on an on-going basis.
- Encourage and maintain the regular involvement of family members to facilitate
 the return home through visitation with the child and shared decision making on
 behalf of the child. The worker must arrange visitation with the family unless
 disallowed by court order.
- Provide services to meet the needs of the child in an approved setting until the child is returned home.
- When a child is returned home and custody remains with the local department of social services, provide appropriate support services for the child and family to prevent the child from returning to care.

9.3.2 ASSESSING FOR RETURN HOME

When deciding whether to recommend to a court that children in placement should be returned home to their parents' care, the local department of social services will consider whether the parents have made reasonable progress in correcting the conditions that led to the removal of their children from the home. The parents have achieved the outcomes of the foster care service plan in such a manner that the conditions determined essential to the child's safety and well-being have been met. Whether the family is ready to be reunified is a topic that will be addressed directly and openly at every foster care team staffing.

A foster care team staffing is intended to engage the family in the process of making a plan for the safe return home of the child. Social workers will make substantial efforts when planning a staffing to be flexible and attempt as much as possible to

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-9

schedule meetings at a time and place where parents can attend. Consideration will be given to the parents' work schedules, transportation issues, availability of interpreter, the parents' primary language of communication, need for child care, and any other barriers that might prevent parents from participating.

9.3.3 CRITERIA FOR RETURN HOME

The assessment process is a crucial element in permanency planning and the casework process. It is critical to evaluate whether families have substantially fulfilled their obligations as agreed to in the service plan and corrected the conditions that led to the placement of their children to enable the children to be returned home. Reasonable progress by the parents is demonstrated by a change in the behaviors or circumstances that threatened the child's best interests, safety or well-being.

The assessment inquiry will include but not be limited to the following:

- Has the problem that led to the maltreatment been sufficiently addressed and resolved, and how has it been addressed and resolved?
- Have the parents adequately completed the tasks required of them in their service plan? Were the tasks relevant to the family's problems and risk/safety concerns?
- What are the characteristics, needs and behaviors of the children returning home? Have the children dealt with feelings about separation and if so, how? Have the parents been educated about these? Have they demonstrated they will be able to manage them?
- What special services will the children need when they return home and are the parents aware of the special services? Have the parents been given an opportunity to demonstrate behavior consistent with providing and participating in the special services while the children were in care?
- Do the parents have their own support system? Will they realistically use this support system, especially in times of crisis? Who does the support system consist of? Are those individuals aware of their role in providing a safety net for the family?
- In what manner will the children be returned home? If the family has more than one child in care, will they all be returned home at the same time or will they be returned in gradual stages to allow for an adjustment period of both children and parents?
- What does the family need before the children return home and does the family need assistance obtaining these services?
- Has visitation between the child and family been successful and increased in length and frequency, with reduced supervision?
- Have arrangements been made to see that the child and family are adequately monitored and supported, both during and after the child is returned home, until the court returns legal custody to the family or prior custodian and the case is closed?
- Is there a service plan that addresses the health, safety, and well-being of the child and all parties to the planned return have a copy, including the court? Does the service plan consider the family's ability to financially support all family

- members, including the child? Does the worker need to request the court order continued supervision once the child is returned home?
- HAVE CRIMINAL BACKGROUND AND CENTRAL REGISTRY CHECKS BEEN COMPLETED ON ALL ADULTS IN THE HOME PRIOR TO BEGINNING VISITATION AND IF NECESSARY, PRIOR TO RETURNING THE CHILD HOME? (See Sections 4.1.5 and 9.3.7.5)

Prior to reunification, a reunification staffing should be held where the parents/caretakers are invited to discuss their perception of their progress, whether they are ready for reunification and any issues or concerns. If the consensus of the reunification staffing is that return home can safely be achieved, a target date will be set. Additional expectations will be discussed and documented such as the child's ongoing health care and educational needs.

9.3.4 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The team ensures the provision of appropriate services, the on-going involvement of the parent(s) or prior custodians, and the unified approach to service delivery as well as monitors progress toward the goal. Because the goal is return home, the parent(s), guardians, or prior custodians should be involved in making decisions regarding the child. The foster parents and providers should encourage the continuing relationship between the child and the parent(s) or guardians.

9.3.5 INDICATORS OF PROGRESS

Reasonable efforts by the agency – agency services:

- What services are included in the case plan?
- How have the services affected the parents' behavior or skills?
- What services are not in place and why not?
- Have social workers been diligent in implementing the case plan?
- What has happened since the case came into the system and the case plan was developed?
- What needs to happen to make return home possible?

Reasonable progress on the part of the parents may include:

- Increased capacity to parent and to assure the child's health and safety as demonstrated by successful parent-child visits, appropriate involvement in more parental responsibilities; e.g. doctor appointments, parent-teacher conferences, group therapy, involvement in recreational activities, better financial management, etc.:
- Demonstrated ability to care for themselves so that they can meet the needs of the child:
- Demonstrated improvement in parental choices, decisions and relationships, which lead to a safer and healthier environment for their children;
- Participation in the recommended services and demonstration of change, such as improved parenting, participation in counseling sessions;

- Acceptance of responsibility for maltreatment of the child and demonstration of empathy for the impact of the effects of the maltreatment on the child.
- Ability to ask for and accept help; and
- Establishment of an ongoing support network consisting of other family members, neighborhood or community, church, etc.

A lack of reasonable progress on the part of the parents to correct conditions that led to the removal of the child and other good reasons to consider alternatives to return home may include:

- An ongoing pattern as a perpetrator or a victim of domestic violence and refusal to participate actively in treatment services or initiation of new relationships in which there is violence.
- Continued residence with someone dangerous to the child and refusal to separate after having been advised of the dangers.
- Failure to remedy, with assistance housing or housekeeping standards that are a threat to health or safety or to seek economic resources when lack of resources is a major barrier.
- Continuing to miss visits with children, to come late for visits, or while visiting appearing uninterested or openly rejecting the child or being abusive or continually upsetting children during visitation by verbal abuse, eliciting guilt, or by making unrealistic promises.
- Restricted ability to parent due to developmental disability, failure to make efforts, or inability to demonstrate the skills necessary to ensure the health and safety of the child.
- A lifestyle centering on drugs/alcohol and an addictive pattern preventing adequate parenting.
- A previous birth to a subsequent substance exposed infant.
- Having other children who have been in foster care for 12 months or more and attempts to reunite have been unsuccessful.
- Continuing to miss appointments, canceling appointments or failure to be involved in treatment.
- Failure to fulfill the tasks outlined in the service plan, cooperate with the provision of the service plan, or meet conditions established by the court.
- Suffering from a mental or emotional illness or mental deficiency of such severity that there is no reasonable expectation that such parent will be able to undertake responsibility for the care needed by the child in accordance with his/her age and stage of development.

9.3.6 SUPERVISORY CONFERENCE

The supervisor determines the frequency of supervisory conferences based on the skill of the social worker and the dynamics of the case. Such conferences will take place at least monthly so that the supervisor is updated regularly on case progress. Overall progress will be formally reviewed quarterly. Supervisory conferences will be noted in OASIS. The purpose of the supervisory conference is to discuss:

- The parent's progress (or lack of progress) on the service plan;
- Case dynamics, any clinical issues, and the child's well-being in placement;
- Updates to the assessment regarding the family and the service plan;

April 2004

SECTION/PAGE 9-12

- The family's potential for reunification; and
- Whether services that have been provided by the agency are appropriate for supporting improvement or progress; and

Critical case-related decisions will be made in consultation with the supervisor and should consider opinions and recommendations from professionals or others involved in the case. Decisions are to be documented in OASIS. Although all decisions affecting children and families are important, the following decisions are identified as the most critical ones affecting children and families:

- Whether to return children to the home of their parents or relative caregiver from a placement away from their parents or relative caregiver;
- When to begin trial visits;
- Whether to decrease or increase the frequency or the duration of parent and/or sibling visits with the child and whether the visits will be supervised;
- Whether to change a child's placement;
- Whether parental rights will be terminated and an alternate permanent home
- If children are prepared for partial or total independence;
- Whether children will be placed part from siblings who are also placed in substitute care: or
- Whether to petition the court to terminate local department custody;

9.3.7 REUNIFICATION SERVICES

When the court approves the goal to return the child home, the foster care service plan will focus on safe reunification. The service plan will:

- Be developed with the participation of the parent, and the child, if appropriate;
- Include concrete and comprehensive services and activities that must be in place immediately prior to and following the actual return home of the child;
- Specifically address problems/needs or barriers to reunification;
- Be clear to the parent what the expected result of the service or activity is: and
- Ensure accountability on the part of the parents, the department and other service providers by documenting the expectations and obligations of each of the parties.

9.3.7.1 Preparing the Parents for Reunification

Workers should make sure parents understand their role in achieving reunification and remind them that their attendance and participation in all staffings and case planning meetings is critical. A family meeting should be held to:

- Evaluate whether the parents are engaged in services and making reasonable progress;
- Evaluate whether the conditions, which led to the child's removal, continue to exist: and

 Allow all participants to engage in service planning by helping to revise the service plan as needed and recommending time frames for achievement of the service plan goals.

Workers should negotiate the date, time, location, and participants of the family meeting with the parents. Parents needs (e.g.; work hours, child care needs, etc.) must be considered. Written or electronic notification of the meeting will be sent to all participants. Social workers will document in OASIS all attempts to include parents in the family meetings.

Participants in family meetings shall include:

- The social worker;
- The custodial parent(s);
- The non-custodial parent (if appropriate);
- The supervisor;
- Extended family members (if appropriate);
- Foster parents;
- Gal and casa;
- Guidance counselors and other service providers; and
- The child.

The participants in the family meeting will attempt to reach decisions and agree on recommendations by consensus. When a consensus cannot be reached, the Department must stand by its recommendations.

9.3.7.2 Preparing the Child for Reunification

Although a great deal of emphasis is placed on activities with the parent when the social worker is preparing to reunify the family, this is an important time for the child. The social worker should spend time with the child to determine his/her position on reunification. If reunification is in the best interest of the child, the social worker will begin to prepare him/her for return home by:

- Informing the child of the targeted date for reunification while being aware of the child's ability to understand what this means;
- Explaining to the child that his/her parents are working to have him/her return by the target date, but that sometimes things happen that may change that date.

All adults involved with the child must begin clear, age-appropriate discussions with the child about the plans for return home and what the child can expect. The discussion should assist the child with identifying those people whom he/she can call for help, with where he/she will be attending school, and other important facts. The child should be given the opportunity to work through feelings of separation from, and loss of, the foster parent/relative caregiver, school and neighborhood friends, teachers, and significant others.

9.3.7.3 Preparing the Caregiver/Foster Parent for Reunification

Social workers should spend some time with the foster parent or relative caregiver to discuss their feelings of separation and loss and help them successfully prepare themselves and the child for reunification. Some caregivers may want to stay in touch with the child after he/she returns home. Contact with the caregiver after return home is a consideration that requires supervisory consultation. Some children may find this confusing while others may benefit from continued contact.

The caregiver should make a list of the child's daily activities and routines and other relevant information for the birth parents to smooth the child's transition home.

9.3.7.4 Foster Care Service Agreements/Foster Care Service Plan

Based on the information gathered during the assessment process, the initial family meeting and through negotiation during the social worker's visits, the social worker and family will develop a plan of intervention based on the family's strengths and needs and that addresses how the children's needs for health and safety will be met.

The foster care service plan, focusing on the goal of return home, will be developed with the parents and should include:

- The child's health, safety, and well-being needs that were identified during the assessment process;
- A description of what actions the family, the social worker, caregiver, and others will take to meet the needs of the child and achieve the goal of return home;
- A description written by the parent with the help of the social worker of how the parent and household members plan to meet the child's' health and safety needs after the child is returned home;
- Completion of criminal background and central registry checks on all adult household members prior to beginning trial placements and prior to actual return home (see Section 4.1.5).
- Identification of those persons the parent can call on for support following the return home of the child;
- Identification of those persons the child can call on (if old enough), if the child needs help;
- Identification of any other supportive services that will be provided after the child is returned home, such as day care services;
- A description of how the child's medical and educational needs will be met after the child is returned home; and
- Identification of additional interventions and services that will be provided to the family, the caregiver, and the child in order to meet the child's needs and achieve permanency.

A copy of the concurrent permanency plan should also be provided to the parent, if one has been developed.

9.3.7.5 Beginning Visits and Trial Placements

Preparations for overnight visits and ultimately return home must consider and include the following social worker activities:

- PRIOR TO ALLOWING OVERNIGHT VISITATION TO OCCUR WITH PARENTS, PREVIOUS CUSTODIANS OR INDIVIDUALS WITH WHOM THE CHILD IS TO BE PLACED; OR PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE CHILD HOME, THE AGENCY MUST CONDUCT A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND SEARCH AND A CHILD ABUSE AND CENTRAL REGISTRY CHECK ON ALL ADULTS RESIDING IN THE HOME IN WHICH A CHILD IS TO VISIT OR BE PLACED (§63.2-901.1). If significant time has passed between the search and the child's actual; return home, a second search is to be conducted closer to the date of return home to ensure the most timely and accurate receipt of information on the adults in the home (See Section 4.1.5 and 9.3.7.5).
- SAFETY: A Safety Assessment must be completed before the return home of the child. Documentation on all assessments must be included in the case record or OASIS including the initial child protective service risk assessment. The initial risk assessment provides a baseline for evaluating progress or lack of progress. The specific risk issues identified in the initial assessment will be reevaluated throughout the case. Documentation regarding these issues will be addressed in the assessment that is completed prior to beginning visits or trial placement.

A new safety assessment must be completed prior to the child returning home based on current home situations. The social worker will, unless otherwise documented, communicate monthly with individuals who provide services and support to the parents and child in order to obtain information and observations about the ongoing safety of the child. Such professionals and individuals may include social service providers, school or day care personnel, health care providers, and any other collateral contacts the social worker deems appropriate. Before beginning visits or conducting a trial placement, the social worker will explain to the parent the need for continued communication with all parties. Contact information will be included in the case record as documentation regarding the continued safety of the child in the home.

EDUCATION: During the trial placement, the social worker will meet with the child's current teacher and obtain a school report. The teacher should be informed that reunification is imminent and be encouraged to report any observations or concerns about the child to the social worker. If the child will be attending a new school after reunification, arrangements will be made for the transfer of education records. The social worker and the parent will meet with the child's new teacher. If the child is pre-school age, the social worker will assist the parent in enrolling the child in a program such as early education or day care.

HEALTH: The social worker will discuss with the parents how the child's health care needs will be met after the child is returned home and identification of a health care provider to serve the child after return home will be discussed. Other resources that the family can use to assist in meeting health care needs such as the Department of Health, FAMIS, or the Department of Medical Assistance will also be discussed. Discussion about health needs and issues will be documented in OASIS and/or the service plan.

9.3.8 CONTACTS FOLLOWING REUNIFICATION

9.3.8.1 Requirements for Contacts/Visits

The social worker will communicate at least monthly with those professionals and individuals who provide services and support to the parent and child in order to obtain information and observations about the ongoing safety of the child. Such professionals may include social service providers, school or day care personnel, health care providers, and any other collateral contacts the social worker deems appropriate.

During all contacts following reunification, the social worker must see the child outside the presence of the parent.

First Month Contact

Following the return home of a child who has been in substitute care: an initial face to face contact with the child and parent must be made via a visit in the home by the assigned social worker within 24 to 72 hours after the child returns home. The timing of the visit will be based upon the safety plan completed when the child is returned home and subsequent risk assessments. Following the initial visit, frequent intervention and contact, as determined by the social worker and supervisor, with the child and parent in their home is required. Unannounced visits should also be considered.

Ongoing Contact

Frequency of contacts subsequent to the first month of reunification must be at least monthly until risk assessments indicate that there are no longer sufficient safety factors present to require monthly contact.

April 2004

SECTION/PAGE 9-17

Assess progress

During the post-reunification period, support of the family must continue if the reunification is to succeed. The social worker's emphasis becomes helping the family assume responsibility for the care of the child. The local agency will provide services for up to six months after return home to monitor the safety of the child, to enhance the family's ability to function in a healthy way, and to provide a smooth transition to reunification. The child's safety and health take precedence over any other variables, such as the need for permanency or the child's sense of time.

Frequently, the child's return home increases the family's stress level by placing additional financial demands on the family while they adjust to being together again. The family membership may have changed since the child's removal and family members may have to renegotiate their new roles in their newly formed family system. Just as parents may express ambivalence about caring for a child while the child is in placement, parental ambivalence may also be demonstrated after the child is home.

Planning for the termination of services is an integral part of all service planning. From the earliest contact, the local department of social services will focus on when services to the children and families will end. Before closing a case, the local department of social services will conduct a review of the child's safety that includes:

- A child safety assessment to include all members of the household and all adults who frequent the home;
- Interviews with relatives, friends, or other persons who provide support network for the family;
- Review all medical, school, clinical, and social service reports;
- Interview and observe the child alone out of the presence of the caregiver;
- Update a final service plan that outlines how the health, safety, and other outside support of the children will be ensured and what aftercare services are needed.
- The filing of a motion for termination of the local department of social service custody.

When a foster care child returns home and custody is transferred back to the parents, the local agency should consider continuing services to stabilize the family and assure a successful, safe return for the child. If the worker believes services are necessary to prevent disruption but the family refuses services, the agency may seek a protective order to enable the agency to provide services.

If reunification fails and the child comes back into foster care placement, the child should be referred to his/her prior foster care/relative home for placement if possible.

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-18

9.3.9 ACHIEVING THE GOAL

The Goal of Reunification is achieved when legal custody is returned to parent(s) or prior custodians, or in a non-custodial foster care placement, when the child is returned to the parent(s) or guardians.

9.4 Placement With Relatives

9.4.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

- Shift of primary focus is from the parent(s) or prior custodians to the relative.
- Help the parent, child and relative adjust to the change in relationships, clarifying and reducing role conflicts through family counseling.
- Assist the relative with finding resources to meet the needs of the child.
- Once the placement is made, link the relative with services or provide direct services to ensure stability in the placement.

9.4.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The relative must be added to the team. Efforts must be made to continue parental involvement with the child to the extent the parent(s) are willing or able. The foster parent or provider can help the child adjust to the change and orient the relative to the child's current needs.

9.4.3 INVESTIGATION OF RELATIVE

THE LOCAL AGENCY MUST COMPLETE AN INVESTIGATION (home study) OF THE RELATIVE. BASED ON THE INVESTIGATION AND A PREPONDERANCE OF EVIDENCE, THE COURT MUST MAKE A FINDING THAT THE RELATIVE IS:

- WILLING AND QUALIFIED TO RECEIVE AND CARE FOR THE CHILD;
- WILLING TO HAVE A POSITIVE AND CONTINUOUS RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CHILD;
- COMMITTED TO PROVIDING A PERMANENT SUITABLE HOME FOR THE CHILD; AND
- WILLING AND ABLE TO PROTECT THE CHILD FROM ABUSE AND NEGLECT. (§16.1.278.2, A1)

9.4.4 ACHIEVING THE GOAL

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-19

The goal of Placement with Relatives is achieved when custody of the child is transferred to a relative. The intent of this goal is to discontinue custody with the

9.5 Adoption

THE ADOPTION AND SAFE FAMILIES ACT OF 1997 REQUIRES THAT AN AGENCY PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A CHILD IF THE CHILD HAS BEEN IN CARE FOR ANY 15 OF THE LAST 22 CONSECUTIVE MONTHS. AN AGENCY WOULD NOT PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS UNDER THE FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES:

- THE AGENCY DOCUMENTS AND PROVIDES COMPELLING REASONS WHY IT IS NOT IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS:
- THE CHILD RESIDES WITH RELATIVES; OR
- SERVICES HAVE NOT BEEN PROVIDED TO THE PARENT TO RETURN THE CHILD. HOME SAFELY.

9.5.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

If the goal of adoption is being selected, the two higher-ranking goals must have been explored fully and ruled out consistent with the child's best interest. However, when a concurrent plan of reunification and adoption exists, the focus of services is to work toward reunification while at the same time, working toward achieving the goal of adoption if the child cannot return home. Services must be provided to the child, the birth parent(s), the foster parents, and the adoptive parents. The Foster Care Service Plan identifies the services that must be provided. Refer to Section 10.1.6 for information on the Foster Care Service Plan.

9.5.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The team should consist of the social worker, the foster parents, other service providers, and the birth parents, until termination of parental rights. Once an adoptive family is selected, services are provided for the adoptive family and child to ensure success of the placement. The adoptive parents are to be included in service planning at this point.

9.5.3 COUNSELING SERVICES THAT MUST BE PROVIDED

When adoption is being considered, the birth parent(s) of voluntary entrustments, not court ordered termination of parental rights, shall be provided the opportunity for counseling, which should address issues related to but not limited to:

Pregnancy counseling to include:

Services available to maintain the child at home; placement with relatives; or temporary foster care and services to return the child home.

Long term impact of the decision to place the child for adoption on birth parent(s) and child:

- Helping birth parent(s) with the finality of the plan for adoption and immediate plans for their own lives;
- Receiving from birth parent(s), or informing them of, newly learned Medical or genetic information that is important for the adopted child and family or for the birth parent(s) and their present children; and
- Providing to the birth parent(s) non-identifying information on the potential adoptive family such as age, physical characteristics, educational achievement, profession, nationality, and health.

9.5.4 PREPARING THE CHILD FOR ADOPTION

Adoption services for children should ensure that adoption is the best plan for them and that they are prepared for adoption. Preparing the child for adoption must include helping the child put the past into perspective and helping the child with "grief work". (See Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter C, "Preparing the Child for Adoption"). This may include the preparation of a "life book."

A "life book" is a picture and narrative story of a child's life written by the child and social worker using the child's own words, pictures, photos, drawings, and memorabilia to tell the child's story. On the surface, it is a scrapbook of memories, a history of the events that have taken place in the child's life, but it can also be a therapeutic tool if the social worker is working intensively with a child to build a relationship, to help the child with grief issues, and to build the child's self esteem.

The "life book" process prepares the child for adoption and can be used by social workers, therapists, residential and mental health staff and foster, adoptive, and resource parents to help a child understand why he or she is not living with birth parents. Lifebooks are a way to engage the child in the planning process that will affect his or her future. The "life book" is also effective when used as a bridge between birth parents, foster parents, and adoptive parents.

Lifebooks also provide the adults working with and raising children with:

- A tool for meaningful discussions;
- A method of conveying positive messages during childhood that will be remembered during adolescence;
- A chance to build self-esteem and positive ethic identity: and
- A method of reducing children's divided loyalties between birth and foster, adoptive, and resource families.

Information about lifebooks and how to build and use them can be obtained on the internet at: http://www.adoption-works.com/lifebooks.htm.

9.5.5 TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS

When adoption is the best plan for a child in foster care, securing legal authority to place the child for adoption is the initial objective toward achieving the goal.

A child can be placed for adoption once parental rights are terminated and the agency has been granted the authority to place for adoption. The termination process begins with knowing whose rights must be terminated and how they are terminated. These two points are outlined below:

9.5.5.1 ALL INDIVIDUALS WHOSE RIGHTS MUST BE TERMINATED

- THE MOTHER,
- THE LEGAL FATHER WHO MAY OR MAY NOT BE THE BIOLOGICAL FATHER, IS THE MOTHER'S HUSBAND WHO IS PRESUMED TO BE THE CHILD'S LEGAL FATHER. EVEN THOUGH HE MAY NOT BE THE CHILD'S BIRTH FATHER. HIS LEGAL RIGHTS MUST BE TERMINATED.

IF THE MOTHER IS DIVORCED, AND THE CHILD WAS BORN WITHIN 10 MONTHS OF THE DIVORCE DECREE, THE FORMER HUSBAND IS CONSIDERED THE LEGAL FATHER.

 THE BIOLOGICAL FATHER, IF NOT THE LEGAL FATHER, WHO IS NOT MARRIED TO THE MOTHER, INCLUDING THE PUTATIVE FATHER.

ALTHOUGH THE BIOLOGICAL FATHER DOES NOT HAVE THE SAME RIGHTS AS A LEGAL FATHER, HE DOES HAVE THE RIGHT TO NOTICE OF ANY ACTION TAKEN TO FREE HIS CHILD FOR ADOPTION.

9.5.5.2 HOW PARENTAL RIGHTS ARE TERMINATED

PARENTAL RIGHTS CAN BE TERMINATED EITHER VOLUNTARILY OR INVOLUNTARILY.

9.5.5.3 VOLUNTARY METHODS OF TERMINATION

PARENTS MAY VOLUNTARILY TERMINATE THEIR RIGHTS EITHER BY SIGNING A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT OR BY PETITIONING THE COURT TO BE RELIEVED OF THEIR RIGHTS. (§§63.2-900, 63.2-903 and 16.1-278.3)

9.5.5.4 PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT: HOW IT IS USED

AN ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT IS A BINDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARENT(S) AND THE LOCAL BOARD. THIS

AGREEMENT PROVIDES A METHOD FOR THE PARENT(S) TO VOLUNTARILY RELINQUISH PARENTAL RIGHTS AND GIVE THE AGENCY AUTHORITY TO PLACE FOR ADOPTION. (See VDSS Intranet at

http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi for the Permanent Entrustment Agreement Form).

9.5.5.5 WHEN THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT IS USED.

THE FOLLOWING ARE INSTANCES WHEN THE SIGNING OF THE AGREEMENT IS THE ONLY ACTION REQUIRED FOR THE CHILD TO BE LEGALLY FREE FOR ADOPTION:

- WHEN ALL PARENTS ARE WILLING TO RELINQUISH THEIR RIGHTS TO THE CHILD:
- WHEN THE UNMARRIED MOTHER IS WILLING TO PERMANENTLY ENTRUST AND THE PUTATIVE FATHER WILL SIGN AN AFFIDAVIT DENYING PATERNITY, ACKNOWLEDGING PATERNITY OR NEITHER DENYING NOR ACKNOWLEDGING PATERNITY. THE AFFIDAVIT MUST INCLUDE A STATEMENT THAT HE WAIVES ALL RIGHTS TO FURTHER NOTICE.
- WHEN THE UNMARRIED MOTHER IS WILLING TO PERMANENTLY ENTRUST AND SIGN AN AFFIDAVIT THAT THE IDENTITY OF THE FATHER IS NOT REASONABLY ASCERTAINABLE. THIS AFFIDAVIT SHOULD INCLUDE A STATEMENT REGARDING THE REASON WHY THE FATHER'S IDENTITY CANNOT BE ASCERTAINED. IF THERE IS ANY QUESTION REGARDING THE VALIDITY OF THE MOTHER'S AFFIDAVIT, THE AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS;
- WHEN THE UNMARRIED MOTHER PERMANENTLY ENTRUSTS AND THE FATHER CAN BE INFORMED OF THE MOTHER'S ENTRUSTMENT BY CERTIFIED OR REGISTERED LETTER. THE FATHER'S NAME MUST APPEAR ON THE RETURN RECEIPT. HE HAS 21 DAYS AFTER RECEIPT OF THE LETTER TO OBJECT TO THE MOTHER'S ENTRUSTMENT.

A COPY OF THE ORIGINAL LETTER AND THE SIGNED RECEIPT MUST BE RETAINED IN THE CHILD'S RECORD.

IF THE LETTER CANNOT BE DELIVERED TO THE FATHER, IT IS NECESSARY TO PETITION THE COURT FOR TERMINATION OF HIS RIGHTS. (§16.1-277.01)

9.5.5.6 WHEN THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT IS SIGNED

SIGN ANY TIME AFTER THE CHILD'S BIRTH;

 USE A SEPARATE FORM FOR EACH PARENT WHO ENTRUSTS AND FOR EACH CHILD TO BE ENTRUSTED.

9.5.5.7 HOW THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT IS REVOKED

- THE AGREEMENT CAN BE REVOKED ANY TIME UP TO THE SIGNING OF THE ADOPTIVE HOME PLACEMENT AGREEMENT, UNLESS THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT HAS BEEN APPROVED BY THE COURT AND ALL PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED.
- THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT MAY BE REVOKED BY EITHER PARENT UNTIL (I) THE CHILD HAS REACHED THE AGE OF 25 DAYS AND (II) 15 DAYS HAVE ELAPSED FROM THE DATE OF EXECUTION.
- WHEN THE AGREEMENT IS REVOKED, CUSTODY OF THE CHILD MUST BE RETURNED TO THE BIRTH PARENT. IN THE EVENT THAT THE CUSTODY OF THE CHILD IS OF CONTROVERSY, CUSTODY WILL NEED TO BE DETERMINED BY COURT ACTION.
- UPON PROOF OF FRAUD OR DURESS, A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT MAY BE DECLARED INVALID AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARENT(S) RESTORED BY COURT ORDER IF THE FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION HAS NOT BEEN ENTERED AND THE COURT HAS NOT APPROVED THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT AND ISSUED A FINAL ORDER TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS.

9.5.5.8 RESTRICTIONS PLACED ON THE PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT

WHEN A CHILD ENTERS CARE THROUGH A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT, THERE MUST BE A SUBSEQUENT COURT ORDER. THE COURT ORDER MUST BE OBTAINED WITHIN 180 DAYS (6 MONTHS) OF THE ENTRUSTMENT. THE ORDER MUST CONTAIN A STATEMENT THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD OR THAT REMOVAL WAS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM THE HOME.

9.5.5.9 COURT PETITIONS TO VOLUNTARY TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS

THE SECOND METHOD OF VOLUNTARY TERMINATION INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING:

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-24

PARENTAL PETITION FOR RELIEF OF CARE AND CUSTODY (§16.1-277.02)

PARENT(S) FILE A JOINT PETITION WITH THE JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS DISTRICT COURT, REQUESTING TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS. WHEN APPROPRIATE THE AGENCY SHOULD JOIN IN THE FILING OF THE PETITION.

PETITION FOR APPROVAL OF ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT(S) (§16.1-278.3, 16.1-277.01)

AGENCY FILES PETITION REQUESTING COURT APPROVAL OF PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT(S). THE COURT ORDER MUST CONTAIN A STATEMENT THAT CONTINUATION IN THE HOME WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD OR THAT REMOVAL WAS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD OR THAT THERE IS NO LESS DRASTIC ALTERNATIVE THAN REMOVAL OF THE CHILD FROM THE HOME.

APPEAL OF COURT ORDER

ONCE THE AGENCY HAS PETITIONED THE COURT TO APPROVE A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT AND THE COURT HAS HELD A HEARING AND ISSUED A FINAL ORDER TERMINATING PARENTAL RIGHTS, THE PARENT CANNOT REVOKE THE AGREEMENT. THE PARENT(S) MAY APPEAL THE ORDER. (§16.1-296).

9.5.5.10 INVOLUNTARY METHOD TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS

IF IT IS NOT POSSIBLE TO ACHIEVE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS VOLUNTARILY, THEN THE AGENCY MUST PETITION THE COURT FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS (TPR) (§16.1-283 AND 16.1-278.3). THESE PROCEDURES DEFINE HOW PARENTAL RIGHTS ARE TERMINATED INVOLUNTARILY.

THE AGENCY NEED NOT HAVE IDENTIFIED AN AVAILABLE FAMILY TO ADOPT A CHILD PRIOR TO TERMINATION BEING SOUGHT OR THE COURT'S ENTERING A TERMINATION ORDER. (§16.1-283A)

9.5.5.11 GROUNDS FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS

USE OF THE FOLLOWING GROUNDS MUST BE BASED ON FINDINGS BY THE COURT THAT TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD. THE LEGAL STANDARD FOR MAKING THESE FINDINGS IS CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

THE PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A CHILD PLACED IN FOSTER CARE AS A RESULT OF COURT COMMITMENT, AN ENTRUSTMENT

AGREEMENT, OR OTHER VOLUNTARY RELINQUISHMENT BY THE PARENT OR PARENTS, MAY BE TERMINATED BASED ON THE FOLLOWING GROUNDS:

■ FAILURE TO MAINTAIN CONTACT (§16.1-283 C)

THE PARENT OR PARENTS HAVE, WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE, FAILED TO MAINTAIN CONTINUING CONTACT WITH AND TO PROVIDE OR SUBSTANTIALLY PLAN FOR THE FUTURE OF THE CHILD FOR A PERIOD OF SIX MONTHS AFTER THE CHILD'S PLACEMENT IN FOSTER CARE. LACK OF CONTACT CONTINUES EVEN WITH THE REASONABLE AND APPROPRIATE EFFORTS OF SOCIAL, MEDICAL, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER REHABILITATIVE AGENCIES TO COMMUNICATE WITH THE PARENT OR PARENTS AND TO STRENGTHEN THE PARENT-CHILD RELATIONSHIP. PROOF THAT THE PARENT OR PARENTS HAVE FAILED WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE TO COMMUNICATE ON A CONTINUING AND PLANNED BASIS WITH THE CHILD FOR A PERIOD OF SIX MONTHS SHALL CONSTITUTE PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF THIS CONDITION.

■ FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS (§16.1-283 C)

PARENT OR PARENTS, WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE, HAVE BEEN UNWILLING OR UNABLE, WITHIN A REASONABLE PERIOD NOT TO EXCEED TWELVE MONTHS FROM THE DATE THE CHILD WAS PLACED IN FOSTER CARE, TO REMEDY SUBSTANTIALLY THE CONDITIONS WHICH LED TO OR REQUIRED CONTINUATION OF THE CHILD'S FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT. LACK OF PROGRESS EXISTS EVEN WITH THE REASONABLE AND APPROPRIATE EFFORTS OF SOCIAL, MEDICAL, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER REHABILITATIVE AGENCIES TO SUCH END.

THE FOSTER CARE PLAN FILED WITH THE COURT OR ANY OTHER PLAN JOINTLY DESIGNED AND AGREED TO BY THE PARENT OR PARENTS AND A PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SOCIAL, MEDICAL, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER REHABILITATIVE AGENCY SHALL CONSTITUTE PRIMA FACIE EVIDENCE OF THIS CONDITION. THE COURT SHALL TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION THE PRIOR EFFORTS OF SUCH AGENCIES TO REHABILITATE THE PARENT OR PARENTS PRIOR TO THE PLACEMENT OF THE CHILD IN FOSTER CARE.

ABANDONMENT (§16.1-283 D)

THE CHILD WAS ABANDONED AND THE IDENTITY OR THE WHEREABOUTS OF THE PARENT OR PARENTS CANNOT BE DETERMINED AFTER A DILIGENT SEARCH; AND THE CHILD'S PARENT OR PARENTS, GUARDIAN OR RELATIVES HAVE NOT

COME FORWARD TO IDENTIFY SUCH CHILD AND CLAIM A RELATIONSHIP TO THE CHILD WITHIN THREE MONTHS FOLLOWING THE ISSUANCE OF AN ORDER BY THE COURT PLACING THE CHILD IN FOSTER CARE.

CONVICTIONS FOR CERTAIN CRIMES (§16.1-283 E)

THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN OFFENSE UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS COMMONWEALTH OR A SUBSTANTIALLY SIMILAR LAW OF ANY OTHER STATE, OR ANY FOREIGN JURISDICTION WHICH CONSTITUTES MURDER OR VOLUNTARY MANSLAUGHTER, OR A FELONY ATTEMPT, CONSPIRACY OR SOLICITATION TO COMMIT ANY SUCH OFFENSE, IF THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE WAS A CHILD OF THE PARENT, A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME SUCH OFFENSE OCCURRED OR THE OTHER PARENT OF THE CHILD, OR

THE PARENT HAS BEEN CONVICTED OF AN OFFENSE UNDER THE LAWS OF THIS COMMONWEALTH, ANY OTHER STATE, OR ANY FOREIGN JURISDICTION WHICH CONSTITUTES FELONY ASSAULT RESULTING IN SERIOUS BODILY INJURY OR FELONY BODILY WOUNDING RESULTING IN SERIOUS BODILY INJURY OR FELONY SEXUAL ASSAULT, IF THE VICTIM OF THE OFFENSE WAS A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFENSE OR THE OTHER PARENT OF THE CHILD. "SERIOUS BODILY INJURY" MEANS BODILY INJURY WHICH INVOLVES SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF DEATH, EXTREME PHYSICAL PAIN, PROTRACTED AND OBVIOUS DISFIGUREMENT, OR PROTRACTED LOSS OR IMPAIRMENT OF THE FUNCTION OF A BODILY MEMBER, ORGAN OR MENTAL FACULTY.

AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES (§16.1-283 B AND E)

A PARENT HAS SUBJECTED ANY CHILD TO AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES. AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES MEANS TORTURE, CHRONIC OR SEVERE ABUSE, OR CHRONIC OR SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE WHERE THE VICTIM IS (i) A CHILD OF THE PARENT OR A CHILD WITH WHOM THE PARENT RESIDED AT THE TIME SUCH CONDUCT OCCURRED AND INCLUDES THE FAILURE TO PROTECT A CHILD FROM SUCH CONDUCT WHERE THAT CONDUCT OR FAILURE TO PROTECT (i) DEMONSTRATES DEPRAVED INDIFFERENCE TO HUMAN LIFE. OR (ii) RESULTED IN THE DEATH OF A CHILD OR SERIOUS BODILY INJURY TO CA CHILD. CHRONIC ABUSE OR CHRONIC SEXUAL ABUSE MEANS RECURRING ACTS OF PHYSICAL ABUSE THAT PLACE THE CHILD'S HEALTH, SAFETY OR WELL-BEING AT RISK. SEVER ABUSE AND SEVERE SEXUAL ABUSE MEANS MAY INCLUDE AN

ACT OR OMISSION THAT OCCURRED ONLY ONCE BUT MEETS THE DEFINITION OF "AGGRAVATED CIRCUMSTANCES." (§16.1-281 (B) AND § 16.1-283 (E)).

 TERMINATION OF RESIDUAL RIGHTS TO ANOTHER CHILD (§16.1-283 E AND F)

THE RESIDUAL PARENTAL RIGHTS OF A SIBLING OF THE FOSTER CHILD HAVE PREVIOUSLY BEEN INVOLUNTARILY TERMINATED.

9.5.5.12 UNLIKELIHOOD THAT CONDITIONS CAN BE CORRECTED (§16.1-283 B2)

FOR CHILDREN WHO HAVE BEEN FOUND BY THE COURT TO BE ABUSED AND NEGLECTED AND IN FOSTER CARE, THE FOLLOWING GROUNDS MAY BE USED:

- THE NEGLECT AND ABUSE SUFFERED BY THE CHILD PRESENTS A SERIOUS AND SUBSTANTIAL THREAT TO HIS OR HER LIFE, HEALTH, OR DEVELOPMENT; AND
- IT IS NOT REASONABLY LIKELY THAT THE CONDITIONS WHICH RESULTED IN NEGLECT OR ABUSE CAN BE SUBSTANTIALLY CORRECTED OR ELIMINATED SO AS TO ALLOW THE CHILD'S SAFE RETURN TO HIS PARENT OR PARENTS WITHIN A REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME. IN MAKING THIS DETERMINATION, THE COURT SHALL TAKE INTO CONSIDERATION THE EFFORTS MADE TO REHABILITATE THE PARENT OR PARENTS BY ANY PUBLIC OR PRIVATE SOCIAL, MEDICAL, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER REHABILITATIVE AGENCIES PRIOR TO THE CHILD'S INITIAL PLACEMENT IN FOSTER CARE AS WELL AS EFFORTS AFTER PLACEMENT.

EVIDENCE OF THIS IS AS FOLLOWS:

- THE PARENT OR PARENTS ARE SUFFERING FROM A MENTAL OR EMOTIONAL ILLNESS OR MENTAL DEFICIENCY OF SUCH SEVERITY THAT THERE IS NO REASONABLE EXPECTATION THAT SUCH PARENT WILL BE ABLE TO UNDERTAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CARE NEEDED BY THE CHILD IN ACCORDANCE WITH HIS AGE AND STAGE OF DEVELOPMENT;
- THE PARENT OR PARENTS HAVE HABITUALLY ABUSED OR ARE ADDICTED TO INTOXICATING LIQUORS, NARCOTICS OR OTHER DANGEROUS DRUGS TO THE EXTENT THAT PROPER PARENTAL ABILITY HAS BEEN SERIOUSLY IMPAIRED AND THE PARENT, WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE, HAS NOT RESPONDED TO OR FOLLOWED THROUGH WITH RECOMMENDED AND

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-28

AVAILABLE TREATMENT WHICH COULD HAVE IMPROVED THE CAPACITY FOR ADEQUATE PARENTAL FUNCTIONING; OR

THE PARENT OR PARENTS, WITHOUT GOOD CAUSE, HAVE NOT RESPONDED TO OR FOLLOWED THROUGH WITH APPROPRIATE, AVAILABLE AND REASONABLE REHABILITATIVE EFFORTS ON THE PART OF SOCIAL, MEDICAL, MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER REHABILITATIVE AGENCIES DESIGNED TO REDUCE, ELIMINATE OR PREVENT THE NEGLECT OR ABUSE OF THE CHILD.

9.5.5.13 PROCEDURES TO FOLLOW FOR COURT TERMINATION

The worker should consult with the agency attorney to determine whether there are grounds for termination of parental rights and to prepare for a termination of parental rights hearing. The agency may hire an additional attorney for the child if the guardian ad litem needs assistance when the agency's petition is contested, the court's decision is appealed, or a separate petition is filed, any of which appear contrary to the child's best interest. Use state pool funds to pay the attorney's fee. Court related costs, such as assistance of expert witnesses, may be purchased as a foster care service.

THE AGENCY MUST ASSESS WHETHER TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD PRIOR TO THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. IT WOULD THEN FILE A PETITION AND SERVICE PLAN WITH THE COURT WITH THE GOAL OF ADOPTION 30 DAYS PRIOR TO THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING.

THE SERVICE PLAN: SHOULD DOCUMENT THAT TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS IN THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST. THE SERVICE PLAN CHANGING THE GOAL TO ADOPTION AND THE PETITION MAY BE SUBMITTED TO THE COURT AND CONSIDERED BY THE COURT AT THE SAME HEARING (§16.1-283 A)

THE PETITION: MUST SPECIFICALLY REQUEST THAT PARENTAL RIGHTS OF THE PARENTS BE TERMINATED AND THAT THE AGENCY BE GIVEN THE AUTHORITY TO PLACE AND CONSENT TO ADOPTION OF THE CHILD.

IF A MATTER INVOLVING THE CHILD'S CUSTODY HAS PREVIOUSLY GONE TO A CIRCUIT COURT, THAT COURT HAS JURISDICTION AND THE PETITION MUST BE FILED THERE. THE COURT WILL SET A HEARING DATE.

9.5.5.14 NOTIFYING INTERESTED PERSONS OF THE TPR COURT HEARING. (§16.1-263)

It is the local agency's responsibility to submit the service plan 30 days prior to the hearing in order to allow the court sufficient time for giving legal notice.

WHO GIVES NOTICE

THE COURT WHERE THE HEARING WILL BE HELD IS RESPONSIBLE FOR GIVING LEGAL NOTICE.

WHO RECEIVES NOTICE

- PARENTS:
- CHILD IF 12 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER;
- GUARDIAN OR LEGAL CUSTODIAN;
- PARENTS' ATTORNEY:
- GUARDIAN AD LITEM;
- COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL ADVOCATE (CASA);
- CURRENT FOSTER PARENTS; AND
- OTHER NECESSARY PARTIES.

HOW NOTICE IS GIVEN FOR TPR HEARING

- DELIVERED IN PERSON BY SHERIFFS, THEIR DEPUTIES, AND POLICE OFFICERS IN COUNTIES OR CITIES, OR BY ANY OTHER SUITABLE PERSON DESIGNATED BY COURT;
- CERTIFIED MAIL WITH ADDRESSEE ONLY SIGNING THE RETURN RECEIPT; OR
- ORDER OF PUBLICATION. ORDERS OF PUBLICATION MUST STATE THE PURPOSE OF THE PETITION TO BE HEARD AND WHERE AND WHEN THE HEARING IS TO BE HELD. SUCH ORDERS MUST BE PUBLISHED FOR FOUR SUCCESSIVE WEEKS, IN SUCH NEWSPAPER AS THE COURT MAY PRESCRIBE. THEY REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO APPEAR TO PROTECT HIS INTERESTS ON OR BEFORE THE DATE STATED IN THE ORDER.

WHEN NOTICE IS NOT REQUIRED FOR TPR

NOTICE IS NOT REQUIRED IF A PARENT:

- HAS SIGNED A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT;
- HAS SIGNED AN AFFIDAVIT WAIVING ALL RIGHTS TO NOTICE OR
- IS REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL AND COUNSEL RECEIVES NOTICE.

SITUATIONS WHEN THE PUTATIVE FATHER MAY OR MAY NOT NEED NOTIFICATION

- IF HIS IDENTITY AND LOCATION ARE KNOWN, THE AGENCY SHOULD CONTACT HIM ABOUT SIGNING A PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT OR AN AFFIDAVIT WAIVING ALL RIGHTS TO NOTICE. IF HE IS UNWILLING TO SIGN AN AGREEMENT OR AFFIDAVIT, THE COURT WILL NOTIFY HIM OF THE HEARING.
- THE FATHER'S IDENTITY IS KNOWN, BUT HIS CURRENT WHEREABOUTS ARE UNKNOWN, THE AGENCY MUST ATTEMPT TO CONTACT HIM AT THIS LAST KNOWN ADDRESS BY REGISTERED CERTIFIED LETTER. THIS MUST BE DONE BEFORE PETITIONING THE COURT FOR TERMINATION OF HIS RIGHTS. TO SATISFY THE "DILIGENT EFFORTS" REQUIREMENT OF THE LAW, THE AGENCY MUST ATTEMPT TO LOCATE THE FATHER THROUGH ALL SOURCES SUCH AS RELATIVES, FORMER EMPLOYEES, SOCIAL SECURITY, ETC. IF HE CANNOT BE FOUND OR IF HIS ADDRESS CANNOT BE ASCERTAINED, THE COURT REQUIRES AN ORDER OF PUBLICATION. (§16.1-264 A)
- IF THE FATHER'S IDENTITY IS NOT KNOWN OR NOT REASONABLY ASCERTAINABLE, THE AGENCY MUST SECURE AN AFFIDAVIT FROM THE MOTHER TO THIS EFFECT. THIS AFFIDAVIT MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE COURT. IF THE COURT CERTIFIES THE IDENTITY OF THE FATHER IS UNKNOWN, NOTICE IS NOT REQUIRED. WHEN THE AGENCY HAS ANY QUESTION REGARDING THE VALIDITY OF THE MOTHER'S AFFIDAVIT, THE MATTER SHOULD BE BROUGHT TO THE COURT'S ATTENTION. (§16.1-263 E)
- IF THE MOTHER KNOWS THE FATHER'S IDENTITY BUT SHE REFUSES TO REVEAL IT, THE COURT CERTIFIES ON THE RECORD THAT THE FATHER'S IDENTITY IS NOT REASONABLY ASCERTAINABLE. THE COURT MAY APPOINT A GUARDIAN AD LITEM TO PROTECT THE RIGHTS OF THE UNKNOWN FATHER.

9.5.5.15 TRANSPORTATION OF PRISONERS FOR TESTIMONY IN CHILD WELFARE CASES

IF A PARENT IS INCARCERATED, THE COURT MAY AUTHORIZE THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS TO HAVE THE PRISONER TRANSPORTED TO PROVIDE NECESSARY TESTIMONY IN HEARINGS RELATED TO CHILD WELFARE. THE TESTIMONY OF PRISONERS CAN ALSO BE ACQUIRED USING ELECTRONIC VIDEO AND AUDIO COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS OR TELEPHONIC COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS IN LIEU OF A PERSONAL APPEARANCE IF AUTHORIZED BY THE COURT.

9.5.5.16 ORDER TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS

AFTER THE HEARING, THE COURT WILL SEND THE AGENCY A COPY OF THE COMMITMENT ORDER. THE ORDER MUST SPECIFY TERMINATION OF ALL PARENTAL RIGHTS WITH THE AGENCY'S AUTHORITY TO PLACE AND CONSENT TO ADOPTION. IF NOT SPECIFIED, THE AGENCY MUST ASK THE COURT TO CLARIFY, IN WRITING, THE INTENT OF THE ORDER. IF A PARENT DENIES PATERNITY OR IF THE IDENTITY OF A PARENT IS UNKNOWN, THE COURT ORDER MUST STILL SPECIFY TERMINATION OF ALL PARENTAL RIGHTS. THERE IS AN EXCEPTION. IF A PARENT'S RIGHTS HAVE ALREADY BEEN TERMINATED BY PERMANENT ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT, THEN THE ORDER NEED NOT SPECIFY TERMINATION OF THAT PARENT'S RIGHTS. (§16.1-278.3, 16.1-283)

9.5.5.17 APPEALS

APPEALS MUST BE MADE TO A JUVENILE COURT WITHIN 10 DAYS OF THE ENTRY OF THE ORDER. THE CIRCUIT COURT SHOULD SCHEDULE THE APPEAL WITHIN 90 DAYS FROM THE DAY THAT IT WAS FILED. (§16.1-296) A CHILD MUST NOT BE PLACED IN AN ADOPTIVE HOME UNTIL THE APPEAL HAS BEEN SETTLED.

9.5.5.18 STATUS OF CHILD AFTER TPR HAS BEEN ACHIEVED

THE CHILD REMAINS IN CUSTODY OF THE LOCAL BOARD UNTIL THE FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION.

THE COURT MUST CONTINUE ANNUAL FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS FOR CHILDREN WHOSE PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED UNTIL A FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION IS ENTERED. Administrative Panel Reviews must continue, alternating with the court's Foster Care Review Hearings every six months. The Foster Care Service plan must be reviewed at each six-month hearing or review.

9.5.6 LOCATING AND PLACING THE CHILD IN AN ADOPTIVE HOME

- 9.5.6.1 CONTINUITY OF NURTURING RELATIONSHIPS IS CRITICAL TO A CHILD'S GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT. THEREFORE, ADOPTIVE PLANNING SHALL:
 - REFLECT THE CHILD'S NEED TO BE IN A PERMANENT PLACEMENT AS SOON AS POSSIBLE;
 - RECOGNIZE THE IMPORTANCE OF PLACING SIBLINGS IN THE SAME ADOPTIVE HOME, AND

- CONSIDER FOSTER PARENTS WITH WHOM THE CHILD HAS DEVELOPED EMOTIONAL TIES AS A PRIMARY ADOPTIVE RESOURCE FOR THE CHILD
- 9.5.6.2 If the foster family is to be the adoptive family, the foster family needs to be prepared for the differences between foster care and adoption. (NOTE: Foster parents have the right to file a petition for adoption, without consent of the agency, when (i) the child has resided in their home continuously for at least 18 months and (ii) the birth parents' rights to the child have been terminated (§ 63.2-1229).
- 9.5.6.3 If the foster family is not to be the adoptive family, the child must be prepared for the specific adoptive family, as well as for adoption in general. The child should have the opportunity to gradually become acquainted with the adoptive parents. The number and location of the meetings with the adoptive parents, the duration of preparation, and the timing of placement should be determined by the child's age and the particular needs of both the child and adoptive family.
- 9.5.6.4 When a family is selected, FULL, FACTUAL INFORMATION THAT THE AGENCY HAS ABOUT THE CHILD AND THE CHILD'S BIRTH FAMILY, EXCEPT THAT WHICH WOULD REVEAL THE IDENTITY OF THE CHILD'S BIRTH FAMILY. SHALL BE PROVIDED TO PROSPECTIVE ADOPTIVE PARENTS. THE INFORMATION PROVIDED SHALL INCLUDE COMPLETE MEDICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL REPORTS. (See Chapter C for more detailed information).

9.5.7 ACHIEVING THE GOAL OF ADOPTION

The Goal of Adoption is achieved when the final order of adoption is entered (Refer to Section III, Chapter C, for Policy Governing Agency Placement for Adoption).

The local agency must notify the juvenile court when the adoption has been finalized so that court can close its file.

9.6 Permanent Foster Care

9.6.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

- Maintain the child in the foster home by strengthening the legal bond between the child and foster family and providing greater rights and responsibilities to the foster family;
- Providing supportive services that are needed by the child and family in order to enhance and strengthen the permanent parent/child bond;.
- Prepare the child for independent living through direct services and/or support/education of foster parents.

Continue relationships with family members.

9.6.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The roles and responsibilities of the agency, foster parents, birth parents and, if appropriate, the child are contained in a mutually developed and signed agreement. The agreement shall include at least any requirements contained in the court order approving the foster care placement. The following rights and responsibilities need to be taken into account when developing the agreement:

9.6.2.1 RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BIRTH PARENTS

- VISIT THE CHILD. THE FREQUENCY OF VISITATION SHOULD BE IN THE COURT ORDER APPROVING PLACEMENT.
- PROVIDE FINANCIAL SUPPORT FOR THE CHILD.

9.6.2.2 RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE FOSTER PARENTS

- PERMANENT FOSTER PARENTS HAVE AUTHORITY TO GIVE CONSENT FOR ACTIVITIES THAT REQUIRE PARENTAL CONSENT UNLESS THIS AUTHORITY HAS BEEN MODIFIED BY THE COURT ORDER. THIS INCLUDES AUTHORITY TO CONSENT TO:
 - a. APPLICATION TO COLLEGE OR ENTRANCE INTO THE MILITARY;
 - b. MARRIAGE:
 - c. DRIVER'S LICENSE: AND
 - d. SURGERY.
- THE FOSTER PARENTS MUST INFORM THE AGENCY OF THE DECISIONS THEY MAKE AS THEY RELATE TO THE AUTHORITY GIVEN THEM BY LAW OR THE COURT (§63.2-908 [C]).
- IF A CHILD IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE IS STAFFED BY THE FAPT, THE FOSTER PARENTS SHOULD SIGN THE INDIVIDUAL FAMILY SERVICE PLAN. THE FOSTER PARENTS OF A CHILD IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE MUST BE NOTIFIED IN ADVANCE BY THE WORKER OF ALL FAPT MEETINGS RELATED TO THE CHILD. THE FOSTER PARENTS HAVE THE RIGHT TO EITHER SPEAK AT THE MEETINGS OR SUBMIT WRITTEN RECOMMENDATIONS AND TESTIMONY. THE FAPT SHALL CONSIDER THE FOSTER PARENTS' OPINIONS IN DEVELOPING THE SERVICE PLAN (§2.2-5208 [3]).
- Permanent foster parents also have the right to request special education services and sign the IEP.

9.6.2.3 RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AGENCY

Face-to-face visit with the child in his/her home at least every six months.

- REVIEW THE CASE PLAN AND PROGRESS MADE THROUGH ALTERNATING ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS (SEE SECTION 10.3) AND A COURT HEARING EVERY SIX MONTHS. PERMANENT FOSTER CARE CASES MUST BE REVIEWED IN COURT AT LEAST ANNUALLY (§16.1-282.2)
- Maintain involvement of the birth family, if possible.

9.6.3 ACHIEVING THE GOAL OF PERMANENT FOSTER CARE

The goal of Permanent Foster Care is achieved upon entry of a permanent foster care order by the court pursuant to §63.2-908.

9.6.4 <u>TERMINATION OF PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENTS</u> (§63.2-908)

- A CHILD SHALL REMAIN IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE UNTIL HE REACHES AGE 18. A YOUTH SHALL REMAIN UNTIL THE AGE OF 21 YEARS, AS LONG AS THE YOUTH IS PARTICIPATING IN AN EDUCATIONAL, TRAINING, OR TREATMENT PROGRAM AND NEEDS FOSTER CARE SERVICES TO CONTINUE THAT PARTICIPATION.
- NO CHILD SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE PHYSICAL CUSTODY OF THE FOSTER PARENTS IN THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT EXCEPT BY A COURT ORDER OR CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT PROCEDURES PURSUANT TO §16.1-251 OR 63.2-1517 OF THE CODE OF VIRGINIA.
- IF THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT DISRUPTS, THE AGENCY MUST FILE A SERVICE PLAN AND PETITION FOR REVIEW AND DISPOSITIONAL HEARING TO CHANGE THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE STATUS TO ANOTHER GOAL FOR THE CHILD. THE FOSTER PARENT MAY JOINTLY FILE THE PETITION WITH THE AGENCY. ALL ATTEMPTS MUST BE MADE TO MAINTAIN THE CHILD WITH THE PERMANENT FOSTER FAMILY UNTIL THE COURT HEARING.
- IN UNPLANNED SITUATIONS WHERE THE CHILD MUST BE REMOVED FROM THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT, THE AGENCY MUST FILE THE SERVICE PLAN AND PETITION FOR REVIEW AND DISPOSITIONAL HEARING IMMEDIATELY UPON THE REMOVAL.
- THE CYCLE FOR SERVICE PLANS, PANEL REVIEWS AND ANNUAL FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS STARTS WITH THE COURT HEARING DATE.

9.6.5 PLACEMENTS OUTSIDE THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE HOME WITHOUT CHANGING THE GOAL

There may be situations where a foster child is placed temporarily outside of a permanent foster home for education, training, treatment, or in a Department of

Juvenile Justice facility. The Permanent Foster Care Agreement remains in effect if the plan is for the youth to return to the family. Payments to the foster parents will be suspended during those periods, although pre-authorized expenses for the family, such as transportation to visit may be reimbursed.

9.7 Independent Living

THE FEDERAL FOSTER CARE INDEPENDENCE ACT OF 1999 WHICH CREATED THE CHAFEE FOSTER CARE INDEPENDENCE PROGRAM, DESCRIBES THE PURPOSE OF INDEPENDENT LIVING PROGRAMS (ILP) AS BEING:

- TO IDENTIFY YOUTH LIKELY TO REMAIN IN FOSTER CARE UNTIL 18 YEARS OF AGE:
- TO HELP THESE YOUTH MAKE THE TRANSITION TO SELF-SUFFICIENCY BY PROVIDING A VARIETY OF SERVICES;
- TO PROVIDE PERSONAL AND EMOTIONAL SUPPORT TO YOUTH AGING OUT OF FOSTER CARE, THROUGH MENTORS AND THE PROMOTION OF INTERACTIONS WITH DEDICATED ADULTS.; AND
- TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL, HOUSING, COUNSELING, EMPLOYMENT, EDUCATION, AND OTHER APPROPRIATE SUPPORT TO FORMER FOSTER CARE YOUTH BETWEEN 18 AND 21 YEARS OF AGE TO COMPLEMENT THEIR OWN EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE SELF-SUFFICIENCY.

9.7.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

Services must be provided to assist older teens to acquire skills to become self-sufficient and transition from foster care to independence. ALL YOUTH, SIXTEEN OR OLDER, REGARDLESS OF THEIR PERMANENCY GOAL, MUST HAVE A TRANSITIONAL INDEPENDENT LIVING PLAN WHICH DESCRIBES THE SERVICES THAT WILL BE PROVIDED TO PREPARE THEM FOR INDEPENDENCE (§16.1-281B). The agency worker develops the transitional living plan that is:

- Based on a formalized Life Skills Assessment (See section 9.7.3.1)
- Incorporated into the Foster Care Service Plan. It may be a separate document but must be attached to the Service Plan
- Developed through a team process. The youth MUST be an integral part of the planning and must understand their responsibility for developing and achieving the plan
- Coordinated with the Individual Education Program (IEP) that must be developed through the school district for all youth in special education

Older youth in foster care may live in foster homes, group homes, residential facilities, or independent living arrangements and are eligible for services regardless of the placement or goal. Independent living services may be funded through the

CSA Pool Fund or through Independent Living Program (ILP) funds. Refer to Section 12.15 for additional information regarding the funding of ILP Services.

The Chafee Foster Care Independence Program provides for increased assistance for youth, ages 18 to 21 who leave foster care. This includes youth who:

- have aged out of foster care at age 18 or up to age 21 and moved directly from foster care into independent living programs; and
- youth who age out of foster care, lose touch with the agency, and/or voluntarily terminate services at age 18 but find themselves in need of supportive services after leaving foster care but prior to turning 21.

Services should help prepare and support these youth's transition to adulthood.

9.7.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The team approach is essential when working with youth participating in the Independent Living Program. This team should consist of various individuals who can appropriately teach, guide, and provide emotional support to the youth as they transition out of foster care to independence. Ideally, the team is composed of the Independent living coordinator and /or social worker, the youth, primary caregiver(s), birth parents/family, professionals (i.e. educator, counselor) and community representatives (i.e. mentor, minister). The team should develop a transition plan that "takes into consideration all available services in the community and represents a unified view of the individuals involved with the adolescent." (Pass It On: Independent Living Program Strategies, ILP, Inc., 1989).

The youth must participate on the team and in the development of the transitional plan. The social worker should assist the youth in identifying positive adults in the community who are willing to be involved in developing the transitional plan and assisting the youth in carrying out identified tasks. The major roles of the Independent living staff coordinator or social worker functions as the team facilitator as well as a teacher and advocate for the child. Other professionals and community representatives on the team should be encouraged to provide different perspectives, insight and expertise. This diverse group shares the responsibility of developing and implementing the transitional plan and assessing the youth's progress at each stage of his or her transition to independence.

9.7.3 PREPARING THE YOUTH FOR INDEPENDENCE

Preparing youth for independence requires that the team develop and provide a full range of services that assist the youth in establishing the requisite skills needed for self-sufficiency. YOUTH MUST BE SUPPORTED AND ENCOURAGED TO PARTICIPATE IN DESIGNING THEIR TRANSITIONAL INDEPENDENCE PLAN AND TAKE RESPONSIBILITY FOR ACHIEVING INDEPENDENCE (Foster Care Independence Act of 1999). Preparing youth for independence requires accurate assessment of their skills and needs and targeted service provision.

9.7.3.1 Assessing for Independence

Workers should conduct a Life Skills Assessment for all youth being considered for independent living services. A Life Skills Assessment is a formalized assessment documenting the youth's strengths and needs. This assessment should provide information about the youth's ability to live independently and function in the community. Areas assessed must include basic living skills, education, vocational/job skills and personal/social/emotional development.

9.7.3.2 Types of Services That Can Be Provided

Educational: To complete high school or general education, higher education, including assistance for tuition, admission fees, related expenses, equipment, materials, uniforms, applications, tutoring, etc.

Vocational Training: Job readiness, job search, placement, and other services when such an activity prepares a youth to become self-supporting or increases performance/functional competencies.

Daily Living Skills/Aid: Budgeting, housing, career planning, money management, or provision of any other services which supports the youth in establishing an independent living arrangement, such as, household goods, supplies, services, insurance, utility turn-on, etc.

Counseling: Individual or group counseling.

Other Services or Assistance: Training, conferences, retreats, and workshops, relating to building competencies that strengthen individual skills and foster successful independent living.

9.7.4 Independent Living Arrangements

Youth, 16 and over, may live in independent living arrangements provided the youth has demonstrated maturity and the skills and ability to live without parental supervision. Factors in assessing a youth's readiness for an independent living arrangement require consideration of the following:

- Age- youth must be at least 16 years old;
- Foster Care Goal- in all likelihood, the youth will have the goal of Independent Living since all permanency goals had been thoroughly considered but were not feasible:
- Results of a recently completed Life Skills Assessment; (See section 9.7.3.1).
- Education- must be enrolled in an educational/vocational program;
- Employment-should be employed at least part- time unless youth is a full time student in college or an apprenticeship/trade program;

- Use of Services- the youth has taken full advantage of services and programs offered to help him/her make the transition to self-sufficiency;
- Emotional Readiness-the youth demonstrates a high level of maturity and emotional stability in his/her current placement. The youth is not a threat to himself/herself or the community. The youth is not involved in high risk behaviors (i.e. delinquent or criminal activities, substance abuse);
- Motivation- the youth played a significant role in designing his/her transitional plan. He/she has identified personal goals and has taken action toward reaching the goals. The youth is following the Foster Care Service Plan and cooperating with the local department of social services. The youth has demonstrated appropriate behavior and taken on progressively more responsibility. The youth wants to be in a setting less supervised and less structured than his/her current foster care placement; and
- Willingness to Learn- the youth is willing to learn independent living skills and will accept help from the social worker and others who offer support and guidance.

When it is determined that an older youth in foster care would be more appropriately served in an independent living arrangement, such as an apartment, the following requirements must be met:

9.7.4.1 Approving the Independent Living Arrangement

The worker must make an on-site visit to the independent living arrangement before approval can be given for each arrangement. The arrangement should be re-approved annually. Housing approved by colleges and other educational or vocational providers is exempt from this requirement.

9.7.4.2 Supervision

There will be face-to-face visits between the youth and the agency worker at least monthly, except when the youth is living in a dormitory. In dormitory arrangements, visits must be at least every three months.

At least once every three months the visit must be in the residence of the child. The needs of the youth should determine the frequency of visits beyond the minimum requirements.

Supervision of youth in independent living arrangements out-of-state is subject to policy governing out-of-state placements (Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter E).

9.7.4.3 Agreement Between Agency and Youth

An agreement, in duplicate, between the agency and the youth shall be mutually developed and signed. One copy of the agreement is given to the youth. The other is kept in his/her record. It shall be compatible with the youth's service plan.

April 2004

The agreement shall include, but is not limited to the following:

- Purpose of the independent living arrangement, with time frames for achieving the goals identified;
- List and description of agency's activities to support achievement of the identified purpose of the independent living arrangement.
 Activities provided by the agency can include counseling, transportation, payment of particular special needs, etc;
- List and description of youth's activities to attain achievement of the identified purpose of the independent living arrangement. Activities the youth can include are school, employment, therapy, etc;
- Method, frequency, and amount of financial payment as prescribed by policy governing rates for independent living arrangements. Refer to Section 12.5;
- The condition and frequency of supervision;
- Youth's understanding that the physical arrangements must be approved by the agency;
- Youth's responsibility to inform the agency within 72 hours of any major changes in his/her situation, such as housing or employment changes; and
- The right of either the worker or the youth to request a conference with the worker's supervisor or agency director when terms of the agreement are not met by either party.

9.7.5 ACHIEVING THE GOAL of INDEPENDENT LIVING

The goal of Independent Living is achieved when the youth leaves foster care by:

- being emancipated by the Court; and/or
- has achieved the goals of his/her Independent Living Plan and according to the Agency assessment is ready to live independently without Agency support; and/or
- has reached the age of 21.

9.8 Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement

9.8.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

THIS GOAL PROVIDES LONG TERM RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT FOR CHILDREN WITH A SEVERE AND CHRONIC EMOTIONAL, PHYSICAL OR NEUROLOGICAL DISABLING CONDITION. IF THE GOAL OF "ANOTHER

PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" IS SELECTED FOR A CHILD, ALL THE HIGHER-RANKING GOALS MUST HAVE BEEN EXPLORED AND RULED OUT CONSISTENT WITH THE CHILD'S BEST INTEREST. The Foster Care Service Plan must document that the feasibility of higher-ranking goals has been considered and contain a statement that support why none of these alternative permanent goals are in the child's best interest. (Refer to Section 7.7 for additional information).

9.8.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The team should consist of the social worker, birth parents, and other service providers. The team will identify the goal and objectives necessary to return the child to the parent(s)/community, the services needed to provide treatment for the child's disabling condition, and transitional services when the child is returned to his/her parent(s)/community.

9.8.3 ACHIEVING THE GOAL OF ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT

The intent of the goal is to obtain treatment for the child until the child no longer needs residential treatment for his/her disabling condition.

9.9 Continued Foster Care

9.9.1 FOCUS OF SERVICES

Protection: services are provided to meet the needs of the child, while the agency strives to choose another goal.

9.9.2 HOW THE TEAM IS USED

The team identifies services or steps that need to be taken to identify another achievable goal.

9.9.3 ACHIEVING THE GOAL OF CONTINUED FOSTER CARE

This goal cannot be achieved. It is not a permanency goal.

9.10 Working With Foster Parents And Providers

As team members, foster parents and providers:

 Should be contacted as often as needed but at least monthly. Note: Foster homes approved for permanent placement of a specific child shall be contacted at least every six months.

- SECTION/PAGE 9-41
- Shall participate in conferences related to service planning for a child in the home or placement.
- Shall be given information they may need about the child, and shall keep this information confidential. They must be given the foster care service plan and educational and medical information about the child.
- Shall gather mementoes (report cards, pictures, awards, etc.) that will go with the child when he/she leaves or may be utilized in preparation of a life book. See Section 9.5.4 for information on life books.
- Shall be given notice, whenever possible, as specified in the boarding or placement agreement, when a change in placement is to occur.

9.11 Case Management

(Also Refer To Vol. VII, Section I, Chapter B)

9.11.1 CASE COORDINATION

The case manager is responsible for coordinating the on-going activities of the permanency team and ensuring that federal, state, and local requirements pertaining to service plans, case reviews, hearings, purchasing, and documentation, etc. are met.

9.11.2 VISITING THE CHILD

- 9.11.2.1 All contacts with the child must be documented on the contacts screens in OASIS.
- 9.11.2.2 Ongoing Visits: A worker should have a face-to-face visit with the child including those youth in independent living situations, at least monthly in the child's home or placement. If unable to conduct these visits on a monthly basis, face-to-face visits with the child in his or her home must occur no less than quarterly. When courtesy supervision is provided by another agency, that agency is responsible for the visits. The only exception to the monthly visitation requirement is for children in an approved permanent foster care status who must be visited at least once every six months, in the permanent foster home.

9.11.2.3 Ongoing Visits for Out-of-state Placements

Ongoing visits with a child placed outside Virginia with relatives, in a foster home, or an adoptive home may be made by the agency in the receiving state authorized by the Interstate Compact to provide supervision. A worker should have a face-to-face visit with the child at least monthly in the child's home or placement. If unable to conduct these visits on a monthly basis, face-to-face visits with the child in his or her home or placement must occur no less than quarterly.

9.11.2.4 Visits to Residential Placements

On-site visits are required for children placed in residential facilities except when a child is placed out-of-state and arrangements have been made with a social worker in the other state to conduct the visit. A worker should have a face-to-face visit with the child including those youth in independent living situations, at least monthly in the child's home or placement. If unable to conduct out-of-state visits on a monthly basis, face-to-face visits with the child in his or her home must occur no less than quarterly.

The Children's Residential Facility Observation Report (located in OASIS) must be completed to record observations made during these visits. If there is suspicion of a licensing violation in any Virginia public or private facility serving children, hospital, treatment or rehabilitation center, the appropriate licensing authority should be notified. The Division of Interdepartmental Regulations website at:

http://www.dss.state.va.us/division/interreg/index.html

may be accessed to locate the state agency with responsibility for licensing each facility. Web-site locations for the licensing authorities in Virginia are listed below:

Department of Mental Health, Mental Retardation and Substance Abuse Services: http://www.dmhmrsas.state.va.us/

Department of Juvenile Justice: http://www.djj.state.va.us/

Department of Education: http://www.pen.k12.va.us/

Department of Social Services: http://www.dss.state.va.us/

If the agency is located outside of Virginia, the appropriate state's Child Abuse Hotline can be found at: _

http://www.kidshelp.org/phonenumbers.htm

In NO instance should the Children's Residential Facility Observation Report take the place of a child protective service abuse and neglect complaint. If a situation in an in-state or out-of-state facility warrant a CPS complaint, the complaint should be filed through normal reporting channels in addition to completing and submitting the Observation Report.

9.11.3 <u>REFERRING CASES FOR REVIEW BY THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM (FAPT)</u>

When serving as case manager for a FAPT case, the worker is responsible for:

- Providing information to the FAPT to be used in up-dating and revising the Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP) and/or the foster care service plan;
- NOTIFYING FOSTER PARENTS IN ADVANCE OF ALL FAPT MEETINGS RELATED TO A CHILD WHO HAS THE GOAL OF PERMANENT FOSTER CARE OR IS IN A LONG-TERM FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT. Long-term placement is twelve months or longer. THE FOSTER PARENTS HAVE THE RIGHT TO EITHER SPEAK AT THE MEETINGS OR SUBMIT WRITTEN RECOMMENDATIONS AND TESTIMONY. THE FAPT SHALL CONSIDER THE FOSTER PARENTS' OPINIONS IN DEVELOPING THE SERVICE PLAN.
- Participating in all FAPT reviews, and encouraging the parent(s) to participate in FAPT reviews: and
- Complying with local and state CSA policies and procedures.

9.11.4 COMPLETION OF OASIS REQUIREMENTS

OASIS MUST BE KEPT UP-TO-DATE TO REFLECT REQUIRED ELEMENTS NEEDED FOR AFCARS COMPLIANCE AND COMPLIANCE WITH OTHER FEDERAL AND STATE REQUIREMENTS. THE AFCARS ELEMENTS ARE HIGHLIGHTED IN RED IN THE SYSTEM, WHILE THE OTHER MANDATED ELEMENTS ARE HIGHLIGHTED IN YELLOW. (See Appendix B for AFCARS elements) The worker is responsible for entering and updating all case data in OASIS as soon as possible, but no later than 30 days after, each activity or event.

9.11.5 COMPLETION OF THE CASE NARRATIVE

The case narrative must include a detailed chronological account of what is occurring in a case. The narrative should very clearly describe events, contacts, dates, parties involved, problems, interventions and all other activity regarding the case. Information included in the case narrative should be of such a detailed nature as to provide other readers a clear understanding of developments and issues in the case. The case narrative is required in OASIS and is to be entered on the contacts screen in the comments box. While not required, hard copies of the narrative may be printed and placed in the case file.

The case narrative in OASIS should include, but is not limited to, descriptions of the following events and activities:

- face-to-face client contacts
- court hearings
- family visits
- provider contacts
- telephone contacts

9.12 Services To Older Youth In Foster Care

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-44

Opportunities for Independent Living activities, services, and learning experiences should be provided to youth in foster care no matter what their permanency goal. (Refer to section 9.7.1 and 9.7.3 for information regarding types of independent living services).

INDEPENDENT LIVING ACTIVITIES SHOULD NOT BE SEEN AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO PERMANENCE FOR ANY YOUTH. RATHER, THEY SHOULD BE PROVIDED TO YOUTH WHILE CONCURRENTLY PURSUING RETURN HOME, ADOPTION AND OTHER PERMANENCY GOALS (Foster Care Independence Act of 1999).

9.12.1 ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS FOR ILP SERVICES

ILP Services will be provided to youth, ages 16-21, who are in a foster care placement. A Transitional Independent Living Plan is required for all youth, ages 16-21, who are in a foster care placement. Young people, 18 to 21, who have left foster care to live on their own, are eligible for ILP services through Chafee Foster Care Independence Program funds. See section 12.15.

9.12.2 HOW LONG A YOUTH MAY RECEIVE SERVICES AND SUPPORT FROM THE AGENCY

Even though anyone over the age of 18 is an adult under Virginia law, a child in foster care before the age of 18 may continue to receive services from the local agency between age 18 to 21 if:

- The youth willingly agrees to remain in placement and cooperate with all services and this is documented in the case record; and
- The youth is making progress in an educational, treatment or training program; or
- IF THE YOUTH IS IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE, REQUIRES CONTINUING FOSTER CARE ASSISTANCE TO PARTICIPATE IN AN EDUCATIONAL, TRAINING, OR TREATMENT PROGRAM, AND WISHES TO REMAIN IN FOSTER CARE, THE AGENCY MUST MAINTAIN THAT YOUTH IN FOSTER CARE UNTIL AGE 21. (§63.2-908)

9.13 Providing Medical Services And Treatment For The Child

9.13.1 CONSENT FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR CHILDREN IN CUSTODY

WHERE POSSIBLE, PARENT(S) OF A CHILD WHO IS COMMITTED OR ENTRUSTED TO A LOCAL AGENCY SHOULD ALWAYS BE INVOLVED IN THE MEDICAL PLANNING FOR THE CHILD. WHEN PARENT(S) ARE NOT AVAILABLE, OR THEIR CONSENT CANNOT BE OBTAINED IMMEDIATELY, A COURT ORDER IS REQUIRED FOR MAJOR MEDICAL/SURGERY TREATMENT. IF THE COURT ORDER IS NOT READILY AVAILABLE, THE SUPERINTENDENT, DIRECTOR OR HIS/HER DESIGNEE MAY CONSENT. (§§16.1-241 and 54.1-2969 A.2)

- A judge may give blanket authority to the agency to give consent. Such blanket authority should be in writing and signed by the judge.
- Any authorized person who consents to medical/surgical treatment of the child must make a reasonable effort to notify parent(s)/guardians as soon as possible.
- Foster parents, adoptive parents prior to the final order, and residential facilities can obtain routine or minor medical care for the child.

9.13.2 CONSENT FOR MEDICAL TREATMENT FOR CHILDREN PLACED IN FOSTER CARE THROUGH NON-CUSTODIAL AGREEMENTS WHERE PARENT(S) RETAIN CUSTODY

Parent(s) or guardians of children in non-custodial foster care placements must provide consent for medical treatment, except in those instances where consent has been delegated to the agency in the non-custodial foster care agreement with the agency.

9.13.3 WHEN A MINOR MAY CONSENT TO MEDICAL AND HEALTH SERVICES

- TO DETERMINE THE PRESENCE OR TREATMENT OF VENEREAL DISEASE OR ANY INFECTIONS OR CONTAGIOUS DISEASE REPORTABLE TO THE STATE HEALTH DEPARTMENT;
- FOR BIRTH CONTROL, PREGNANCY, FAMILY PLANNING AND OUT-PATIENT CARE; and
- FOR TREATMENT OR REHABILITATION FOR SUBSTANCE ABUSE, MENTAL ILLNESS OR EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE (§54.1-2969 E).

9.13.4 AUTHORITY OF PERMANENT FOSTER PARENTS TO GIVE CONSENT FOR MEDICAL CARE

THE FOSTER PARENT OF A CHILD IN A COURT APPROVED PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT HAS THE RIGHT TO CONSENT TO SURGERY UNLESS THE COURT ORDER FOR PLACEMENT HAS MODIFIED THIS RIGHT. (§ 63.2-908)

9.13.5 MEDICAL CARE AND TREATMENT TO BE PROVIDED TO A CHILD IN FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT

- 9.13.5.1 A medical examination of the child, using EPSDT, should be obtained no later than 60 days after placement, commitment or entrustment.
- 9.13.5.2 Periodic routine medical and dental examinations at least annually for children four years of age and over must be provided. For children less than four, the agency should follow the EPSDT check-up chart or document in the record reasons why it is not being followed.

9.13.5.3 Medical care must be provided for the child who is ill or injured and ongoing medical treatment for the child with physical, mental or emotional disabilities.

9.14 Providing Services During Residential Placement

9.14.1 THE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AGENCY

- Maintain telephone contact with the facility staff to coordinate services as often as possible but no less than once a month. These contacts must be documented using the contact screen in OASIS.
- Workers should visit the child in the residential facility at least monthly. If unable to conduct these visits on a monthly basis, face-to-face visits with the child in the residential placement must occur no less than quarterly to ensure appropriate care is being given, to ensure the implementation and continued suitability of the treatment plan and to keep all parties informed of any and all actions and/or progress in the case. Children placed in emergency temporary care facilities must be visited at least once a month and more often if needed. These contacts must be documented in OASIS on the contact screen.
- Continue contact with and services to the parents while the child is in residential care. The agency and facility must encourage and assist with, where possible, visits between the child and parents. The parents must be kept informed of their child's progress and needs while in placement.
- Complete the Children's Residential Facility Observation Report form available in OASIS, after every visit.
- Develop a plan to transition the child back to the family or community. The Family Assessment and Planning Team may be utilized to facilitate the development and access to coordinated and community-based services when the child returns to the community.
- Arrange for or provide services to transition the child from the facility back to the community.
- Ensure that local purchase of service procedures is followed.

9.14.2 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF RESIDENTIAL FACILITIES BASED UPON LICENSING STANDARDS

PREPARE A PLAN FOR THE CHILD WITHIN 30 DAYS OF CHILD'S PLACEMENT IN THE RESIDENTIAL FACILITY. THIS PLAN MUST PROVIDE GOALS AND OBJECTIVES FOR MEETING THE NEEDS OF THE CHILD. THIS PLAN SHOULD INCLUDE TRANSITION SERVICES THAT WILL HELP THE CHILD TO RETURN TO PARENT/COMMUNITY WITHIN A SPECIFIED TIME AS DEFINED IN THE SERVICE PLAN.

- NOTIFY THE AGENCY OF THE CHILD'S PROGRESS AND BEHAVIORS, INCLUDING ANY SERIOUS INCIDENT, WHILE THE CHILD IS IN RESIDENTIAL CARE THROUGH REGULAR REPORTS.
- COORDINATE TREATMENT SERVICES FOR THE CHILD.

9.14.3 RETURNING THE CHILD TO THE FAMILY AND COMMUNITY

In order to ensure the successful return of the child to the home/community, the service plan must include treatment objectives, timelines and outcomes. (See Section 8.4) Supportive services must be identified and provided to the child and family when the child returns to the community.

9.15 Providing Special Education Services

- 9.15.1 SCHOOL DIVISIONS ARE MANDATED BY LAW TO PROVIDE, WITHOUT COST, INSTRUCTION SPECIFICALLY DESIGNED TO MEET THE UNIQUE NEEDS OF CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES, AGES 2 THROUGH 21 (§22.1-214).
- 9.15.2 A CHILD IS DETERMINED ELIGIBLE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION and related SERVICES by an eligibility team at the school. This team uses data gathered THROUGH A COMPREHENSIVE EVALUATION. The school division may use data provided by the local agency or other source (e.g., psychological, medical, hearing or vision screenings/evaluation, and sociocultural evaluations). This team makes its decision for such services no later than 65 business days after the referral for the evaluation is received by the division.
- 9.15.3 THE SCHOOL DIVISION MUST DEVELOP AN INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM (IEP) WITHIN 30 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER ELIGIBILITY HAS BEEN DETERMINED.
- 9.15.4 If the child's parent cannot be found or parental rights have been terminated, SCHOOL DIVISIONS ARE REQUIRED BY LAW TO TRAIN AND APPOINT SURROGATE PARENTS TO REPRESENT THE EDUCATIONAL INTERESTS OF the CHILDREN, which may include those in the custody of local departments. WHEN A SURROGATE PARENT IS APPOINTED, THAT INDIVIDUAL holds THE SAME RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES RELATIVE TO THE CHILD'S EDUCATION AS ARE AFFORDED TO PARENTS. Local school division may appoint the foster parent as the surrogate parent. When parental rights are terminated, the child is in permanent foster care, and the foster parents have an ongoing, long-term relationship with the child, the school division may recognize the foster parent as the parent. A surrogate parent is not required for a child in a non-custodial placement. The parent or guardian is responsible for requesting services and signing IEPs. The federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act prohibits LOCAL AGENCY STAFF FROM SERVING AS PARENTS (or surrogate parents) FOR CHILDREN IN AGENCY CUSTODY.

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 9-48

- 9.15.5 If the child's PARENTS (which includes birth parents, adoptive parents, permanent foster parents (in the situation described above)or surrogate parent disagree with the evaluation conducted by the division, they MAY REQUEST AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATION AT PUBLIC EXPENSE.
- 9.15.6 If the local agency or foster parents have any concerns or disagreements about a foster care child's special education program or implementation of the special education procedures, the local agency social workers should first contact the director of special education in the local school division for resolution. If resolution is not achieved at the local level, the local agency may contact the Virginia Department of Education's Dispute Resolution and Administrative Services unit in the Division of Special Education and Related Services (http://www.pen.k12.va.us/VDOE/sess/ for more information about mediation, complaints and due process hearings.

9.16 Providing Respite Care Services

Respite care is a therapeutic support service designed to offer short-term relief to families caring for children by providing substitute care for children. The purpose of respite care for families, including foster families, is to reduce foster home disruption and provide a stable foster care placement for the child. It can be provided on an emergency or planned basis. The following requirements must be met:

- The respite care provider must be approved by the agency as meeting out-of-home or in-home provider standards or be a licensed provider.
- Respite care can be provided for up to 30 days per year. If more than 30 days per year is needed for a child with special needs, the reasons for the need for additional respite care should be documented in the record. Respite care should not extend beyond 60 days per year.
- Respite care is not the provision of an emergency placement when a placement has disrupted, or short term placement of a child in a residential facility for the purposes of treatment.
- The agency shall assure that a basic orientation to the agency's mission and goals, policies and procedures related to medical treatment, emergencies, liability, transportation, and confidentiality and information about the child is provided to the respite care provider prior to the commencement of services.
- Respite care is a service. While the child is receiving respite care services, the foster parents shall continue to receive foster care maintenance payments.

10. Reassessments, Reviews, And Re-Determinations

10.1 Reviewing The Service Plan: Legal Authority

STATE BOARD POLICY AND THE *CODE OF VIRGINIA* REQUIRE THAT SERVICE PLANS FOR CHILDREN IN CUSTODY OR FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT BE REVIEWED TO ASSURE THE EFFECTIVENESS OF PERMANENCY PLANNING FOR EVERY CHILD. PROCEDURES FOR REVIEW ARE DESCRIBED BELOW, (§63.2-907 AND 16.1-282). A FORMAL REVIEW MUST BE HELD AT LEAST EVERY SIX MONTHS. The Types of Reviews Are Foster Care Review Hearings, Permanency Planning Hearings, Administrative Panel Reviews, and Supervisory Reviews. These review dates must be entered into OASIS.

10.2 Reassessments and Reviews

10.2.1 TYPES OF REVIEWS AND HEARINGS

FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING (§16.1-282): THIS IS A COURT HEARING TO REVIEW PROGRESS MADE ON THE FOSTER CARE PLAN. THIS HEARING IS HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE 75-DAY DISPOSITIONAL HEARING OR THE HEARING APPROVING THE ENTRUSTMENT AGREEMENT AND CONTINUE TO BE HELD IN CERTAIN INSTANCES.

<u>PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING (§16.2-282.1)</u>: THIS IS A COURT HEARING WHERE ACTION IS TO BE TAKEN BY THE COURT TO ACHIEVE PERMANENCY FOR A CHILD. THIS HEARING IS HELD:

- WITHIN FIVE MONTHS OF THE FIRST FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING;
 AND
- WITHIN 11 MONTHS OF THE DISPOSITIONAL HEARING; AND
- WITHIN 14 MONTHS OF PLACEMENT.

A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING MAY BE HELD EARLIER IF PERMANENCY CAN BE ACHIEVED FOR THE CHILD EARLIER. IF A PERMANENT PLAN CANNOT BE ACHIEVED AT THIS HEARING, A SECOND PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING SHALL BE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS. THE COURT MUST MAKE A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE. (See 10.4 for a "Basic Time Line" of the Court Hearing dates and requirements).

IF THE COURT DETERMINES THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS DO NOT NEED TO BE MADE TO REUNITE THE CHILD WITH THE PARENT AT A HEARING OTHER THAN A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING, A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING MUST BE HELD WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THAT DETERMINATION.

<u>ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS</u>: FEDERAL LAW REQUIRES REVIEWS EVERY SIX MONTHS. THESE MAY BE COURT REVIEWS OR A COURT

REVIEW ALTERNATING WITH AN ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS (APRs). PANEL REVIEWS ARE NOT COURT HEARINGS, BUT AGENCY REVIEWS HELD INSTEAD OF COURT REVIEWS FOR CHILDREN WHO HAVE A PERMANENT GOAL. THEY ARE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING WHERE A PERMANENCY GOAL IS APPROVED AND YEARLY THEREAFTER, ALTERNATING WITH COURT REVIEWS AS APPROPRIATE.

LOCAL SUPERVISORY REVIEWS: THESE ARE REVIEWS FOR CHILDREN AGE 18 AND OVER WHO ARE IN FOSTER CARE. COURT HEARINGS ARE NOT REQUIRED FOR THESE CHILDREN. THESE REVIEWS ARE HELD EVERY SIX MONTHS.

10.2.2 PARENTAL ATTENDANCE AT COURT HEARINGS

PARENTS ARE TO BE PROVIDED NOTICE OF EACH HEARING BY THE COURT. AT EACH HEARING, THEY WILL BE GIVEN NOTICE OF THE NEXT HEARING. IF THEY ARE NOT PRESENT, THEY SHALL BE SUMMONED TO THE NEXT HEARING. IF THEY HAVE BEEN GIVEN PROPER NOTICE, OR THE COURT DETERMINES THEY CANNOT BE FOUND AFTER REASONABLE EFFORT, THE HEARING MAY BE HELD WITHOUT PARENTS PRESENT. The intent of this requirement is to encourage parental attendance at all hearings. Exception: Parents whose rights have been terminated do not receive notice.

FOSTER PARENTS AND PRE-ADOPTIVE PARENTS ARE TO BE NOTIFIED OF EVERY HEARING. THEIR NAMES SHOULD BE INCLUDED ON THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TRANSMITTAL SUBMITTED TO THE COURT.

10.2.3 SCHEDULING OF COURT HEARINGS

AT EACH COURT HEARING, THE COURT SHALL SCHEDULE ON THE DOCKET THE NEXT COURT HEARING. THE COURT WILL ALSO PROVIDE NOTICE TO THOSE PRESENT WHO NEED TO ATTEND THE NEXT HEARING. If the court establishes the next court date on the docket, the agency will not have to ask the court to set a court date.

10.2.4 COMPLETING THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN REVIEW FORM

Prior to the Foster Care Review Hearing, the Permanency Planning Hearing, or the Administrative Panel Review, the worker should reassess the progress that has been made toward meeting the goal in the service plan. The worker should record the results of that reassessment on the Service Plan Review Form developed in accordance with the requirements below. The review form provides a description of what has happened in the case since the service plan was developed. When the goal for the child is adoption, the required Adoption Progress Report may substitute for the foster care service plan review form.

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 10-2

Input from the birth family or prior custodian, foster parents, or other providers, and when appropriate, the child, should be sought in completing this reassessment.

The Service Plan Review Form must be signed by the worker and supervisor, and includes:

- The services which were offered to the child and family to meet the needs identified in the last service plan;
- The appropriateness of services, and the barriers to goal achievement, including:
 - An identification of resources that are needed by the family that are not available in the community; and
 - A discussion of the effectiveness of the services provided;
- Any changes in the service plan, such as changes in services, placement, or visitation;
- THE REASONS FOR RETAINING THE CHILD IN CARE, INCLUDING EFFORTS TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME, AND WHEN APPROPRIATE, AN ASSESSMENT OF THE RISK TO THE CHILD SHOULD THE CHILD RETURN HOME OR BE PLACED WITH RELATIVES;
- The birth family's or prior custodian's current situation;
- The frequency, duration, location, and results of any visitation;
- Information about the child's relationship with the birth family, including relatives;
- Information regarding the child's current relationship with siblings and, if siblings are not placed together, services being provided to achieve reunification and maintain contact among siblings;
- Pertinent information about birth, medical and developmental history of the child, if not available in prior assessments;
- INFORMATION ON CURRENT HEALTH AND PHYSICAL DEVELOPMENT AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ANY NECESSARY FOLLOW-UP TREATMENT OR FURTHER CHECKUP WITH SPECIALISTS;
- Current information on psychological, social and educational functioning with specific descriptions and recommendations regarding peer relationships, coping mechanisms, learning disabilities, emotional symptoms or behavior problems.
 THE REVIEW MUST ADDRESS THE CURRENT EDUCATIONAL STATUS OF THE CHILD:
- Information from the foster parents or other providers about the child's adjustment to foster care and the child's current level of social and emotional

functioning. Information about the child's relationship with the foster parents or other providers to assess the degree of attachment with the child.

- ANY CHANGES IN IDENTIFIED NEEDS AND SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED DURING THE NEXT SIX MONTHS FOR CHILDREN AND THEIR FAMILIES; and
- A statement that parents with residual parental rights or prior custodians have been notified in writing of any change in placement, visitation privileges, and provided 10 days advance notice of the panel review.

10.2.5 FIRST FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING

- 10.2.5.1 THE PURPOSE OF THE FIRST FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING IS TO REVIEW THE PROGRESS MADE ON THE INITIAL FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN OR MAKE CHANGES IN THE PLAN PURSUANT TO §16.1-282.
- 10.2.5.2 THE FIRST FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING IS SCHEDULED TO BE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS AFTER THE 75-DAY HEARING OR THE HEARING AT WHICH THE FOSTER CARE PLAN IS INITIALLY REVIEWED.
- 10.2.5.3 THIRTY (30) DAYS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED HEARING, THE AGENCY WILL SUBMIT TO THE COURT:

A PETITION FOR A FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING

A FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN REVIEW FORM WHICH SHALL INCLUDE ANY UPDATES TO THE INITIAL FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN; AND

A FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TRANSMITTAL LISTING INDIVIDUALS WHO SHOULD RECEIVE A COPY OF THE PETITION AND/OR BE NOTIFIED OF THE HEARING. THESE INCLUDE THE CHILD, IF AGE 12 OR OVER, THE PARENTS, GUARDIAN, OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN, THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM, THE FOSTER PARENTS, THE AGENCY AND ANY OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES THE COURT DIRECTS. A NEW FOSTER CARE PLAN IS NOT REQUIRED UNLESS THE GOAL CHANGES.

10.2.5.4 THE COURT WILL REVIEW PROGRESS TOWARD MEETING THE FOSTER CARE GOAL, APPROVE CHANGES TO THE PLAN, ENTER ANY APPROPRIATE ORDERS, AND DETERMINE WHETHER REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME IF THAT IS THE GOAL OR TO FINALIZE ANOTHER PERMANENT PLACEMENT.

April 2004

THE SERVICE WORKER MUST VERIFY THAT THE JUDGE HAS CORRECTLY CHECKED THE BOX THAT INDICATES REASONABLE EFFORTS HAVE BEEN MADE.

10.2.6 PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING (§16.1-281.1), ADOPTIONS AND SAFE FAMILIES ACT OF 1997

- 10.2.6.1 The purpose of this hearing is to ESTABLISH A PERMANENT GOAL FOR A CHILD AND EITHER TO ACHIEVE THE PERMANENT GOAL OR TO DEFER SUCH ACTION THROUGH THE APPROVAL OF AN INTERIM PLAN FOR THE CHILD. Due to the requirements of the Adoptions and Safe Families Act of 1997, agencies need to follow the requirements for the Permanency Planning Hearing carefully.
- 10.2.6.2 THIS HEARING SHOULD BE SCHEDULED AT THE PREVIOUS FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING. THE FIRST PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING MUST OCCUR WITHIN FIVE MONTHS OF THE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING AND WITHIN 14 MONTHS OF THE DATE OF PLACEMENT.
- 10.2.6.3 THIRTY DAYS PRIOR TO THE HEARING, SUBMIT TO COURT:

A PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING PETITION. THE AGENCY SHALL PETITION THE COURT TO TAKE ONE OF THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS:

- RETURN CUSTODY TO PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIANS.
- TRANSFER CUSTODY TO RELATIVES
- DISSOLVE THE NON-CUSTODIAL AGREEMENT AND RETURN THE CHILD HOME.
- TERMINATE PARENTAL RESIDUAL RIGHTS PURSUANT TO §16.1-283. THE AGENCY MUST FILE A SERVICE PLAN CHANGING THE GOAL TO ADOPTION.
- PLACE THE CHILD IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE. THE AGENCY MUST IDENTIFY THE PERMANENT FOSTER PARENTS.
- APPROVE THE GOAL OF INDEPENDENT LIVING FOR A CHILD 16 AND OVER IF OTHER GOALS ARE NOT APPROPRIATE. THE AGENCY MUST FILE A SERVICE PLAN, WHICH INCLUDES A TRANSITION PLAN.
- APPROVE THE GOAL OF ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT.
- CONTINUE CUSTODY WITH THE AGENCY, OR

 TRANSFER CUSTODY TO THE AGENCY OF A CHILD IN NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE.

A FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TRANSMITTAL FORM WITH THE NAMES AND ADDRESSES OF INDIVIDUALS WHO SHOULD RECEIVE THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN AND/OR BE NOTIFIED OF THE HEARING. THESE INCLUDE THE CHILD, IF AGE 12 AND OVER; THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM; CHILD'S PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN; PARENTS' ATTORNEY, FOSTER PARENTS; PRE-ADOPTIVE PARENTS, THE AGENCY; AND OTHER INTERESTED PARTIES THE COURT DIRECTS, SUCH AS ATTORNEYS FOR DSS, OR CASA.

A NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN REVIEW FORM.

A NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN. THE PLAN SUBMITTED AT THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING MUST ADDRESS ADDITIONAL ISSUES RELATED TO ACHIEVING PERMANENCY FOR THE CHILD WHEN A CHILD CONTINUES IN FOSTER CARE. THEY ARE AS FOLLOWS:

- IF THE AGENCY DECIDES THAT IT IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD TO ASK FOR CONTINUED CUSTODY AND THE GOALS ARE RETURN HOME, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, OR CONTINUED FOSTER CARE, THE AGENCY MUST DESCRIBE IN THE SERVICE PLAN HOW THE AGENCY INTENDS TO ACCOMPLISH THE GOALS OF RETURN HOME OR PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES IN THE NEXT SIX MONTHS. IF THE GOAL IS CONTINUED FOSTER CARE, THE AGENCY MUST IDENTIFY A NEW GOAL AND DESCRIBE HOW IT WILL ACHIEVE THAT GOAL IN THE NEXT SIX MONTHS; AND
- THE AGENCY MUST EXPLAIN IN THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN PART B WHY THE CHILD COULD NOT BE RETURNED HOME, PLACED WITH RELATIVES, OR IF THE GOAL IS CONTINUED FOSTER CARE, ACHIEVE ANY OTHER PERMANENT GOAL AT THIS TIME.
- IF THE AGENCY PETITIONS THE COURT TO TRANSFER CUSTODY TO PARENTS, PRIOR CUSTODIANS OR RELATIVES, THE AGENCY DOES NOT HAVE TO SUBMIT A NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TO THE COURT AT THE PERMANENCY HEARING. IT WILL DESCRIBE THE REUNIFICATION SERVICES THAT WILL BE PROVIDED TO THE FAMILY IN THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN REVIEW FORM. IF THE COURT DOES NOT APPROVE THE TRANSFER OF CUSTODY, THE AGENCY WILL NEED TO DEVELOP A NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN IDENTIFYING HOW IT WILL ACHIEVE THE GOAL FOR THE CHILD IN THE NEXT SIX MONTHS.

- THE AGENCY MUST DETERMINE WHETHER IT WILL PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS. IF THE AGENCY DETERMINES IT WILL NOT PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS AT THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING, IT MUST DOCUMENT IN THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN OR THE PERMANENCY PLAN (PART B) ONE OF THE FOLLOWING EXCEPTIONS:
 - TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS NOT IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD. THE LAW REQUIRES THAT THE AGENCY DOCUMENT A COMPELLING REASON EXPLAINING WHY TERMINATION IS NOT IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD,
 - THE CHILD IS BEING CARED FOR BY A RELATIVE, OR
 - THE AGENCY HAS NOT PROVIDED SERVICES TO THE PARENTS DEEMED NECESSARY FOR THE SAFE RETURN OF THE CHILD.

Examples of compelling reasons for not petitioning for termination of parental rights would include a youth not wishing to be adopted after a thorough discussion of adoption, a child in a long-term permanent foster care home where the foster parents do not wish to adopt, a plan to return the child to a parent or place with relative which needs additional time to achieve, or lack of grounds for termination. See Section 9.5.5.10.

IF THE AGENCY DETERMINES IT WILL PETITION FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS, IT MUST:

- FILE A PETITION WHICH STATES TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD.
- FILE A SERVICE PLAN WITH THE GOAL OF ADOPTION.
- FILE PETITION(S) FOR TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS IF IT IS READY TO DO SO. IF THE AGENCY DOES NOT PETITION AT THAT HEARING, IT SHOULD PETITION WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE HEARING TO ASSURE THAT FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS ARE MET. FEDERAL LAW REQUIRES THAT THE AGENCY PETITION FOR TPR BY THE END OF THE 15TH MONTH OF PLACEMENT FOR CHILDREN ADJUDICATED ABUSED AND NEGLECTED, WHO HAVE BEEN IN CARE 15 OF THE LAST 22 MONTHS AND BY THE END OF THE 15TH MONTH OF PLACEMENT FOR ALL OTHER CHILDREN WHO HAVE BEEN IN CARE 15 OUT OF THE LAST 22 MONTHS UNLESS AN EXCEPTION CITED ABOVE EXISTS. While this provision is not in

April 2004

state statute, it is a requirement of federal law, which Virginia has chosen to implement procedurally.

IF THE COURT DOES NOT APPROVE THE AGENCY'S REQUEST TO CHANGE THE GOAL TO ADOPTION OR SEEK TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS, THE AGENCY WILL NOT BE REQUIRED TO PETITION FOR TPR SINCE THE COURT HAD DETERMINED THAT ANOTHER COURSE OF ACTION IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD.

- 10.2.6.4 THE COURT WILL ORDER ONE OF THE FOLLOWING PERMANENCY ACTIONS, DOCUMENTING ITS FINDINGS ON THE PERMANENCY PLAN ORDER:
 - APPROVE THE AGENCY PLAN FOR THE CHILD, WHICH TRANSFERS CUSTODY TO PARENTS, PRIOR CUSTODIANS, OR RELATIVES;
 - CHANGE THE GOAL TO ADOPTION AND BEGIN THE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS PROCESS;
 - ORDER THE AGENCY TO PROVIDE THE CHILD INDEPENDENT LIVING SERVICES; OR
 - PLACE THE CHILD IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE.
 - APPROVE THE GOAL OF "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT".
 - HEARINGS MAY END FOR CHILDREN WHOSE CUSTODY IS TRANSFERRED TO PARENTS, PRIOR CUSTODIANS, OR RELATIVES.
 - IN ALL CASES, THE COURT WILL SCHEDULE THE NEXT FOSTER CARE REVIEW TO OCCUR WITHIN ONE YEAR AND PROVIDE NOTICE TO ALL PRESENT; OR
 - APPROVE CONTINUED CUSTODY OR PLACEMENT WITH THE GOAL OF RETURN HOME. THE COURT MUST DETERMINE THAT THE PARENT(S) ARE MAKING PROGRESS, HAVE MAINTAINED A CLOSE RELATIONSHIP WITH THE CHILD, THE CHILD IS LIKELY TO RETURN HOME IN THE NEAR FUTURE, AND THE AGENCY IS MAKING REASONABLE EFFORTS TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME. THE COURT MUST MAKE A JUDICIAL DETERMINATION THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS ARE BEING MADE AND DOCUMENT THIS IN THE COURT ORDER. THE COURT WILL SCHEDULE A SECOND PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING TO OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS; OR

- APPROVE CONTINUED CUSTODY WITH THE AGENCY AND THE PLAN TO ACHIEVE ANOTHER PERMANENT GOAL WITHIN SIX MONTHS. THE COURT MUST DETERMINE THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE A PERMANENCY PLAN ARE BEING MADE, BUT IT IS PREMATURE TO TRANSFER CUSTODY OR ACHIEVE A PERMANENT GOAL FOR THE CHILD AT THIS TIME. THE COURT WILL SCHEDULE A SECOND PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING TO BE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS; OR
- APPROVE "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT", AND SCHEDULE A FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARING TO BE HELD WITHIN SIX MONTHS TO REVIEW THE CHILD'S PLACEMENT. THE COURT SHALL REVIEW A FOSTER CARE PLAN FOR ANY CHILD WHO IS PLACED IN ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT EVERY SIX MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. THESE SIX-MONTH REVIEWS MUST CONTINUE AS LONG AS THE CHILD CONTINUES TO HAVE A SEVERE DISABLING CONDITION FOR WHICH THE CHILD REQUIRES RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT AND REMAINS IN THE LEGAL CUSTODY OR PLACEMENT AUTHORITY OF THE AGENCY. (§16.1-282.1) THE COURT ORDER MUST DOCUMENT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE A PERMANENCY PLAN ARE BEING MADE.

DOCUMENTATION IN OASIS: PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARINGS MUST BE DOCUMENTED ON THE COURT/HEARING DETAILS SCREEN, AND THE HEARING DETAIL RESULTS SCREEN.

10.2.7 SUBSEQUENT PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING

THIS HEARING WILL OCCUR WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF THE FIRST PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING SHOULD A PERMANENCY GOAL OR PLAN NOT BE ACHIEVED BY THE FIRST PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. A SECOND PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING OCCURS WHEN THE COURT APPROVES THE GOAL OF RETURN HOME, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, OR CONTINUED FOSTER CARE. THE SAME REQUIREMENTS APPLY TO THIS HEARING AS APPLY TO THE FIRST PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. THE COURT ORDER MUST DOCUMENT THAT REASONABLE EFFORTS ARE BEING MADE TO RETURN THE CHILD HOME OR ACHIEVE ANOTHER PERMANENCY PLAN.

10.2.8 <u>FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS AFTER A PERMANENCY GOAL IS</u> APPROVED

10.2.8.1 THE PURPOSE OF THESE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS IS TO REVIEW PROGRESS IN CASES WHERE THE PERMANENCY GOALS OF REUNIFICATION, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, ADOPTION, PERMANENT FOSTER CARE, INDEPENDENT LIVING, OR

"ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" HAVE BEEN APPROVED.

- 10.2.8.2 WHERE THE GOALS OF REUNIFICATION, PLACEMENT WITH RELATIVES, ADOPTION, OR INDEPENDENT LIVING ARE APPROVED, THE FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS ARE HELD ANNUALLY AFTER THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING. ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS ARE HELD AT SIX-MONTH INTERVALS BETWEEN THESE YEARLY COURT REVIEWS. THESE COURT HEARINGS ARE DISCONTINUED ONCE THE FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION IS ISSUED OR THE CHILD TURNS AGE 18. (Where the goal of permanent foster care has been approved, see section 10.3 regarding annual foster care review hearings).
- 10.2.8.3 WHERE THE GOAL OF "ANOTHER PLANNED PERMANENT LIVING ARRANGEMENT" IS APPROVED, FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS ARE HELD EVERY SIX MONTHS.
- 10.2.8.4 THIRTY DAYS PRIOR TO A SCHEDULED HEARING, THE AGENCY SUBMITS A PETITION FOR FOSTER CARE REVIEW, AN ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT IF THE GOAL IS ADOPTION, THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TRANSMITTAL, SERVICE PLAN REVIEW FORM, AND NEW FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN IF THERE IS A CHANGE IN GOAL.
- 10.2.8.5 THE COURT REVIEWS PROGRESS IN THE CASE, APPROVES THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN, AND ENTERS APPROPRIATE ORDERS DOCUMENTING FINDINGS ON REASONABLE EFFORTS TO ACHIEVE A PERMANENCY PLAN.

10.3 Permanent Foster Care And Reviews

ONCE CHILDREN ARE PLACED IN A COURT APPROVED PERMANENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT WITH A PERMANENT FOSTER FAMILY NAMED IN THE COURT ORDER, THEY ARE TO HAVE ANNUAL FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS SCHEDULED AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE HEARING WHERE THE PERMANENT FOSTER CARE ORDER WAS ENTERED (§16.1-282.2). ANNUAL COURT REVIEWS ARE INTENDED TO ALLOW THE COURT TO CONSIDER THE APPROPRIATENESS OF THE SERVICES PROVIDED AND CHANGES IN CIRCUMSTANCES THAT LED TO THE COURT PLACING THE CHILD IN PERMANENT FOSTER CARE. (See 10.2.8.1; 10.2.8.2; and 10.2.8.4).

PERMANENT FOSTER CARE CASES ARE SUBJECT TO ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS WHICH ARE TO OCCUR EVERY SIX MONTHS, BETWEEN THE ANNUAL JUDICIAL REVIEWS.

10.4 Basic Time Line

TIMING	STATUTE	HEARING TYPE	FORMS
Immediately	§16.1-251 §16.1-253	Emergency Removal Order (ERO)	Petition DC – 511 Emergency Removal Order DC-526 Preliminary Child Protective Order, if necessary, DC-527
Within 5 Days	§16.1-252 §16.1-253	Preliminary Removal Order (PRO) & Adjudication	Petition DC – 511 Preliminary Removal Order DC – 528 Preliminary Child Protective Order, if necessary, DC - 527
Within 30 Days	§16.1-252 §16.1-253	Adjudication, only if no adjudication at PRO	Petition DC - 511
Within 60 Days	§16.1-281	Submission of Foster Care Service Plan. No court hearing at this time	Foster Care Service Plan
Within 75 Days of Preliminary Removal Order Hearing	§16.1- 277.01 §16.1- 277.02 §16.1-278.2 §16.1-278.3 §16.1-281	Disposition – Initial Foster Care Service Plan Reviewed	Child protective Order DC-532 Foster Care Plan Transmittal DC - 552 Foster Care Service Plan Part A Permanency Plan Part B, if initial goal is not return home Dispositional Order for Petition DC – 553
Within 6 months of Disposition	§16.1-282.1	Foster Care Review Hearing	Petition for Foster Care Review Hearing DC – 554 Foster Care Service Plan Transmittal DC – 552 Foster Care Service Plan Review Foster Care Review Order DC - 555
Within 5 months of Foster Care Review Hearing	§16.1-282.1 §16.1-283	Initial Permanency Planning Hearing	Petition for Permanency Planning Hearing DC – 556 Foster Care Service Plan Transmittal DC – 552 New Foster Care Service Plan Part A Permanency Plan Part B Foster Care Service Plan Review Permanency Planning Order DC – 557

TIMING	STATUTE	HEARING TYPE	FORMS
Within 6 months of Initial Permanency Planning Hearing or Second Permanency Planning Hearing	§16.1-282.1	Subsequent Permanency Planning Hearing for goals of Return Home, Placement with Relatives, or Continued Foster Care (If interim plan approved at Initial PPH)	Petition for Permanency Planning Hearing DC – 556 Foster Care Service Plan Transmittal New Foster Care Service Plan Part A Permanency Plan Part B Foster Care Service Plan Review Permanency Planning Order DC – 557
Within 6 months of Second Permanency Planning Hearing and every 12 months thereafter		Administrative Review	Foster Care Service Plan Review Form or Adoption Progress Report Administrative Panel Review Form
6 months from date of approval of Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement (APPLA)	§16.282.1	Foster Care Review Hearing	Petition for Foster Care Review DC – 554 Foster Care Review Order DC – 555 Foster Care Service Plan Transmittal DC – 552 Foster Care Service Plan Review Foster Care Review Order DC - 555
or 12 months from last Permanency Planning Hearing for Adoption prior to final order, Permanent Foster Care or Independent Living		Foster Care Review Hearing	
Filed every 6 months From the date of final order terminating parental rights		Adoption Progress Report Filed until final order of adoption is issued; the court may not hold a hearing	Adoption Progress Report (DSS Form)

10.5 The Adoption Progress Report

IF PARENTAL RIGHTS HAVE BEEN TERMINATED AND THE GOAL FOR THE CHILD IS ADOPTION, THE AGENCY MUST SUBMIT THE ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT TO THE COURT DOCUMENTING PROGRESS TOWARD ADOPTION WITHIN SIX MONTHS OF TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS. THE COURT HAS THE OPTION TO SCHEDULE A HEARING TO REVIEW THIS REPORT. THE COURT WILL HOLD ANNUAL FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS AFTER TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS UNTIL THE FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION IS ISSUED. THE COURT ORDER MUST DOCUMENT REASONABLE EFFORTS TO FINALIZE A PERMANENCY PLAN. THE AGENCY MUST CONTINUE TO SUBMIT THE ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT EVERY SIX MONTHS TO THE COURT UNTIL THE ADOPTION IS FINALIZED.

THE COURT WILL PROVIDE A COPY OF THE ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORT TO THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE CHILD.

THE AGENCY MUST SEND COPIES OF COMPLETED ADOPTION PROGRESS REPORTS TO THE FOSTER CARE AND ADOPTION FAMILY SPECIALIST.

The Adoption Progress Report is completed in adoption cases for those children who have an adoption placement agreement and continues until their adoption has been finalized. The service worker should notify the court when the adoption is finalized. The Adoption Progress Report form may also be used to document the Administrative Panel Review required for children who have the goal of adoption and for whom the timing of the Administrative Panel Review and the required adoption Progress Report coincide. (See 10.6).

10.6 Administrative Panel Reviews

Administrative Panel Reviews are held for children who have a foster care goal of:

- Adoption
- Permanent Foster Care
- Independent Living

Administrative Panel Reviews (APRs) begin SIX MONTHS AFTER A
PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING WHEN one of the above referenced goals is
approved by the court. THE CHILD WILL CONTINUE TO HAVE ADMINISTRATIVE
PANEL REVIEWS ALTERNATING WITH ANNUAL FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS
UNTIL A FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION IS ISSUED OR THE CHILD REACHES AGE 18.

10.6.1 FUNCTION AND PURPOSE OF THE APR

The function of the APR is advisory. Recommendations made as a result of the APR process should be considered in planning services for the child and family. These reviews provide a forum for consideration, discussion, and planning for the care of the child as well as for a review of the effectiveness of service provision for the child and family. These reviews provide an opportunity to ensure that children, parents, the local department, and other team members involved with

the family remain committed to and are making every reasonable effort to achieve the goal identified for the child.

10.6.2 COMPOSITION OF THE REVIEW PANEL AND NOTIFICATION

THE ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW SHALL BE CONDUCTED BY A PANEL OF APPROPRIATE PERSONS AT LEAST ONE OF WHOM IS NOT RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CASE MANAGEMENT OR DELIVERY OF SERVICES TO EITHER THE CHILD OR THE PARENT(S).

The following individuals must be invited to participate in the APR and must be provided with written notice of the meeting at least 30 days in advance:

- 1) Parents who have not had parental rights terminated;
- 2) Foster parents, resource parents and pre-adoptive parents;
- 3) Staff from Child Placing Agencies and Residential placements when applicable;
- 4) Child if age 12 or older unless it is determined to be detrimental to the child's well-being;
- 5) Guardian ad Litem;
- 6) Any professional providing services to the child and parents;
- 7) An outside objective panel member; and
- 8) At the child's request, relatives or other significant persons who have a positive relationship with the child.

Attorneys representing parents and the agency may be invited when determined appropriate by the local department.

Outside objective panel members participating in the review may be (but are not limited to) court service workers, private citizens, staff of other services agencies, multi-discipline team members, other agency workers, FAPT team members or placement providers not involved in the case being reviewed.

CONFIDENTIALITY OF CASE RECORDS MUST BE MAINTAINED and all panel members must sign a confidentiality statement such as those contained in the Administrative Panel Review form or the Individual Family and Service Plan (IFSP). (Sample Invitation Letters for professional staff and one for parents can be accessed in Appendix A).

Input from all panel members should be considered and the local department is the responsible agency to ultimately decide how all input is used in the planning for the child.

THE FAMILY ASSESSMENT AND PLANNING TEAM (FAPT) STAFFING MAY SUBSTITUTE FOR AN APR AS LONG AS THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APR ARE MET.

The Foster Care Service Plan Review Form or the Adoption Progress Report must be completed prior to the Administrative Panel Review. When the goal for the child is adoption, the Administrative Panel Review should, whenever possible, be timed to coincide with the time an Adoption Progress Report is due. If this occurs, the Adoption Progress Report may substitute for the Foster Care Service Plan Review form and the Administrative Panel Review form.

During the APR, the panel must address and make recommendations when needed concerning the following:

- How the services provided during the preceding six months met the needs of the child as defined in the service plan;
- In what ways is the child's current placement meeting the child's needs;
- The parent(s)', child's, and foster care or pre-adoptive provider's or other attending family members issues and concerns regarding planning for the child;
- The agency's, parent(s)', child's, and foster care or pre-adoptive provider's engagement in services and activities identified in the service plan;
- Any barriers to progress;
- Appropriateness of the program goal for the child and of the date for goal achievement; and
- Continuing need for placement.

The findings of the panel and any recommendations made by the panel, including changes to the service plan, must be recorded on the Administrative Panel Review Form **or the Adoption Progress Report** in OASIS. Recommendations from the APR that result in a change from the existing service plan should be documented. Local departments should consult with their attorney regarding the appropriate process for communicating these changes to the court.

The birth parent(s)/prior custodians, foster parents, or pre-adoptive parent(s) not in attendance should be given a copy of the final report from the Administrative Panel Review. To ensure protection of the child's confidentiality, the report should not be sent by mail but delivered in person.

(See Appendix C for Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues on Administrative Panel Reviews)

10.7 Local Supervisory Reviews

A local supervisory review is required every six months for children placed in their own homes, but still in the custody of the department and for youth ages 18-21.

When a child returns home after being in a foster care placement and remains in the custody of the agency, the supervisory review should be scheduled six months from the last Administrative Panel Review.

The Foster Care Service Plan Review Form is to be used for the local supervisory review. A new Review Form must be completed each time a review is held. The supervisor must sign the review.

10.8 Exceptions To Required Reviews

10.8.1 HEARINGS WHEN CASES ARE ON APPEAL

WHEN A CASE IS ON APPEAL FOR TPR, THE JUVENILE AND DOMESTIC RELATIONS DISTRICT COURT RETAINS JURISDICTION ON ALL MATTERS NOT ON APPEAL AND MUST CONTINUE TO HOLD REVIEWS. THE APPEAL HEARING MAY SUBSTITUTE FOR A REVIEW HEARING IF THE APPEAL COURT ADJUDICATES THE FUTURE STATUS OF THE CHILD.

10.8.2 CHILDREN COMMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE

CHILDREN FORMERLY IN LOCAL AGENCY CUSTODY WHO HAVE BEEN COMMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE ARE NOT SUBJECT TO ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS OR COURT REVIEW HEARINGS DURING THEIR COMMITMENT.

CHILDREN COMMITTED TO JUVENILE JUSTICE WHO RETURN TO FOSTER CARE ARE SUBJECT TO PANEL REVIEWS AND THE APPROPRIATE COURT REVIEW HEARING, IF PLACED OUTSIDE OF THEIR HOME IN FOSTER CARE. WHEN THE CHILD RETURNS TO FOSTER CARE, THE SCHEDULING OF PANEL REVIEWS AND FOSTER CARE REVIEW HEARINGS RESUMES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ORIGINAL SCHEDULE. A NEW SERVICE PLAN SHOULD BE FILED WITHIN 60 DAYS OR EARLIER IF NECESSARY TO RESUME THE ORIGINAL SCHEDULE.

10.9 Developing The Plan When The Goal Is Changed To Adoption

AT THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING, OR AT ANY OTHER HEARING THAT RESULTS IN THE DECISION TO CHANGE THE CHILD'S GOAL TO ADOPTION, THE AGENCY SHALL FILE A PETITION WITH THE COURT 30 DAYS PRIOR TO THE HEARING TO TERMINATE PARENTAL RIGHTS, ALONG WITH THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN.

10.9.1 INFORMATION NEEDED

When the goal of adoption is selected, consultation between the foster care and adoption staff must occur. Additional information may need to be gathered. This information is critical as it will serve as a basis for identifying adoption services, will be used in the selection of an appropriate adoptive home, and will be the only information available to the child after adoption about the child's birth family and background. If any of this information is missing from the foster care record, one of the services that must be identified on the new plan will be to obtain the missing information. The additional information that may need to be gathered includes:

- Detailed information about birth, medical and developmental history of the child and family, including genetic information;
- Current information on health, developmental and educational functioning of the child; and recommendations for any necessary follow-up treatment or further check-ups with specialists. If medicals have not been done in the last 12 months, the adoptive placement plan must reflect that these will be obtained once termination of parental rights has been achieved;
- Information from foster parents about the child's attitudes, habits, and daily routines, their methods of discipline and pertinent observations as to the child's reactions and relationships in their home, likes and dislikes, nicknames, and favorite toys;
- Information regarding whether the siblings are presently together in foster care, and the relationships of the siblings to each other;
- Information about the child's relationship with the birth family, including extended relatives and an assessment of the impact of termination of parental rights on the child and family; and
- Information about the child's relationship with the foster parents to assess the level of bonding to determine whether the foster parents should be considered as an adoptive resource for the child.

10.9.2 FOSTER CARE PLAN CHANGE TO ADOPTION

THE FOSTER CARE PLAN REQUESTING A CHANGE TO THE GOAL OF ADOPTION SHALL INCLUDE:

- A STATEMENT AND DOCUMENTATION THAT THE GOAL OF ADOPTION IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD; this is put in Part B or a separate section of the Foster Care Service Plan.
- THE REASONS FOR SELECTING THE GOAL OF ADOPTION; this is put in Part B or a separate section of the Foster Care Service Plan (Part A).
- Ongoing services that will be provided to the child, birth parents, and the foster parents. This is put on the Foster Care Service Plan.

- THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARENTS OR PRIOR CUSTODIAN INCLUDED IN THE PRIOR ASSESSMENT AND SERVICE PLAN AND WHETHER THEY HAVE OR HAVE NOT MET THEM; This is put in Part B or a separate section of the Foster Care Service Plan. These responsibilities must correspond with the responsibilities identified in the initial or any updated Foster Care Service Plan.
- THE SPECIFIC ACTION PLANNED TO IDENTIFY AND SELECT AN ADOPTIVE FAMILY AND THE SPECIFIC SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED TO PREPARE THE CHILD FOR AN ADOPTIVE FAMILY. These services are put in the Foster Care Service Plan and include:
 - Services to build trust with the worker who will make the placement.
 - Services to gather all medical, psychological, social and family background information for the child's permanent adoption record.
 - Services to help the child deal with the past and be committed to an adoptive placement.
 - Pre-placement services and activities with adoptive parents.
 - Services to meet the child's needs while in foster care waiting for adoptive placement.
 - Registration with AREVA or other adoption exchanges as well as other recruitment efforts (Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter C, Section 7 for information about AREVA and registering children in AREVA).
 - Assessment of the child's special needs for purposes of subsidy.
 - Services for the birth parents including, but not limited to:
 - Services to help them separate from the child and support an adoptive placement.
 - Services to help parents deal with their loss, guilt, and other feelings related to the child.
 - Services for the foster parent including, but not limited to:
 - Services to gather pertinent information on the child's development and behavior.
 - Assessment of the foster parents as a primary adoptive resource for the child or services to help the child move to an adoptive placement.
 - Services that will assist the foster parents in meeting the needs of the child.

THE SPECIFIC SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED TO THE CHILD AND ADOPTIVE FAMILY AFTER ADOPTIVE PLACEMENT are not provided until after termination of parental rights has occurred. Upon submission of the plan and registration with AREVA, the services should be identified in the plan and offered.

10.10 Redeterminations

10.10.1 REDETERMINATION OF TITLE IV-E ELIGIBILITY

ELIGIBILITY MUST BE RE-DETERMINED AT LEAST ANNUALLY.

The service worker shall submit to the eligibility worker the same information required for initial determination, except the commitment order or entrustment agreement. This information includes:

- Verification of appropriate placement;
- Current location of parents;
- School enrollment;
- Real and personal property (including balance in special welfare account);
- Verification of all child's earned and unearned income.

The eligibility worker is to be notified immediately of any change in the child's situation that might affect eligibility, including notification in advance that a child will become age 18, or is expected to graduate from high school prior to reaching age 19.

10.10.2 NOTICE OF CHANGES AFFECTING CHILD SUPPORT

As soon as there are changes in the status of the foster care case or in the situation of the absent parents, the service worker must notify the eligibility worker in writing. The eligibility worker must notify the Division of Child Support Enforcement. Changes in the status of a foster care case or the absent parent's situation may include the following:

- Good cause no longer exists because the service plan goal for the child changes from the goal of return to parents to another goal.
- Parental rights are terminated or the parent(s) have signed a permanent entrustment agreement.
- The child is emancipated or becomes age 18.
- The whereabouts of the child are unknown.

- Death of the child.
- The child is returned to a parent who is a recipient of TANF.
- The foster care case is closed.

At each eligibility redetermination, the service worker will inform the eligibility worker about the status of good cause for not pursuing child support, where appropriate.

10.10.3.REDETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY FOR MEDICAID

The service worker is responsible for providing the Medicaid worker information required for the annual redetermination of eligibility and information related to changes in the child's situation.

Changes that might affect eligibility include: changes in income or resources (wages, inheritances, savings, etc.); return of a child to his home on a permanent basis or a trial visit in excess of three months; termination of custody by the court; or placement of children in jails, detention centers, or learning centers.

Closing A Case To Foster Care 11.

11.1 Legal Authority To Close A Case

11.1.1 TERMINATING COURT COMMITMENTS

COURT COMMITMENTS ARE TERMINATED THROUGH COURT ORDER WHEN:

- PARENTS/PRIOR CUSTODIANS, RELATIVES, OR THE AGENCY PETITION THE COURT REQUESTING TERMINATION AND THE COURT TRANSFERS CUSTODY:
- A CHILD, 18 TO 21 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER, COMMITTED AS ABUSED AND NEGLECTED OR IN NEED OF SERVICES, REQUESTS TO BE RELEASED (§16.1-285); OR
- THE COURT TERMINATES CUSTODY AT THE TIME OF A DISPOSITIONAL OR OTHER HEARING. (§16.1-282)

11.1.2 TERMINATION OF NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENTS

- Non-custodial foster care agreements are terminated at the request of the parent/prior custodian or guardian.
- IN EVERY CASE IN WHICH A CHILD IS RETURNED HOME FROM AN OUT-OF-HOME PLACEMENT, A CRIMINAL BACKGROUND CHECK AND CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT CENTRAL REGISTRY CHECK MUST BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO THE RETURN OF THE CHILD. The agency must evaluate the results of the background and registry checks to determine whether any criminal background or abuse/neglect history exists to preclude the safe return of the child.
- If the Court previously approved the non-custodial foster care agreement, termination of the agreement is not effective until the judge agrees to and documents the termination of the agreement.
- The agency may petition the court for custody should the agency disagree with the request for return of the child.

11.2 Discharging A Child From Care And Closing To OASIS

The foster care case must be closed in OASIS as soon as possible but no later than 30 days after, the child leaves care of the agency. Failure to enter this date within the specified period results in an Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting System (AFCARS) error. If the family is still receiving services from the agency, the worker will need to change the AFCARS case type from foster care to the appropriate case type.

11.3 Eligibility Referral At Closure

The service worker must notify the eligibility worker immediately in writing that the child is no longer in care of the agency.

11.4 Maintenance/Service/Other Resource Payments At Closure

All maintenance payments must be terminated by the service worker once the child leaves care. Service payments for services that will not continue after child returns home must be terminated. If the child is receiving Social Security, SSI, or other benefits, the worker must inform the source of the benefits about the change in placement and provide the new address of the child.

11.5 Record Retention At Closure

11.5.1 RECORD CONTENTS

When the foster care paper case record is closed for services, the record must contain all court orders, assessments, service plans, administrative panel reviews, and a brief closure statement identifying when the case was closed, placement of the child, and child and family adjustment. Pertinent documents including, but not limited to, eligibility determinations, medicals, and educational and social history must also be retained. Personal items belonging to the child, such as report cards, drawings, pictures, should be given to the child.

When closing a case in OASIS, the final case contact should reflect the case disposition at case closure, a summary of services in place at termination, child and family adjustment, over-all case progress, and a summary of the final court hearing.

Workers should follow OASIS procedures for discharging a child from care and, when applicable, case closure. Closed cases in OASIS remain available as read-only documents and foster care reports may be printed if necessary. It is not necessary to print and store OASIS screens as paper documents in the case record.

11.5.2 LENGTH OF TIME RECORDS MUST BE RETAINED AFTER CLOSURE

For children in foster care who were never reunited with their families, records must be maintained indefinitely. The records can be transferred to microfilm in compliance with Sections 17VAC15-20-10, et. Seq. of the Virginia Administrative Code, "Standards for Microfilming of Public Records for Archival Reasons."

For children in foster care who were reunited with their families, records must be retained for ten years after the youngest child reaches the age of majority. Subsequent destruction of these records will be done by shredding or pulping.

"Deletion" of confidential or privacy protected information in computer files or other electronic storage media is not acceptable. Electronic records must be "wiped" clean or the storage media physically destroyed. (All policy and procedural information on the maintenance and destruction of records is found in the Library of Virginia's Records Management and Imagining Services Division, Records Retention and Disposition Scheduled, General Schedule No. 15 available at: http://www.lva.lib.va.us/whatwedo/records/sched_local/gs-15.htm).

For a child who was adopted, please see Chapter C, Preserving Information.

11.5.3 ACCESS TO RECORDS AFTER CLOSURE (§63.2-104)

ANY FOSTER CARE YOUTH WHO HAS REACHED AGE 18, HAS NOT BEEN ADOPTED, AND HAS NOT HAD PARENTAL RIGHTS TERMINATED SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO REQUEST AND RECEIVE INFORMATION FROM HIS OR HER RECORD, INCLUDING INFORMATION ABOUT PARENT(S) OR RELATIVES.

IF A YOUTH HAS NOT BEEN ADOPTED, HAS REACHED AGE 18, AND HAS HAD PARENTAL RIGHTS TERMINATED, HE SHALL HAVE ACCESS TO HIS RECORDS, BUT NOT TO IDENTIFYING INFORMATION PERTAINING TO HIS BIOLOGICAL FAMILY, EXCEPT BY ORDER OF CIRCUIT COURT.

11.6 Emancipation Before Age 18 (§16.1-331)

YOUTH WHO ARE AT LEAST AGE 16 MAY BE LEGALLY EMANCIPATED PRIOR TO AGE 18 THROUGH A COURT HEARING WHICH FINDS THAT THE YOUTH IS MARRIED, ON ACTIVE DUTY IN THE MILITARY, OR IS CAPABLE OF SELF SUPPORT AND HAS THE PARENT OR GUARDIAN'S CONSENT.

11.7 Services Post Foster Care

Services should be provided to the child and family to prevent the need for the child to return to foster care. For a youth who needs continuing services after emancipation, the service worker should consider services through independent living and/or refer the youth to the appropriate adult services provider.

12. Funding/Purchasing

12.1 Paying For Maintenance

- 12.1.1 Source of Funding: Title IV-E or State Pool Funds for Non-Title IV-E children.
- 12.1.2 AGE GROUPINGS AND UNIFORM MONTHLY MAINTENANCE PAYMENT RATES ARE, AS FOLLOWS:

Effective July 2000

Eliounia Galy Eo					
Age of Child	Room and Board	Clothing	Personal care, Recreation, Reading	Monthly Allowance	Total Payment Rate
0 thru 4	\$214	\$39	\$59	\$0	\$312
5 thru 12	\$244	\$50	\$64	\$7	\$365
13 and over	\$296	\$79	\$69	\$19	\$463
Independent Livi	ng				\$644

- 12.1.3 LOCAL AGENCIES ARE NOT PERMITTED TO INCREASE THE BASIC MAINTENANCE RATES TO FOSTER PARENTS. Specialized payments to regular foster parents, who are not part of a therapeutic program, are considered service payments.
- 12.1.4 Duplicate payments for maintenance cannot be made. Payments to a foster home for room and board during an approved absence or for respite care are not considered duplicate payments.
- 12.1.5 Prorating room and board for part of a month is based upon the actual number of days of care provided and the number of days in the month.
- 12.1.6 Payments when a child is removed include the day the child was placed in the home, but not the day removed.
- 12.1.7 Planned temporary absences from an approved placement for reason of hospitalization, education or training, a vacation or visit do not terminate eligibility for Title IV-E.
- 12.1.8 Runaway Status: TITLE IV-E CANNOT BE USED TO PAY FOR MAINTENANCE FOR MORE THAN TWO DAYS FOR A CHILD ON RUNAWAY STATUS.
- 12.1.9 A CHILD MAY RECEIVE BOTH SSI AND TITLE IV-E, HOWEVER, WHEN BOTH ARE RECEIVED, THE SSI BENEFIT WILL BE REDUCED DOLLAR FOR DOLLAR BY THE AMOUNT OF THE TITLE IV-E PAYMENT. For a Title IV-E eligible child in a regular foster home, the agency should discontinue the Title IV-E payment and accept the SSI payment only. In OASIS, under program category on the Funding Source Screen, the child would be Title IV-E, the Source of Payment

- would be "Other Resource," SSI for maintenance if the agency is receiving a SSI check, and it is the primary resource for maintenance.
- 12.1.10 If a Title IV-E child is living in a residential facility where the maintenance cost significantly exceeds the SSI payment, the agency should pay maintenance costs with Title IV-E funds. If the child receives both Title IV-E and SSI, the agency must inform SSA when the Title IV-E payment changes. Payments from State Pool Funds do not reduce the SSI benefit.
- 12.1.11 PAYMENTS TO FOSTER PARENTS FOR CHILDREN UNDER THE AGE OF 19
 ARE NOT CONSIDERED INCOME FOR FEDERAL OR STATE TAX
 PURPOSES UNLESS THE FOSTER PARENT IS CARING FOR MORE THAN 10
 CHILDREN.
- 12.1.12 ELIGIBILITY FOR TITLE IV-E FUNDING FOR CHILDREN OVER 18 YEARS. YOUTH OVER AGE 18 ARE NOT ELIGIBLE FOR FUNDING FROM TITLE IV-E UNLESS ENROLLED IN A SECONDARY SCHOOL (OR IN THE EQUIVALENT LEVEL OF VOCATIONAL OR TECHNICAL TRAINING) AND EXPECTING TO GRADUATE FROM HIGH SCHOOL PRIOR TO REACHING AGE 19. FOR YOUTH REMAINING IN FOSTER CARE AFTER AGE 19, STATE POOL FUNDS PAY FOR MAINTENANCE.
- 12.1.13 WHEN AN AGENCY HAS ACCEPTED CUSTODY OR PLACEMENT OF A CHILD AND PLACES THE CHILD IN A RELATIVE HOME, THE AGENCY APPROVES THE RELATIVE HOME AS A FOSTER FAMILY HOME AND MUST PAY THE RELATIVE FOSTER PARENTS MAINTENANCE PAYMENTS.. WHEN NECESSARY, AGENCIES MAY USE THE 30-DAY EMERGENCY APPROVAL PROCESS AND WAIVER PROCESS TO APPROVE RELATIVE FOSTER PARENTS. HOWEVER, TITLE IV-E PAYMENTS CANNOT BE MADE TO A RELATIVE OR OTHER PROVIDER WHO DOES NOT FULLY MEET STANDARDS. THUS TITLE IV-E CANNOT BE USED DURING THE EMERGENCY APPROVAL OR THE WAIVER PERIOD. (See Title IV-E Eligibility Manual, 202.7 A.2).

Relatives may elect to receive TANF instead of Title IV-E or CSA payment.

12.1.14 THE AGENCY MAY USE TITLE IV-E TO PAY FOR DAILY SUPERVISION WHEN FOSTER PARENTS PROVIDE CARE TO TITLE IV-E CHILDREN PLACED IN PRIVATE NON-PROFIT CHILD PLACING AGENCIES, OR IN THERAPEUTIC FOSTER CARE PROGRAMS PROVIDED BY PUBLIC AGENCIES. TO BE ELIGIBLE FOR TITLE IV-E FUNDING, CHILDREN MUST HAVE SPECIAL NEEDS AND REQUIRE ADDITIONAL CARE. THE CHILD'S SPECIAL NEEDS AND NEED FOR ADDITIONAL SUPERVISION MUST BE DOCUMENTED IN THE RECORD. These additional payments are made from State Pool Funds for non-Title IV-E children.

12.2 Paying For Children Supervised By Another Agency

12.2.1 Payment for the costs of maintenance and social services is the responsibility of the agency holding custody of the child or having accepted placement of the child.

- 12.2.2 Certification of a child to a State Mental Health facility does not relieve the local board of custody. In this instance room and board and medical costs are the responsibility of the public facility. Costs of clothing and personal care items must be paid by the agency holding custody.
- 12.2.3 The Department of Juvenile Justice is responsible for the maintenance and care of the child committed to its care. Payments cannot be made by the local agency for maintenance of the child at the DJJ facility.
- 12.2.4 For children placed in out-of-state foster homes:
 - Payment for non-Title IV-E eligible children is from State Pool Funds at the rate set by the other state.
 - Payment from Title IV-E is at the standard rate for Virginia. Where this rate is not acceptable to the other state, payment of Virginia's maintenance rate is from Title IV-E funds, with the balance paid from State Pool Funds as a specialized payment.
 - The foster homes must meet standards for care set by the other state.

12.3 Using Funds From Special Welfare Accounts

- 12.3.1 ACCUMULATED FUNDS IN A SPECIAL WELFARE ACCOUNT MAY BE USED TO MEET THE CURRENT AND FUTURE NEEDS OF THE CHILD. (§63.2-320). These funds are to be used to reimburse expenditures on behalf of the child for maintenance, medical expenses not covered by Medicaid, and services.
- 12.3.2 Funds in excess of those used to reimburse expenditures for the child are to be used for savings for the child or for the personal needs of the child. The worker, in consultation with the parents and foster parents, is responsible for identifying how these excess funds are to be used.
- 12.3.3 The use of funds from an initial lump sum SSI payment is restricted to such things as medical expenses above and beyond those covered by Medicaid; and certain educational expenses. Lump sum payments are not to be used for everyday expenses or to reimburse prior maintenance or service expenditures. Local department of social services will be held liable for the misuse of these funds. Workers should contact the local Social Security Administration (SSA) office prior to using these funds to ensure they are intended for expenditure in accordance with SSA policy.
- 12.3.4 When a child leaves foster care, funds in the Special Welfare Account are to go with the child and given to the parent(s), relative, or guardian responsible for the child or given to the child if the child has reached age 18 and does not have a legal guardian.

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 12-3

- 12.3.5 For Title IV-E eligible children, the resource maximum for Title IV-E has increased to \$10,000. Children in foster care may accumulate combined resource/funds to a maximum of \$10,000 before becoming ineligible for Title IV-E.
- 12.3.6 For non-Title IV-E children, the limit has not changed. If funds accumulate in excess of \$2,000 in an account, the child may become ineligible for SSI and non-Title IV-E Medicaid.
- 12.3.7 If an agency cannot maintain a child's Special Welfare Account below the resource level, it can establish an irrevocable trust account. This irrevocable trust account will allow resources to accumulate over the resource level, while not making the child ineligible for future benefits.

Local agencies should consult with an attorney to ensure these accounts are set up properly. The trust fund must have a maturity date restricted to a birth date or date of custody transfer from the agency. Under no circumstances can the child or agency have access to the trust funds prior to the maturity date.

The size of the trust fund may affect the child's eligibility for Medicaid and SSI. The worker should consult with eligibility staff when establishing a trust fund regarding the amount of funds in the trust.

12.4 Paying Maintenance For The Minor Child Of A Foster Child

- 12.4.1 THE MINOR CHILD OF A FOSTER CHILD WHO REMAINS IN A FOSTER HOME OR RESIDENTIAL FACILITY WITH HIS OR HER PARENT OR COMES TO LIVE IN A FOSTER HOME OR RESIDENTIAL FACILITY WITH HIS OR HER PARENT AND REMAINS IN THE CUSTODY OF THE PARENT SHALL BE ELIGIBLE TO RECEIVE A FOSTER CARE MAINTENANCE PAYMENT AND SHALL NOT BE ELIGIBLE FOR TANF. The maintenance payment will be added to the foster child's foster care payment. The foster care provider will receive a maintenance payment for the child in the amount appropriate for the age of the child and from the same source as the parent of the child; i.e. Title IV-E or State Pool Funds. If the foster child resides in a residential facility with her minor child, the rate paid will be the rate negotiated with the facility for maintenance for the minor child. If the foster child lives in an independent living arrangement, the minor child may be eligible for TANF. (See Section 13.4)
- 12.4.2 If the minor child of a foster child has his/her own resources; i.e. SSI, SSA, or child support, these resources shall be used toward the maintenance cost.
- 12.4.3 If the agency finds it necessary to secure custody of a child of a foster child, the child of the foster child may be eligible for Title IV-E or State Pool Funds. Eligibility for the child of the foster child is determined in the same manner as are all other foster care cases.

12.5 Paying For Independent Living Arrangements

- 12.5.1 THE STANDARD STATEWIDE PAYMENT IS A MAXIMUM OF \$644.00 PER MONTH.
- 12.5.2 PAYMENT CANNOT BE MADE FROM TITLE IV-E, BUT IS MADE FROM STATE POOL FUNDS.
- 12.5.3 Payments may be made directly to the youth and may be made more often than once a month, provided the maximum is not exceeded. The method of payment must be in the agreement with the youth.
- 12.5.4 The payment covers costs of:
 - Shelter (rent, household equipment, utilities)
 - Food
 - Clothing
 - Personal care
 - Recreation
 - Reading and insurance, and
 - Transportation

12.6 Paying A Supplemental Clothing Allowance

- 12.6.1 THIS ALLOWANCE CANNOT EXCEED \$300 PER FISCAL YEAR, PER CHILD AND IS PAID FROM TITLE IV-E OR STATE POOL FUNDS. The child of a foster child is entitled to receive a supplemental clothing allotment as part of the maintenance payment.
- 12.6.2 The allowance is to be used to pay for clothing at the time of placement, at change in placement or if it is lost, destroyed or outgrown.

12.7 Paying For Services: State Pool Funds

12.7.1 SERVICES THAT MAY BE PURCHASED

Any appropriate service must be made available to a foster child when that service is documented as needed in the Foster Care Service Plan or the Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP) developed by the Family Assessment and Planning Team (FAPT). Rehabilitative, restorative and supportive services shall also be provided as needed to parents/prior custodians and foster parents on behalf of the child. Services to be provided may include, but are not limited to, specialized foster care, respite care, transportation for the parent(s)/prior custodian, social recreational activities, counseling, in-home services, etc.

12.7.2 MANDATED ELIGIBLE GROUPS FOR FUNDING FOR SERVICES FROM STATE POOL FUNDS

ANY CHILD PLACED THROUGH A NON-CUSTODIAL FOSTER CARE AGREEMENT, COMMITTED OR ENTRUSTED TO LOCAL BOARDS OF

SOCIAL SERVICES OR FOR WHOM A LOCAL AGENCY IS GIVEN RESPONSIBILITY FOR AFTERCARE SUPERVISION, AND HIS FAMILY, ARE ELIGIBLE FOR STATE POOL FUNDS. THIS INCLUDES:

- MAINTENANCE AND SERVICES FOR A CHILD PLACED OUTSIDE OF HIS OR HER OWN HOME.
- SERVICES FOR A CHILD LIVING IN HIS OR HER OWN HOME (PRE AND POST PLACEMENT) IN CUSTODY OF THE LOCAL BOARD.
- SERVICES FOR A CHILD RECEIVING SERVICES TO PREVENT FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT (§2.2-5211).

12.7.3 UNIFORM ASSESSMENT REQUIRED FOR CSA FUNDING

ALL CHILDREN RECEIVING CSA SERVICES WILL NEED TO HAVE AN ASSESSMENT. FOR CHILDREN AGES 7 AND ABOVE, THE CHILD AND ADOLESCENT FUNCTIONAL ASSESSMENT SCALE (CAFAS) WILL BE USED TO ASSESS THE CHILD. FOR CHILDREN AGES 4-7, THE PRESCHOOL AND EARLY CHILDHOOD ASSESSMENT (PECFAS) WILL BE USED TO ASSESS THE CHILD. THE REQUIREMENT FOR A UNIFORM ASSESSMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO TITLE IV-E CHILDREN WHO DO NOT RECEIVE SERVICES FROM CSA (§2.2-5209).

12.7.4 WHAT IS NEEDED TO PURCHASE ANY SERVICE

Before a service or service component can be purchased or paid through the State Pool Fund, it must:

- Be included in the child's Foster Care Service Plan or Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP). The plan should specify the length of time needed for the provision of services, which shall be based on what is reasonable to meet the child's needs.
- Be authorized based on the local procedures established by the Community Policy and Management Team (CPMT).
- Be provided by a provider listed in the CSA Service Fee Directory or exempt. Exempt from the requirement for listing in the CSA Service Fee Directory are individuals not associated with an entity who provide services, individually approved foster homes, purchase of goods, and non-specialized services such as baby-sitting, transportation, and lessons. Non-specialized services such as day care providers, general medical, dental, or legal providers do not need to be listed in the CSA Service Directory if they are providing a generic (non-specialized) service to the child.
- For services listed in the CSA Service Fee Directory, the rates must be negotiated between the provider and purchaser using the rate listed in the CSA Service Fee Directory, as the maximum rate the provider will charge.

 For services exempted from listing in the CSA Service Fee Directory, rates will be based on the normal cost for services in the community.

12.7.5 PURCHASE OF SERVICES FROM FOSTER PARENTS

12.7.5.1 Specialized Foster Family Services

These are services provided by foster parents to meet the special needs of a child. They are distinct from basic maintenance and supervision of the child.

The provider(s) shall be qualified through training or experience to provide the special services required. Foster family standards must be met.

The child's record must document the special physical, mental or emotional problems of the child, which require the need for service.

The local social services agency establishes rates of payment for services provided in local agency approved homes. NOTE: Specialized payments for foster care children under 19 are not reported as income for tax purposes by foster parents until there are more than 10 children in one home. Payments for the first 10 are exempt.

Where services are being purchased from a licensed child placing agency, rates are negotiated between the provider and purchaser based upon Community Policy and Management Team procedures.

12.7.5.2 Expenses Paid by Foster Parents on Behalf of the Child

The procedures required to reimburse foster parents for expenses paid by them on behalf of the foster child are:

- The services must be pre-authorized.
- Services purchased on behalf of the child may include, but are not limited to, transportation, exclusive of that required for medical care under Title XIX, school fees and purchases from commercial establishments.
- 12.7.5.3 Purchasing Foster Home Recruitment, Study, Approval and Placement from State Pool Funds.

Recruitment, screening, study and development of foster family homes may be purchased from licensed child placing and other agencies. Purchase must be on behalf of a specific child.

Placement services, including study and approval of foster homes may be purchased from licensed child-placing agencies for a specific child. 12.7.5.4 Reimbursing Foster Parents Who Attend Conferences Using Service Administrative Funds.

Any foster parent(s) designated as representative(s) of an agency may attend foster care conferences and foster parent conferences. Limited expenses for travel and per diem may be reimbursed through Title IV-E training funds. The matching funds must be provided from local, donated or the foster parents' own monies.

12.8 Purchasing Regular Education Services

CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE ARE CONSIDERED TO BE INDIGENT AND ELIGIBLE FOR FREE TEXTBOOKS AND WORKBOOKS. (§ 22.1-251). Other educational services needed by the child and not provided by local school divisions may be purchased using State Pool Funds. Some educational services may be purchased from independent living funds for youth ages 16 and over.

12.8.1 WHEN REGULAR EDUCATION SERVICES MAY BE PURCHASED

- To achieve an educational goal
- They are not the responsibility of State and/or local education agencies
- Services are not available without cost
- Charges for services are the same to all residents regardless of income

12.8.2 EDUCATIONAL SERVICES THAT MAY BE PURCHASED

- Normal school expenses such as school trips, summer school, gym suits, fees for labs, art classes, etc., and school supplies
- Tutoring
- Training for employment if no other resource exists
- Tuition and fees, school supplies, textbooks required for college degree or vocational education
- Tuition and fees, etc., for placement in a private school for the child who is not eligible for special education. In this instance, the child's case record must document that:

All other resources to meet the child's specific need have been explored; and

These resources have been determined to be inadequate to meet the child's needs.

April 2004

SECTION/PAGE 12-8

12.8.3 OTHER SCHOOL RELATED EXPENDITURES

Expenses related to school activities that are not necessary to meet an educational goal such as class rings, club dues, and prom fees may be purchased from State Pool Funds based on local Community Policy and Management Team procedures. If not approved, other funding sources such as Independent Living, local only, or private donations may be used.

12.9 Paying For Special Educational Services

12.9.1 LOCAL SCHOOL RESPONSIBILITY

Local school divisions are responsible for paying for special education services identified on the child's Individual Education Program (IEP) when the child is placed within the school system or regional special education program.

WHEN A CHILD IS PLACED IN ANOTHER JURISDICTION, THE RECEIVING LOCAL SCHOOL DIVISION SHOULD SEEK REIMBURSEMENT FOR EDUCATION COSTS FROM THE VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION FOR ANY CHILDREN RECEIVING FOSTER CARE SERVICES. (§22.1-101 and 22.1-215)

12.9.2 LENGTH OF TIME CHILD IS ELIGIBLE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES

A CHILD IS ELIGIBLE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES UNTIL: a) HE/SHE IS FOUND TO BE NO LONGER ELIGIBLE BY AN ELIGIBILITY TEAM; b) GRADUATES WITH A REGULAR OR ADVANCED DIPLOMA; OR c) REACHES AGE 22 BY September 30 of the year. The local school division where the local social services agency is that has custody of the child is responsible for the child's special education services. In the event that a child is placed in foster care in a different jurisdiction and the child can be educated in the public school or a regional program that includes that jurisdiction, the school division where the child is placed is responsible for the child's education.

12.9.3 USE OF STATE POOL FUNDS FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION SERVICES

State Pool Funds are to be used to purchase special education and related services for a child placed in a residential facility approved for special education or private special education day school in accordance with the child's IEP. In addition, Appendix B of the CSA Manual (available at http://www.csa.state.va.us/html/pdf/Manual/APPENDIXB.pdf) specifies how Pool funds may be used to keep a child in a less restrictive special education environment, when the FAPT makes such a determination and includes it on the IFSP. Related services include such services as developmental day programs, infant/child stimulation, training to maximize independence and sheltered workshops. Procedures to access State Pool Funds for these placements will be based upon CPMT policies. Maintenance for Title IV-E eligible children would be paid from Title IV-E funds and from State Pool Funds for non-Title IV-E children.

- If a child is placed in a facility for special education and is subsequently determined ineligible for special education, removal of the child from the facility or continued funding of services for that child in the facility will be based on local CPMT procedures. The local agency, in coordination with the FAPT, is responsible for ensuring that an appropriate placement is provided for the child.
- State Pool Funds may pay for special education services when it is determined that a child has additional special education needs not included on the IEP (see Appendix B of the CSA Manual).

12.9.4 CROSS JURISDICTIONAL PLACEMENTS

The cost of purchasing special education and related services, where applicable, for children in cross-jurisdictional placements will be covered by the placing agency's school division through the policies of the CPMT. This also applies to children in permanent foster care placements or adoptive placements prior to the final order.

12.10 Paying For Care In A Residential Facility

- THE COST OF MAINTENANCE FOR A CHILD PLACED IN A RESIDENTIAL FACILITY IS PAID FROM TITLE IV-E OR STATE POOL FUNDS FOR NON-TITLE IV-E CHILDREN.
- TITLE IV-E CANNOT BE USED TO PAY THE COST OF MAINTENANCE OF A CHILD IN A PUBLIC FACILITY LICENSED FOR MORE THAN 25 CHILDREN. STATE POOL FUNDS MUST BE USED.
- Services provided in a residential facility will be paid from State Pool Funds.
 Residential services that can be purchased include services provided to every resident and specialized services provided to meet a child's individual needs.
- Rates for maintenance and services shall be the rate negotiated between the provider and purchaser. The purchaser must negotiate a rate that specifies the amount to be paid for maintenance.
- The facility must be listed in the CSA Service Fee Directory. The facility will list the maximum rate it will charge in the Directory. Lower rates may be negotiated.

12.10.1 ABSENCE FROM A RESIDENTIAL FACILITY

Title IV-E prohibits paying for unscheduled absences and the costs of these absences should not be incorporated into the rate negotiated with the residential facility. Unscheduled absences include running away (for more than 2 days), emergency hospitalization, and other unanticipated absences. Title IV-E will pay for scheduled absences, which are, planned absences that include home visits, vacations, planned hospitalizations, and special reintegration services to return a child to his/her own community. The purpose of reintegration is to return the child to his/her family or to a foster home in the child's own community. The cost of scheduled absences can be incorporated into the rates negotiated between the purchaser and provider.

12.10.2PAYING FOR INCIDENTALS

- If the room and board rate negotiated does not include incidentals such as clothing, personal care items, recreation, and allowance, the amount for these items is paid monthly to the facility on behalf of the child according to the established rates for clothing and personal care items (see Section 12.1); or
- The agency may authorize and reimburse the facility according to "as charged" bills. When this option is selected, the agency must pre-authorize the personal care items and predetermine the funding sources for these items.

12.11 Purchasing Emergency Shelter Services

Emergency Shelter service is the temporary housing and supervision of a child to prevent abuse, neglect or exploitation. The service is provided in foster family homes and residential facilities approved for emergency shelter. Payments may be made for reserve space under the following conditions:

- Payment may be made until a more permanent arrangement can be made.
- Rates are negotiated by the local agency for approved emergency foster family homes. There must be an agreement specifying that the home is approved for emergency shelter and the rate of payment.
- Payment for the child in custody of the local board is from Title IV-E or State Pool
 Funds, not protective services. A child removed from foster care placement because
 of abuse/neglect and placed in emergency shelter remains a foster care case.
- Rates are negotiated between the provider and purchaser based upon Community Policy and Management Team (CPMT) procedures for residential care.
- The locality, based on CPMT guidelines, may negotiate a fee to reserve space in an approved emergency shelter foster family home or facility and pay those fees out of State Pool Funds.

12.12 Funding For Medical Services

Medical services and equipment which may be provided include but are not limited to: clinic and physician's services, including physical/psychiatric examinations and treatment; pharmaceutical services; hospitalization; home health care; medical supplies

SECTION/PAGE 12-11

and equipment; prosthetic devices, eyeglasses, hearing aides; optometry/optical services; dental examinations and treatment (including orthodontic), hearing, speech therapy and other therapeutic rehabilitative care.

12.12.1 MEDICAID ELIGIBILITY

Children in foster care placement will be eligible for Medicaid unless they are not considered Virginia residents, or they have income or other financial resources that make them ineligible for Medicaid. Medicaid providers should be used whenever possible.

12.12.2 MEDICAID OUT-OF-STATE

If a Title IV-E child is placed out-of-state, information certifying the child's Title IV-E status must be sent to the Interstate Placement Unit in central office so that it may be sent to the receiving state. Title IV-E foster children and children receiving Title IV-E adoption subsidy are eligible for Medicaid coverage in the state where they reside.

Non-Title IV-E children placed out of state will be eligible for Virginia Medicaid; however, providers in other states often do not accept Virginia's Medicaid coverage, and the agency will have to pay for medical expenses out of State Pool Funds.

12.12.3 EXTENSION OF MEDICAID FOR CHILDREN IN ADOPTIVE PLACEMENT

MEDICAL COVERAGE IS EXTENDED DURING THE ADOPTIVE PLACEMENT UNTIL THE FINAL ORDER OF ADOPTION FOR CHILDREN WHO CONTINUE TO MEET THE FOSTER CARE COVERED GROUP FOR MEDICAID PURPOSES.

MEDICAL COVERAGE IS EXTENDED PAST THE FINAL ORDER IF:

- THE CHILD IS TITLE IV-E ELIGIBLE WITH A SUBSIDIZED ADOPTION ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT IN EFFECT, REGARDLESS OF THE EXISTENCE OF AN INTERLOCUTORY ORDER OR FINAL JUDICIAL DECREE; OR
- THE ADOPTIVE FAMILY MEETS THE FINANCIAL REQUIREMENTS OF MEDICAID; OR
- THE CHILD IS NOT TITLE IV-E ELIGIBLE, BUT HAS SPECIAL MEDICAL NEEDS AND THERE IS AN ADOPTION ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT IN EFFECT.

12.12.40THER SOURCES FOR FUNDING MEDICAL CARE

For the Medicaid eligible child, Medicaid must be used to pay for medical needs including transportation to the Medicaid provider. Other funding can only be

SECTION/PAGE 12-12

used to pay for medical needs not covered under Medicaid, or medical services provided by vendors or in facilities not covered by Medicaid.

Resources for costs of medical care not covered by Medicaid include:

- Child's own income or resources including parents' insurance
- State Pool funds
- FAMIS
- State/local hospitalization
- General relief

12.13 Purchasing Transportation Services

Transportation may be provided from State Pool Funds or Medicaid (Title XIX), OR TITLE IV-E FUNDS AS FOLLOWS:

12.13.1USING MEDICAID TO PURCHASE TRANSPORTATION

Transportation to obtain medical services for the child may be provided under the Medicaid Registered Drivers Program as follows:

Foster parents and agency workers may enroll as a Registered Driver through the local health department. They will be reimbursed for transporting the child to and from a medical service. There is no additional reimbursement for tolls, waiting time, or parking. Foster parents who do not own cars may find friends, neighbors, or family members to be paid as registered drivers for transporting children to medical appointments. The following forms must be completed and submitted to the local health department:

- Medical Driver Registration Form enables the driver to receive a provider number, which is necessary for reimbursement. This form must be signed by the driver and an agency representative.
- Transportation Services, Special Service Invoice, VIRGINIA, Medical Assistance Program Form (MAP-7) - must be completed by the driver after transportation has been provided. This form must be submitted to the local health department within 30 days.
- Taxi service may be pre-authorized for a child if the foster parents' car is inoperable or unavailable. The Transportation Pre-authorization Form must be completed. It states that efforts will be made to locate a less expensive means of transportation prior to requesting taxi service. This form must be signed by an agency representative and re-submitted every six months.

12.13.2USING TITLE IV-E FUNDS FOR TRANSPORTATION

TITLE IV-E FUNDS MAY BE USED TO PAY FOR TRANSPORTATION COSTS FOR TITLE IV-E ELIGIBLE CHILDREN WHEN TRANSPORTATION IS PROVIDED FOR THE PURPOSES OF TRANSPORTING THE CHILD TO

VISITATION, EITHER WITH PARENTS OR SIBLINGS. IT CANNOT BE USED FOR PARENTS TO TRAVEL TO VISIT CHILDREN.

12.13.3 USING STATE POOL FUNDS TO PURCHASE TRANSPORTATION

Transportation may be purchased from State Pool Funds when it is not otherwise available without cost and is not for purposes of obtaining medical services covered under Medicaid (Title XIX). Payment may be made to specific providers as follows:

- Foster parents and employees of residential facilities using their own cars are paid at the State mileage rate for actual miles driven. Individual providers must have a valid driver's license and automobile insurance.
- Public conveyors are paid at the established rate charged to any individual.
 Public conveyors must be licensed under § 56-273 of the Code of Virginia or the appropriate licensing requirements of other states.
- Friends, relatives, neighbors of the child or foster parent, are paid at the State mileage rate. They must have a valid driver's license and automobile insurance.

12.14 Purchasing Day Care Services

12.14.1 FUNDING SOURCES

Title IV-E: Child day care services for foster children may be purchased in a licensed day care facility or home, using Title IV-E for Title IV-E eligible children when the foster parent works or must attend judicial or administrative reviews or approved training.

State Pool Funds are used to (1) provide child care for non-Title IV-E children, and (2) pay for Title IV-E children who require child day care for reasons other than the foster parents' working, attending judicial reviews, training or receive day care from a provider not required to be licensed/approved. These funds are used except in those situations where the foster parent is otherwise eligible for one of the child day care funding sources.

12.14.2 RATES FOR DAY CARE

Localities shall use the market rates established in accordance with federal regulatory requirements for day care for foster children. Payment in excess of the market rate will be from local only funds. For special needs children, 100% of the cost of care may be paid and reimbursed, even if this exceeds the established market rate.

12.14.3 REGULATION OF DAY CARE PROVIDERS

Child day care provided to foster children when the foster parents work or for developmental or educational reasons must be provided by providers who are federally approved, state licensed, city approved, county approved, local agency approved, or have met the requirements of the Voluntary Small Family Child Care Home Registration Program. TITLE IV-E SHALL NOT BE USED TO PAY FOR UNREGULATED PROVIDERS.

12.15 Paying For Independent Living Program Services

Independent Living Program Services are paid from the agency's allocation of the Chafee Foster Care Independence Program funds. The agency must have an approved Independent Living Program Plan before funds may be expended. Independent Living Program funds shall not be used to pay for maintenance.

12.15.1 EDUCATION AND TRAINING VOUCHERS (ETV) PROGRAM

The Education and Training Vouchers (ETV) Program provides federal funding to help foster youth with expenses associated with college and vocational training programs. Statutory changes to the Chafee Foster Care Independence Program (CFCIP) provide additional resources to make available vouchers of up to \$5,000 per year per eligible youth for post-secondary education and training.

In order to be eligible for funding from the ETV Program, youth must:

- Have been in foster care with the state of Virginia at age 16 and must have had their most recent foster care provided by the State of Virginia. Adopted youth may be eligible if the adoption from foster care welfare system occurred after the youth turned 16 years old;
- Have received their high school diploma or certificate of completion, or general education development (GED);
- Have initiated their post-secondary education or training by age 18 and continue to receive foster care services/Chafee funding;
- Apply for financial aid through the school or training program they wish to attend or participate in;
- Meet the satisfactory academic standards of the college for federal student financial aid program;
- Be enrolled as a student working toward a degree or certificate in an accredited program; and
- Make satisfactory academic progress by maintaining at least a cumulative grade point average of 2.0 on a 4.0 scale or have an academic standing consistent with the institution's graduation requirements.

ETV Funds may be used for the following expenses:

- Tuition and fees
- Room and board

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 12-15

- Rental or purchase of required educational equipment, materials, or supplies (including a computer)
- Allowance for books, supplies, transportation
- Required residential training related to an educational or vocational program
- Special study projects
- Child care
- Other related expenses

ETV funding should be expended for education and training specific expenses prior to using the Independent Living (IL) Basic Allocation and only for those eligible youth engaged in post-secondary education or training.

13. Other Requirements

13.1 Confidentiality Of Records

THE RECORDS OF CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE ARE CONFIDENTIAL AND INFORMATION ABOUT CHILDREN IN FOSTER CARE OR THEIR PARENTS OR RELATIVES IS CONFIDENTIAL. (§63.2-104) THE AGENCY MAY DISCLOSE INFORMATION:

- UPON ORDER OF THE COURT; FOR INSTANCE, TO THE GUARDIAN AD LITEM AND THE COURT APPOINTED SPECIAL ADVOCATE (CASA) WHO ARE APPOINTED TO A CHILD AS THE RESULT OF A COURT ORDER; OR
- WHEN THE AGENCY DETERMINES THAT THE PERSON HAS A LEGITIMATE INTEREST IN THE CHILD AND IT IS IN THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD TO RELEASE THE INFORMATION.

13.2 Travel Of Foster Children

13.2.1 OUT-OF-COUNTRY TRAVEL

Approval for such travel is the option of the local department.

- The director of the local agency must give written approval for a child going out of the country.
- The agency should obtain written approval from the parent(s) or guardians if whereabouts are known and parental rights have not been terminated.
- The sponsor of the out-of-country trip (residential facility, school, foster parent) must provide the local agency with the itinerary and telephone numbers where the child and/or sponsor can be contacted.
- Proper passports, visas or other requirements for traveling out of the country must be obtained.
- Written assurances must be obtained that the sponsor will provide for the health, safety and legal needs of the child during the trip.
- The agency should provide the sponsor with authorization to obtain medical care.

13.2.2 REQUIREMENT FOR APPROVED CHILD RESTRAINT DEVICES

13.2.2.1 CHILDREN AGE FIVE AND UNDER, TRANSPORTED IN A CAR BY AGENCY STAFF, FOSTER CARE PROVIDERS, OR ANY ADULT TRANSPORTING A CHILD, MUST BE SECURED IN A CHILD

SECTION/PAGE 13-2

RESTRAINT DEVICE OF A TYPE APPROVED BY THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION. (SEC. 46.2-1095)

13.2.2.2 EXCEPTIONS FOR CERTAIN CHILDREN WHO MAY BE EXEMPTED FROM THE REQUIREMENTS FOR AN APPROVED RESTRAINT DEVICE IN THE FOLLOWING SITUATIONS:

- IF A PHYSICIAN STATES THAT USE OF A CHILD RESTRAINT DEVICE WOULD BE IMPRACTICAL BECAUSE OF THE CHILD'S WEIGHT, OR FOR MEDICAL REASONS. THE DRIVER MUST CARRY A STATEMENT SIGNED BY THE PHYSICIAN GIVING THE CHILD'S NAME AND THE GROUNDS FOR EXEMPTION.
- A SEAT BELT WHICH IS STANDARD EQUIPMENT IN NEW AUTOMOBILES MAY BE USED FOR CHILDREN AT LEAST THREE YEARS OF AGE WHEN THE CHILD'S WEIGHT MAKES THE USE OF A SEAT BELT PRACTICAL AND AN APPROVED RESTRAINT DEVICE IMPRACTICAL.

13.2.2.3 PENALTIES

THERE IS A CIVIL PENALTY OF FIFTY DOLLARS FOR VIOLATION OF THE REQUIREMENTS OF THIS LAW EXCEPT WHEN THE VIOLATION IS FAILURE TO CARRY A PHYSICIAN'S STATEMENT FOR WHICH THE PENALTY IS TWENTY DOLLARS.

13.2.2.4 HOW TO PAY FOR RESTRAINT DEVICES

Child restraint devices for agency use may be purchased from administrative funds. Payment for devices to be used by foster parents may be purchased from State Pool Funds in the name of the child for whom the device is being purchased.

Foster parents are eligible to apply for free child safety seats through the Department of Motor Vehicles.

13.3 Child Protective Services Reporting

13.3.1 RESPONSIBILITY TO REPORT

ANY PERSON EMPLOYED AS A SOCIAL WORKER WHO SUSPECTS A CHILD HAS BEEN ABUSED OR NEGLECTED IN FOSTER CARE PLACEMENT MUST REPORT THE MATTER IMMEDIATELY to the local agency holding custody or the agency in the locality where the child is placed or the Child Protective Services hotline at 800-552-7096. (§63.2-1509)

13.3.2 INVESTIGATING THE CPS REPORT

A protective service worker in the locality where the child resides shall be responsible for conducting the investigation. The foster care worker should cooperate with the CPS investigation and be kept informed and involved in any decision to remove the child. The local agency holding custody or having placed the child, if different than the agency of the child's residence, must be notified of the report of abuse/neglect.

13.4 The Minor Child Of A Foster Child

- 13.4.1 THE MAINTENANCE PAYMENT FOR A MINOR CHILD OF A FOSTER CHILD WHO LIVES WITH HIS OR HER PARENT AND IS IN CUSTODY OF THE PARENT MUST BE ADDED TO THE FOSTER CARE PAYMENT MADE FOR THE MINOR CHILD'S PARENT AND PAID TO THE FOSTER CARE PROVIDER. THE MINOR CHILD OF A FOSTER CHILD LIVING WITH HIS OR HER PARENT IN A FOSTER HOME OR RESIDENTIAL PLACEMENT IS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR TANF. THE FOSTER CARE PROVIDER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR PROVIDING ROOM AND BOARD AND ENSURING THAT THE PAYMENT IS USED TO MEET THE CHILD'S NEEDS. (Refer to Section 12.4 for payment information.)
- 13.4.2 The minor child of a foster child remains the responsibility of his or her parent, unless custody has been removed.
- 13.4.3 The minor child shall be listed in OASIS with the foster child (parent).
- 13.4.4 The minor child is not subject to requirements for plans, reviews, or hearings. However, the needs and safety of the minor child should be considered and documented when developing the service plan for the (foster child) parent.
- 13.4.5 The minor child is eligible for Medicaid, services, and child support services.

13.5 Procedures And Responsibility For Children In Custody Of The Department Of Juvenile Justice (DJJ)

The purpose of this section is to identify procedures for local social services agencies in order to provide services for foster care children committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice (DJJ). These procedures will require coordination and cooperation between staff of DJJ and local social agency staff. These procedures chronologically outline the responsibilities of a local social services agency once a foster care child is committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice. These procedures are in compliance with §16.1-291, 293 and 294.

13.5.1 YOUTH COMMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE

At the time a child in custody of a local agency is committed to DJJ, the committing court determines whether the court service unit or the local social

services agency must maintain contact with the youth during commitment. In rare instances, the local agency may be ordered to maintain contact with a child previously unknown to the agency.

Maintaining contact is necessary to begin aftercare planning to return the child to the community upon completion of his/her minimum stay in the direct care of the Department of Juvenile Justice. Contact with the child must include:

- Participation in Reception and Diagnostic Center staffing;
- Participation in Juvenile Correctional Center Treatment Team meeting and subsequent development of Comprehensive Service Plan; and
- Visits, as often as needed, but at least once every three months with DJJ and the youth in order to plan and carry out services to return the child to the community and/or provide services to the family so that the plan for the child can be achieved.

When a youth is committed to DJJ, the worker must exit the child from the current placement in OASIS. The legal custody status and funding screens must also be completed to reflect appropriate changes in OASIS. There are instructions in OASIS Help Section under "Committed to Corrections" for the next steps. Payments for the cost of maintenance for the youth and purchased services are not made.

13.5.2 YOUTH ADMITTED TO RECEPTION AND DIAGNOSTIC CENTERS

The court may place a youth committed to DJJ in a local detention facility until he/she is transferred to the Reception and Diagnostic Center (R&DC).

Within five working days of youth's arrival at the R&DC, the R&DC counselor will mail a letter to the child's family and local agency stating:

- The date of the R&DC staffing; and
- The need for local agency input to the staffing.
- 13.5.2.1 Responsibilities of the service worker to provide input to the R&DC staffing team:
 - Notify the R&DC counselor prior to the staffing date that the service worker is planning to attend the R&DC staffing; or send a letter to the R&DC counselor prior to the staffing.
 - In providing input regarding the youth's treatment needs/problems, the service worker needs to state these needs/ problems in measurable, behavioral terms. At least three of the needs/problems identified are to be targeted as priorities.

13.5.3 YOUTH TRANSFERRED TO JUVENILE CORRECTIONAL CENTERS

13.5.3.1 Planning for Staffing at a Juvenile Correctional Center

The staffing at the R&DC will result in a decision to transfer the youth to a Juvenile Correctional Center operated by the Department of Juvenile Justice. Within five working days of the youth's transfer to the Center Juvenile Correctional Center, the Juvenile Correctional Center Counselor will contact the LDSS worker in order to arrange a meeting with the youth, the treatment team, and the LDSS worker. This meeting is to take place no later than 30 days from the date of the youth's transfer to the Juvenile Correctional Center.

The service worker is responsible for attending the meeting at the Juvenile Correctional Center to provide additional input regarding the youth's needs and to discuss the aftercare plan for the youth.

13.5.3.2 Agenda for Juvenile Correctional Center Meeting

The Juvenile Correctional Center counselor will conduct the meeting. The agenda for the meeting should include:

- A review and discussion of the Evaluation and Services Recommendation packet from R&DC;
- Presentation and discussion of the aftercare plan recommended by the service worker.

13.5.3.3 Preparing a Draft Aftercare Plan

The worker should prepare a draft aftercare plan in outline form prior to this meeting. The aftercare plan may include, but is not limited to:

- An outline of where/with whom the youth will reside upon release from direct care or the action plan to develop a placement; and
- The identification of services needed by the youth and guardian/provider upon youth's return to community. The worker will outline steps to be taken while the youth is in the Juvenile Correctional Center
- To assure that services are/will be coordinated and delivered in a timely manner. The aftercare placement shall maximize the youth's chances for successful reintegration into the community.
- Development of a Comprehensive Services Plan which will provide a continuum of services from the date of transfer to the Juvenile Correctional Center through the date of release from aftercare supervision. The plan shall:

- Outline and prioritize the treatment/service needs which will be addressed during the youth's stay in the Juvenile Correctional Center
- Outline the treatment/service needs which must be addressed once the youth returns to the community;
- State where/with whom, the youth will reside upon release from direct care, or outline an action plan to develop a placement;
- Outline steps to be taken with the aftercare placement while the youth is in the Juvenile Correctional Center to assure that the placement maximized the youth's chances for a successful reintegration to the community; and
- Outline strategies and time frames to meet the objectives developed.
- The plan shall be signed by the service worker, along with the treatment team members and Juvenile Correctional Center Counselor.
- If the service worker has reservations about the Comprehensive Service Plan which cannot be resolved on-site, the worker should not sign the plan (See "Resolution of Issues", section. Upon leaving the meeting, the service worker shall obtain a copy of the Comprehensive Service Plan, signed or unsigned, for the child's case record.
- A copy of the signed typed Comprehensive Service Plan will be mailed to service worker within five working days of signature.
- Proposed changes in the Comprehensive Service Plan must be approved by the local department of social services and the Juvenile Correctional Center
- Institutional Review Committee. Documentation indicating agreement must be obtained by the Juvenile Correctional Center
- Counselor and copy sent to the local social service worker.

13.5.4 WHEN PLANNED AFTERCARE PLACEMENT IS NOT AVAILABLE

If, at any point during the youth's commitment, it becomes apparent that the proposed aftercare placement will not be available, the social service worker will notify the Juvenile Correctional Center counselor by letter within five working days of learning that the placement is not available.

13.5.4.1 Notification should discuss placement alternatives previously explored. Information should include actual placements or programs

- considered, whether child was accepted/denied for placement/program, and the reason child was not accepted or resource not to be utilized. An action plan to locate placement shall also be discussed.
- 13.5.4.2 The Aftercare Specialist is available to assist local social service workers in locating an aftercare placement.
- 13.5.4.3 Upon receipt of written notification by the local agency, the Juvenile Correctional Center counselor shall prepare information for Department of Youth and Family Services files.

13.5.5 RESOLUTION OF ISSUES

- 13.5.5.1 On occasion, disagreement may arise between the parties responsible for providing services to youth. Issues that may lead to disagreement include, but are not limited to:
 - Recipient of plans, document, etc.;
 - Appropriateness of services, treatment, aftercare plans; and
 - Lack of involvement by responsible parties, etc.
- 13.5.5.2 Disputes are to be resolved at the lowest level possible with workers attempting to resolve issues with their counterparts at DJJ initially.
- 13.5.5.3 Documentation of each step in the procedure, in the form of memoranda, case narrative, and correspondence is to be maintained by all involved persons and entered in the child's case record. Each issue will be resolved, via the administrative chain of authority, within 15 working days from the date of initiation.

13.5.6 POST-RELEASE SUPERVISION

- 13.5.6.1 Post-release supervision is the period that begins after a youth who has been committed to the Department of Juvenile Justice returns to a local community for supervision.
- 13.5.6.2 POST-RELEASE SUPERVISION OR PAROLE SUPERVISION OF A YOUTH IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF DJJ and not that of the local department of social services.
- 13.5.6.3 EXCEPT IN EXCEPTIONAL CASES, THE COURT SHALL
 DESIGNATE THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT TO MAINTAIN CONTACT
 WITH THE YOUTH DURING COMMITMENT ONLY WHEN THE
 YOUTH WAS IN THE CUSTODY OF THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT
 IMMEDIATELY BEFORE HIS COMMITMENT. THE DEPARTMENT
 OF JUVENILE JUSTICE SHALL RETURN A YOUTH TO THE

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE 13-8

PREVIOUSLY DESIGNATED LOCAL SUPERVISING AGENCY AND SHALL CONSULT WITH THE LOCAL SUPERVISING AGENCY FOUR WEEKS PRIOR TO SUCH RELEASE ON PAROLE SUPERVISION CONCERNING RETURN OF THE YOUTH TO THE LOCAL AGENCY.

13.5.6.4 IN THE EVENT THAT THE YOUTH WAS IN THE CUSTODY OF THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO HIS COMMITMENT TO DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE AND HAS NOT ATTAINED THE AGE OF 18 YEARS, THE LOCAL DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES MUST RESUME CUSTODY UPON THE YOUTH'S RELEASE, UNLESS AN ALTERNATIVE ARRANGEMENT FOR THE CUSTODY HAS BEEN MADE AND COMMUNICATED IN WRITING TO DEPARTMENT OF JUVENILE JUSTICE.

13.5.6.5 Children Returned to the Community and Placed in an Out-of-Home Placement

- The case is opened in OASIS to foster care.
- The children are eligible for foster care maintenance and services. These cases are subject to requirements governing service plans, supervisory or panel reviews and dispositional hearings.
- Title IV-E eligibility must be re-determined so, if the child was Title IV-E eligible before commitment to DJJ, the foster care worker must refer the case to eligibility.

13.5.6.6 OASIS Requirements

The day the child returns to a local community or is placed outside of the child's own home is the day used to change the placement of the case in OASIS. Services to the child's family may be purchased through foster care.

13.5.7 SUBMISSION OF THE FOSTER CARE SERVICE PLAN TO COURT

The local agency shall submit a service plan on the child to the court within 60 days of the child's return to the community and placement outside of the child's own home.

The local agency may attach the Comprehensive Service Plan to the Foster Care Service Plan.

Α

SECTION/PAGE A-

APPENDIX A

October 2005

Listing of Forms

The following forms can be accessed at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi.

FOSTER CARE

- Certification of eligibility of Title IV-E Foster Care/Adoption
- Family Foster Care Placement Agreement
- Non-custodial Foster Care Agreement (sample)
- Permanent Entrustment Agreement
- Permanent Foster Care Agreement (sample)
- Administrative Panel Review Parent Invitation Letter (sample)
- Administrative Panel Review Professional Invitation Letter (sample)

CHILD SUPPORT ENFORCEMENT

- Interim Application for Child Support Services
- Good Cause Determination Form
- Absent Parent Deprivation/Paternity Information Form
- Application for Location Information Form (FPLS)

The following forms can be accessed at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/icpc/forms.cgi.

INTERSTATE COMPACT ON THE PLACEMENT OF CHILDREN

- **601**
- **602**
- **603**

AREVA

Refer to Vol. VII, Section III, Chapter C, Section 7 for information about AREVA and registering children in AREVA. AREVA forms are in OASIS.

APPENDIX B

AFCARS Required Data Elements

The following foster care data elements in OASIS are mandated for all children in foster care. The state could face federal penalties if information is not current and accurate.

AFCARS FC ELEMENT	AFCARS ELEMENT	AFCARS VALUE	NAVIGATION PATH OASIS SCREEN LOCATION	
	NUMBER			
State	1		Coded By Report	
Report End Date	2		Coded By Report	
Local FIPS Code	3		Coded By Report	
Record Number	4		System Generated	
Date of Last	5	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Court\FC/Adp\Cl Crt	
Hearing/Review		One of the following types of AFCARS hearings/reviews must be entered every 6 months: Court Review, Administrative Panel Review, Permanency Planning 75 Day Disposition, Supervisory Review or Termination	Info\Hearing/Review\Detail	
Child's Birth Date	6	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Client\General Information	
Child's Sex	7	Female Male Unknown	Client\General Information	
Child's Race	8	American Indian/Alaskan Native Asian Black/African American Native Hawaiian/ Other Pacific Islander White Multi-Race Unable to Determine	Client\General Information	
Child's Hispanic Origin	9	Yes No Unable To Determine	Client\General Information	
Diagnosed Disability – Has The Child Been Clinically Diagnosed?	10	Determined by selection of AFCARS recognized disabilities	Client\Demo\Characteristics	
11 – 15 DISABILITY TYPES				
Mental Retardation	11	Select All That Apply Disability type is determined by selection of disability from Physical\Medical and Behavioral\Psychological categories	Client\Demo\Characteristics	
Visually/Hearing Impaired	12			
Physically Disabled	13			
Emotionally Disturbed	14			
Other Diagnosed Condition	15			
Child Ever Been	16	Yes No Unknown	Client\General Information	

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE B-B

Adopted			
Age At Adoption For	17	Less Than 2 Yrs. Old2 – 5	Client\General Information
Date Of First Removal	18	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Cust. Status\Phys
From Home		WINDECT 1 00/00/0000	Cust. Status (1 11ys
Total Number Of	19	System Determined By	Cust. Status\Phys. Removal\Child's
Removals		Number Of Removals	Physical Removal
Date Child Was	20	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Placement\Place\Enter/Exit
Discharged From Last			
Foster Care Episode			
Latest Removal Date	21	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Cust. Status\Phys. Removal\Child's
			Physical Removal
Removal Transaction	22	Worker Must Enter Latest	System Generated
Date		Removal Date Within 60	
		Days Of Removal	
Date Of Placement In	23	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Placement\Place\Enter/Exit
Current Foster Care			
Setting			
Number Of Previous	24	System Determined By	System Generated
Placement Settings		Count of Unique Resource	
During This Removal		ID Numbers	
Episode			
Manner Of Removal	25	Court Ordered Emergency	Cust. Status\Phys. Removal\Child's
From Home For		Removal Entrustment-	Physical Removal
Current Placement		Temporary Entrustment-	
Episode		Permanent Non-Custodial	
Dhysical Abyses		26 – 40 CONDITIONS	Cost Ctatus Dhora Damaral Childia
Physical Abuse	26	Select Those That Apply	Cust. Status\Phys. Removal\Child's Physical Removal
Sexual Abuse	27		
Neglect	28		
Alcohol Abuse (Parent)	29		
Drug Abuse (Parent)	30		
Alcohol Abuse (Child)	31		
Drug Abuse (Child)	32		
Child Disability	33		
Child Behavior Problem	34		
Parent Death	35		
Parent Incarceration	36		
Caretaker Inability To	37		
Cope			
Abandonment	38		
Relinquishment	39		
Inadequate Housing	40	N	DI VE (E)
Current Placement	41	Non-Finalized Adoption,	Placement\Place\Enter/Exit
Setting (Type of		Emergency Shelter, Foster	
Placement)		Home, CPA Permanent	
		Foster Home, CPA Regular	
		Foster Home, CPA	
		Therapeutic Foster Home, Emergency Foster Home,	
		Non-Relative Foster Home,	
		Permanent Foster Home,	
	1	i i ciiilaliciil i ooldi Hollid,	1

		,	,
Out Of State Placement Most Recent Case	42 43	Relative Foster Home, Group Home, Independent Living (On Their Own), IL\Supervised Program or Dormitory, Psychiatric Facility, Unapproved Relative Home, Residential Facility, Runaway, Other County Requesting This Out Of State Resource Return To Own Home	Resource\General Information Court\FC/Adp\Cl Crt Info\Hearing/Rev OR
Plan Goal		Relative Foster Care Adoption Permanent Foster Care Independent Living Another Planned Permanent Living Arrangement Continued Foster Care To Be Determined	Case Plan\FC\Service Plan\Service Plan
Caretaker Family Structure (Family Child Was Removed From)	44	Divorced Female Divorced Male Married Couple Separated Female Separated Male Single Female Single Male Unmarried Couple Unable to Determine	Cust. Status\Phys. Removal\Child's Physical Removal
DOB Of First Caretaker	45	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Client\General Information
DOB Of Second Caretaker	46	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Client\General Information
Date Of Mother's Termination Of Parental Rights	47	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Court\FC/Adp\Cl Crt Info\Par Rights\Termination of Parental Rights
Date Of Father's Termination Of Parental Rights	48	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Court\FC/Adp\Cl Crt Info\Par Rights\Termination of Parental Rights
Foster Family Structure	49	Divorced Female Divorced Male Married Couple Separated Female Separated Male Single Female Single Male Unable To Determine Unmarried Couple	Resource\Directory\Info\General Information
DOB Of First Foster Parent	50	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Resource\Directory\Homes\Members
DOB Of Second Foster Parent	51	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Resource\Directory\Homes\Members
Race Of First Foster Parent	52	American Indian/Alaskan Native Asian Black/African American Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander White Multi-Race Unable To Determine	Resource\Directory\Homes\Members
Hispanic Origin	53	Yes No Not Yet Determined	Resource\Directory\Homes\Members

SECTION/PAGE B-B

	T		1
Race Of Second Foster Parent	54	American Indian/Alaskan Native Asian Black/African American Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander White Multi-Race Unable To Determine	Resource\Directory\Homes\Members
Hispanic Origin	55	Yes No Unable To Determine	Resource\Directory\Homes\members
Discharge Date Child Was Discharged From Foster Care	56	MMDDCCYY00/00/0000	Placement\Place\Enter/Exit
Discharge Reason	57	Only the following Exit Reasons are picked up as AFCARS Discharge reasons: Adoption Custody Transfer to Other Relative Custody Transfer to Another Agency Commitment to Corrections Death of Child Emancipation Reunification Runaway Other	Placement\Place\Enter/Exit (field name: Exit Reason)
Discharge Transaction Date	58	Worker Must Enter Exit Date Within 60 Days	Coded By System
	·I	59 – 64 PAYMENT TYPES	
Title IV-E Foster Care	59	Select One That Applies	Client\Finances\Funding Scr\Funding Sources
Title IV-E Adoption	60		
Title IV-A	61		
Title IV-D	62		
Title XIX	63		
SSI	64		
None Of The Above Source Of Federal Support	65		System generated based on response to elements 59 - 64
Amount Of Monthly Subsidy	66	0000-99999	Client\Finances\Funding Scr\Funding Sources

SECTION/PAGE C-C

APPENDIX C

Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues

The "Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues" contain more detailed information about procedures, concepts, and practices referenced in specific sections of the Foster Care manual. Included in this "Casework Procedures and Core Practice Issues" are procedures, practice tools and general knowledge, many of which are applicable to the range of behaviors and activities foster care staff engage in while working with children and their families. The procedures included in this section will help the practitioner carru out specific policy requirements consistent with the law or regulation to which it applies. To support the practice information provided in this guidance, references to resources such as books, internet sites and VISSTA courses are provided.

Companion Guidance to "Section 5. Case Opening"

Senate Bill (SB) 1006, as passed by the 2005 General Assembly, supports the continuous school attendance of children in foster care by requiring local departments of social services (LDSS) and licensed child-placing agencies (LCPAs) to enroll children in school immediately upon their placement in foster care. Agencies affected by this legislation include LDSS and LCPAs that have legal custody of children in foster care.

Provisions of Senate Bill 1006

The new law provides that all children placed in foster care (with the exception of those placed through a non-custodial foster care agreement), or moved from one foster care placement to another, receive continuous education through specific enrollment requirements including:

- Immediate enrollment in school of a child placed in foster care, whether or not all required documents are available. Immediate enrollment means either within 72 hours or by the end of the next day the school is open;
- Provision of all required enrollment documents within 30 days of enrollment (birth certificate, comprehensive pre-school physical examination, social security number, and proof of immunizations);
- At the time of enrollment, provision of a written statement by the custodial agent enrolling the child stating to the best of the person's knowledge: 1) the child's age;
 2) whether the child has or has not been expelled from school attendance at a private or public school division of the Commonwealth or in another state for an offense in violation of school board policies relating to weapons, alcohol or drugs, or for the willful infliction of injury to another person; and 3) that the child is in good health and free from communicable and contagious diseases;
- Provision of a written statement to the principal of the school regarding the child's foster care placement and status of parental rights; and

 Provision of a written statement to the superintendent of the relevant school division, or his designee, of the placement.

Additionally, a child placed in foster care or moved from one foster care placement to another may be allowed to continue to attend the school in which he was enrolled prior to placement (or the change in placement). Allowing the child to remain in the previous school is a joint decision made by the involved school districts and the agency with legal custody. If it is in the best interest of the child whose placement is outside his current school district to remain in his current school, the agency with legal custody should explore all options for providing for the child's transportation from the new foster care placement to the previous school. Bus tokens, foster parents transporting the child, Comprehensive Services Act (CSA) and/or local school district funding for transportation are examples of creative methods to enable the child to remain in his school.

LDSS and LCPAs need to communicate with their local school districts and understand school policy regarding such things as:

- Attendance at school when a child has a contagious disease (e.g., fever, cold);
- How to enroll a child during summer months; and
- The availability and requirements for special programs for the child.

LDSS and LCPAs with legal custody should also communicate to school personnel foster care requirements such as regular court dates, the child's service plan, and the concept of permanency planning.

In accordance with the Code of Virginia, LDSS and LCPAs should also:

- When a LDSS or LCPA is aware a child has or may have a contagious disease, the child must be enrolled as required, but attendance should be in accordance with school policy;
- Work with the schools in considering whether it is in the best interests of the child to remain in the school attended prior to the foster care placement (or the change in placement). Considerations of whether or not it is in the best interest of the child to remain in the previous school include:
 - The child's desires:
 - Opinions of the parent and/or caregiver;
 - Travel distance and time that would be spent on travel;
 - Maintaining the child's social and community connections;
 - Likelihood of returning home in a timely manner;
 - o Availability of programs able to meet the child's identified needs; and
 - What time of year it is (i.e., end of the school year, the summer, etc.).

The information required at the time of enrollment is:

- Birth certificate (§22.1-3.1.A of the Code of Virginia (Code))
- Social Security Number (§22.1-260.C of the Code)

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE C-C

- Proof of immunization (§22.1-271.2 of the Code); and
- Physical examination (§22.1-270 of the Code).

VDSS has developed two model forms ("Expedited Enrollment of Children Placed in Foster Care" and "Notice of Student Receiving Foster Care Services") to assist LDSS and LCPA staff in providing to the local school districts the written documentation required. If localities choose to use other forms, they must include all of the information in the model forms. These forms can be accessed at http://www.localagency.dss.state.va.us/divisions/dfs/fc/forms.cgi and are available in Appendix A of this manual.

Because implementation of this bill is a joint effort between local departments of social services and local school jurisdictions, the Department of Education Superintendent's memorandum issued to local school divisions related to this legislation is available at http://www.pen.k12.va.us/VDOE/suptsmemos/2005/ as a June 2005 issuance.

Companion Guidance to "Section 6. Initial Assessment"

ASSESSING THE CHILD'S AND FAMILY'S SERVICE NEEDS

The assessment process is the basis for sound case management. It is through the use of the assessment process that the service worker gathers accurate, relevant information concerning the child and family's situation. This information is used to determine a baseline for the child and family's strengths and needs, the services and resources required, the responsibilities of the parents, the child, the social service department and the foster or pre-adoptive parent, and the criteria for evaluating future needs of the child and family.

Assessment is an ongoing process that begins with the first contact with the child and family. In CPS cases, this initial contact is made by the Child Protective Services worker. Regardless of who makes the initial contact, the assessment process does not end until the case is closed. On-going, or reassessment is accomplished through monitoring of the service plan and evaluation of the effectiveness of the services and resources that are made available to the child and family.

Both the initial and reassessments are used to guide the service worker in the development of an appropriate service plan. Information gathered in the course of assessment should be used to identify specific services the child and family need in order to correct the conditions that led to the child's placement in foster care.

SKILLS AND BEHAVIORS THAT ENCOURAGE ASSESSMENT

1. Appear genuine and trustworthy

Trust is an essential element of any successful relationship, including those between child welfare workers and their clients. One way of demonstrating trustworthiness is to actually do the things you commit to doing, particularly things done on the family's behalf

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE C-C

or that they believe will be helpful to them. For instance, if you offer transportation then do not cancel it. The permanency worker should "communicate interest in the family and in understanding things from their perspective. A willingness to listen and to learn from the family can help the worker identify areas of commonality and also communicates respect for the family's strengths and uniqueness. During the early stages of the relationship, workers should do a lot of listening" (Rycus & Hughes, 1998, p. 249).

2. Always be honest and direct

It is difficult to trust someone who selectively shares information or who is perceived as dishonest or misleading. It is your ethical duty to ALWAYS be honest with family members 'about the status of their case, the nature of your concerns, the assessment of their progress, the requirements they must meet, and plans that involve them and their children. Many conversations may potentially be difficult, but family members tend to react better to honesty than partial truth.

3. Avoid unexamined assumptions

"The caseworker should never assume what the family means, nor assume that the family understands the worker's intentions" (Rycus & Hughes, 1998, p. 249)." It is critical that workers honestly and directly check out their assumptions with family members and ask for clarification of what the family has said or what their behavior means. It is also critical that workers check out whether family members have accurately understood what the worker has said to the family. Having family members tell you what they heard you – the worker – say is a good way to discover if you are all "on the same page."

4. Approach in a manner consistent with the family's cultural background

It is crucial that the child welfare worker understand the general cultural traditions and expectations of the different populations he/she serves. Behaviors that appear benign to the worker may be perceived as offensive or discomforting by the members of particular cultures. When dealing with unfamiliar cultures, seek the advice of "cultural consultants" from the community and explore the culture in books and other materials found in your agency, other service agencies, the internet or the library.

5. Actively look for Strengths in the family

It is important to identify strengths as well as challenges in order to better understand families and to find resources to use within the family. Look for strengths and you will find them. Point strengths out so the family can find them.

6. Understand that resistance is normal

"In child protection, initial resistance by family members is normal and expected. The unrequested intrusion into their lives by a stranger vested with considerable authority, or, who challenges their parenting capability and their rights to retain their children, is almost always experiences as a threat, regardless of how well-intentioned the worker" (Rycus & Hughes, 1998, p. 242). It is difficult to be cooperative when a worker appears at your door and tells you how to raise your children. Most people would probably balk at the worker's suggestions or be offended and angered by the intrusion into their lives. This natural tendency to be protective and uneasy might easily be labeled as "resistant" or "unmotivated." It is important to accept and acknowledge that resistance to worker efforts to be helpful, or some of worker expectations, is not always evidence that

parents do not want to provide care for their children or even make changes in their parenting behaviors. Change is scary and uncomfortable. Resistance and anxiety are normal reactions that can be dealt with by offering understanding, support, and reasonable flexibility.

7. Be a fair critic and a great coach and cheerleader

During the assessment process, the permanency worker not only gathers important information but also "provides guidance, support, encouragement, and reinforcement for efforts toward positive change, and gives constructive feedback that guides family members in trying new strategies and solutions. "Every effort is made to empower family members to generate their own solutions through their active participation in the development and implementation of the activities in the case plan " (Rycus & Hughes, 1998, p. 229)

Field Guide to Child Welfare, Volumes I-IV; Judith S. Rycus and Ronald C. Hughes Publishing Date: 1998

Adapted from VISSTA Course CWS3000: FC New Worker Policy Training w/OASIS Pilot Version Section II: Trainer's Guide to Activities June, 2005

TOOLS FOR USE IN ASSESSMENT:

The following tools are often used by social workers to gather information from family members and other individuals in order to gather a comprehensive picture of the family. These tools are designed to be helpful in the assessment process but are not the actual assessment itself. Genograms and ecomaps in particular should be used after discussion with and training from others experienced in their use.

- 1. Genogram: The genogram was first developed and popularized in clinical settings by Monica McGoldrick and Randy Gerson. The genogram (pronounced: jen-uh-gram) lets the worker and family members quickly identify and understand patterns in the family history. The genogram is a tool that helps map out relationships and traits in the family. There are a lot of books on this topic as well as many websites. Genograms can vary significantly and are only limited by your imagination. Most genograms include basic information about number of families, number of children of each family, birth order, and deaths. Some genograms also include information on disorders running in the family such as alcoholism, depression, diseases, alliances, and living situations. Basic Genogram Components can be accessed at http://www.genopro.com/genogram components/default.htm.
- 2. Eco-maps: An Ecomap is a pictorial representation of a family's connections to persons and/or systems in their environment. It can illustrate 3 separate dimensions for each connection: 1. The <u>STRENGTH</u> of the connection (Weak; tenuous/uncertain; Strong) 2. The <u>IMPACT</u> of the connection (none; draining resources or energy; providing resources or energy) and 3. The <u>QUALITY</u> of the connection (Stressful; Not stressful). As with genograms, there are many books

that discuss the purpose and use of ecomaps including social work textbooks on assessment. The internet and public library are additional sources for information on ecomaps.

The purpose of an ecomap is to support classification of family needs and decision making about potential interventions. Further, it is to create shared awareness (between a family and their social workers) of the family's significant connections, and the constructive or destructive influences those connections may be having. Ecomaps enable a structured, consistent process for gathering specific, valuable information related to the current state of a family or individual being assessed. They support the engagement of the family in a dialogue that can build rapport and buy-in, while heightening the awareness of the caseworker and family. Ecomaps are used to:

- Identify and illustrate strengths that can built upon and weaknesses that can be addressed
- Summarize complex data and information into a visual, easy to see and understand format to support understanding and planning.
- Illustrate the nature of connectedness and the impact of interactions in pre-defined "domain" areas, - whether those connections and interactions are helping or hurting the family. Part of this value is in supporting the concept of observing "resource and energy flow" to and from a family as a result of its connections and interactions with its environment.
- Provide a consistent base of information to inform and support intervention decisions
- Allow objective evaluation of progress workers can observe impact of interventions, both on the family and on other elements of their environment
- Support discussion of spiritual and value related issues in a constructive way.
- Help support integration of the concept of family assessment as an ongoing process.
- Integrate the values and concepts and the real power of System Theory in a practical way.
- Force the building of interviewing and other skills for staff.
- Support effective presentation of families issues for court

http://www.ohiocla.com/Year%205%20Revisions/ecomap1.htm

3. Timelines: are another assessment tool that depicts the development and history of an individual and or family along a continuum from birth to the present. Similar to genograms and ecomaps, it is a graphic representation of patterns, traits, and the chronology of events in the life of the individual and/or family.

INTRODUCTION

The goal of case management in foster care is to provide services that will lead to the child's placement in a permanent situation. The service plan is the document that describes needs of the child and family, and identifies the services that will be provided to meet these needs so that the goal can be achieved.

Because of the shortened time frames, mandated by both federal and state law, it is important that workers convey to parents the urgency in working with the agency in developing and following through on the requirements of the service plan. Parents will need to be informed of the limited amount of time they have to improve the situation that brought their child into care. Parents must also be fully informed of any concurrent permanency plan developed for their child(ren) including the purpose of concurrent permanency planning, the alternate goal developed, and the time frames involved (see Foster Care Policy Manual Section 9.1.6)

Integrating the Service Planning Process and the FAPT (Foster Care Policy Manual Section 8.2)

When a child in foster care placement is also being staffed by the Family Assessment and Planning Team (FAPT), every effort should be made to integrate the process of developing the Foster Care Service Plan, the Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP), and the Individualized Education Plan (IEP), when appropriate, to streamline the planning process and ensure that all plans are consistent. When the FAPT staffs a foster care case, the service worker should incorporate FAPT recommendations into the Foster Care Service Plan or Foster Care Service Plan Review.

When the FAPT is involved in service planning, and a team member other than the local agency service worker is designated case manager, the team and the case manager are responsible for ensuring compliance with federal and state service plan and review requirements. The local agency service worker is expected to provide assistance, as necessary, to the team and case manager in meeting the compliance obligations. When there is a concurrent permanency goal for a child and family, the local agency service worker must ensure that the concurrent goal and related service needs are documented in the service plan and that everyone involved in the case is aware of the purpose of the concurrent permanency plan. Local workers need to work with the FAPT staff to attempt to staff cases and approve services prior to court hearings.

Who Should be Involved in the Service Plan (Foster Care Policy Manual Section 8.4)

Parents have the right to participate fully in every meeting and discussion of their child's case by the local department and are considered to be members of the team. As such, they must receive adequate notice of the meetings and be informed that they have the right to present information from their perspective. Every effort should be made to meet at a time and location that enables parental attendance.

As a team member, parents should be actively included in identifying:

- their child's and family's strengths;
- their child's and family's service needs and considerations for how they think those needs could best be met; and
- areas where their child and family have made progress or not, regarding the service plan goals and objectives.

Children who are old enough (generally age 12) and/or of sufficient maturity should be invited to participate in meetings and service planning involving their case. Decisions made at service planning meetings should be made "through the eyes of the child." Children have no control over the decisions that are made for them by adults but these decisions have significant impact on their lives. The more agencies can empower children by including them in the decision-making process, the better those agencies serve them.

Foster parents, resource parents, relative care givers and pre-adoptive parents have the most current and complete knowledge of the child's adjustment in foster care. They play a vital role in the planning and decision-making regarding the child's future. They should always be strongly urged to attend and participate fully in the case planning meetings.

By providing services to children and/or their families, community resource providers may have information essential to planning and decision-making. It is crucial to involve them in the planning and review process. The child's teachers and/or guidance counselors should be included in this process.

Likewise, the guardian ad litem and the Court appointed Special Advocate for the child can bring a different perspective to the service planning process. GAL's and CASA's are charged to investigate the facts of the case and determine the needs of the child, as well as the resources available within the family and community to meet those needs. The guardian ad litem makes recommendations to the Court on behalf of the child. It is better to resolve differences in recommendations in the service planning meeting prior to court hearings. It is critically important for all members of the child's team to work closely together in a collaborative effort on behalf of the child's best interests.

SERVICE PLANNING PRACTICES

To develop the initial service plan, workers should:

- consider all aspects identified in the Child Protective Services Safety and Risk assessment;
- 2. engage the child and family in the service planning process. This includes consideration of such things as meeting with the family at times that are conducive to their schedule; altering locations for the meeting to allow families to attend; providing transportation when transportation is the only barrier to attendance.
- 3. utilize and apply knowledge of child development including things such as children's sense of time, cognitive and emotional development, etc.; Social workers need to be able to distinguish between normal age-appropriate behaviors, and those behaviors

that indicate an unmet developmental need. Since the physical, emotional, and physiological aspects of the child's development are so interrelated, delays in one aspect often affect subsequent development in other areas. Since some of the most crucial developmental milestones occur early in the child's life, early deprivation of appropriate stimuli and nurturance has the potential for severe long-term effects. Grief, separation and loss and attachment issues are of primary concern when considering the needs of a child removed from his family and placed in foster care.

- 4. identify the need for additional assessments (mental health, developmental, substance abuse, etc.) for the child and other family members;
- 5. develop an individualized plan for the family directly related to their identified needs and strengths:
- 6. include all relevant parties in the service plan including but not limited to; significant others of the parent, supportive family members, individuals identified by the parent and child as supportive influences in their lives, other caregivers including previous and current resource, foster and preadoptive parents and that includes goals and objectives that are measurable and applicable to the individual family members behaviors that must change or needs that must be met.
- 7. prioritize service needs identified in the assessment. If the assessment reveals many parenting deficits and the need for numerous services to ensure the safety and well-being of the child, the service needs should be prioritized so as not to overwhelm the family system;
- 8. link with and incorporate treatment plans of other providers into the service plan including the Individual Family Services Plan, the Individual Educational Program, mental health providers assessments and treatment plans, substance abuse assessments, psychological evaluations, etc. The social worker should discuss the findings and recommendations of these reports with the child and/or family prior to developing the service plan to ensure they are aware of how these reports will influence the plan and what is expected from them.
- assess and establish an appropriate permanency goal and acknowledge those cases where a return home goal is not appropriate and move towards termination of parental rights;

Companion Guidance to "Section 10.6 Administrative Panel Reviews"

PREPARATION AND PLANNING FOR ADMINISTRATIVE PANEL REVIEWS

Panel Reviews are an administrative review mechanism and should be planned and prepared for with the same diligence as workers would for a court hearing. It is the Social Worker and administration of the local Department that establishes an atmosphere that conveys the importance of the APR and sets the expectation for all involved. By thoroughly documenting the child and family's well being and progress, preparing written material well in advance of the meeting, extending invitations to participate thirty days in advance of the review, and facilitating the meeting in a manner that encourages active participation, the Social Worker creates a forum that promotes engagement of all parties.

Invitation letters to parents, previous caretakers, foster and pre-adoptive parents and

VOLUME VII, SECTION III, CHAPTER B

SECTION/PAGE C-C

any other individuals identified by the child or family as having a significant positive role in their lives must communicate information in understandable terms and in the family's primary language. Specifically, invitation letters should inform the invited party of the reason for the meeting and stress the local departments' desire to include those individuals as part of the team that is planning for the child.

Since it is critical that all individuals who are significantly connected to the life of the child are invited to the review, local department staff should make active and on-going efforts to encourage their attendance and participation. Telephone follow-up to the invited party after the invitation letter is sent to discuss the review and the reason their attendance is valuable is one simple step workers should make to further encourage involvement. Offers to assist in transportation, scheduling the review at times conducive to the family and other parties schedule and consideration of holding the meeting at a location that provides easier access for these members are additional best practices to facilitate involvement.